PERIOPERATIVE MANAGEMENT AND CRITICAL CARE FOR PATIENTS WITH LIVER DYSFUNCTION

Ph.D. Thesis

Caner Turan M.D.

Translational Medicine Program Pharmaceutical Sciences and Health Technologies Division SEMMELWEIS UNIVERSITY



Supervisor(s): Official reviewers: Head of the Complex Examination Committee: Members of the Complex Examination Committee: Prof. Zsolt Molnár M.D., Ph.D., DEAA

Budapest

"The only difference between screwing around and science is writing it down."

2024

Adam Savage

Table of Contents

1	LIS	T OF ABBREVIATIONS6
2	STU	JDENT PROFILE7
	2.1	Vision Statement7
	2.2	Mission Statement7
	2.3	Specific Goals7
	2.4	Scientometrics7
	2.5	Future Plans
3	SUN	MMARY OF THE PH.D9
	3.1	Why We Did It9
	3.2	What We Did9
	3.3	What Did We Find9
	3.4	Our Main Conclusion10
4	GR	APHICAL ABSTRACTS OF THE STUDIES11
	4.1	Study 111
	4.2	Study 211
5	INT	TRODUCTION12
	5.1	Overview12
	5.2	Perioperative Perspective on Liver Diseases12
	5.3	Perioperative Glucocorticoids Administration in Liver Surgery12
	5.4	Critical Care Perspective on Liver Dysfunction13
	5.5	Hemoadsorption Therapy in Acute Liver Dysfunction13
6	OB	JECTIVES
	6.1	Study 115
	6.2	Study 215
7	ME	THODS
	7.1	Study 116
	7.1.	1 Search Strategy16
	7.1.	2 Eligibility Criteria17

-	7.1.3	Selection Process17
-	7.1.4	Data Collection Process17
	7.1.5	Study Risk of Bias and Certainty of Evidence Assessment18
	7.1.6	Statistical Analysis
7.2	Stu	1dy 219
	7.2.1	Search Strategy19
-	7.2.2	Eligibility Criteria19
-	7.2.3	Selection Process
-	7.2.4	Data Collection Process20
	7.2.5	Study Risk of Bias and Certainty of Evidence Assessment20
	7.2.6	Statistical Analysis20
8 1	RESUL	TS
8.1	Sy	stematic Search, Selection, Study Characteristics22
8	8.1.1	Study 122
8	8.1.2	Study 2
8.2	Re	sults of Analyses
8	8.2.1	Study 1
8	8.2.2	Study 2
8.3	As	sessment of the Risk of Bias and Level of Evidence Certainty42
8	8.3.1	Risk of Bias Assessment42
8	8.3.2	GRADE Assessment for Level of Evidence Certainty46
9 1	DISCU	SSION
9.1	Su	mmary of Findings47
9.2	Co	mparisons with Other International Publications
9.3	Sti	-engths
ç	9.3.1	Study 1
ç	9.3.2	Study 2
9.4	Li	nitations
ļ	9.4.1	Study 1
ç	9.4.2	Study 2

10	CONCLUSIONS	53
10.1	Study 1	53
10.2	Study 2	53
11	IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE	54
11.1	Study 1	54
11.2	Study 2	54
12	IMPLICATIONS FOR RESEARCH	55
12.1	Study 1	55
12.2	Study 2	55
13	IMPLICATIONS FOR RESEARCH	56
13.1	Study 1	
13.2	Study 2	
14	FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	57
15	REFERENCES	58
16	BIBLIOGRAPHY OF THE CANDITATE'S PUBLICATION	I S 66
17	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	70
18	PDFs	.Error! Bookmark not defined.

1 LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ALT	Alanine aminotransferase
ARDS	Acute respiratory distress syndrome
AST	Aspartate aminotransferase
CI	Confidence interval
CPFA	Coupled plasma filtration and adsorption
CRP	C-reactive protein
CRRT	Continuous Renal Replacement Therapy
CVVH	Continuous veno-venous hemofiltration
CVVHD	Continuous veno-venous hemodialysis
CVVHDF	Continuous veno-venous hemodiafiltration
CVVHF	Continuous veno-venous hemofiltration
CVVRRT	Continuous veno-venous renal replacement therapy
ERAS	Enhanced Recovery After Surgery
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations
ICU	Intensive care unit
IDOL	Inducible degrader of low-density lipoprotein
IV	Intravenous
JBI	Joanna-Briggs Institute (Critical Appraisal Tool of)
MD	Mean difference
OR	Odds ratio
PaO2/FiO2	Ratio of partial pressure of oxygen in arterial blood to the fraction of inspiratory oxygen concentration
PRISMA	Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
ROB	Risk of bias
ROBINS-I	Risk of Bias in Non-randomized Studies - of Interventions

SLED Sustained low-efficiency dialysis

2 STUDENT PROFILE

2.1 Vision Statement

My vision is to realize and popularize the "scientist-physician" concept, wherein the distance between bedside practice and clinical research is minimized. I believe that all healthcare practitioners, especially physicians, are responsible for practicing evidence-based medicine and contributing to medical literature in any shape or form to the best of their ability.

2.2 Mission Statement

My mission is, and always has been, to challenge conventions and complacency. In the context of my Ph.D. studies, I've always aimed to revise 'what we know to be true' and to pursue 'what could have been'.

2.3 Specific Goals

My specific goals during my Ph.D. studies were to approach liver injury and dysfunction from two directions: to critically appraise the evidence on a guideline-derived patient safety measure and to summarize and contextualize clinical literature on the use of a novel treatment to shed light on its eventual protocolization.

2.4 Scientometrics

Number of all publications:	9
Cumulative IF:	54.60
Av IF/publication:	6.06
Ranking (Sci Mago):	D1: 3, Q1: 6, Q2: -
Number of publications related to the subject of the thesis:	2
Cumulative IF:	8.6
Av IF/publication:	4.2
Ranking (Sci Mago):	D1: -, Q1: 2, Q2: -
Number of citations on Google Scholar:	14

Number of citations on MTMT (independent):	9
H-index:	2

2.5 Future Plans

I intend to complete my anesthesia and intensive care training at Semmelweis University and continue my scientific career here. I have two ongoing studies: the prognostic factors for mortality in acute-on-chronic liver failure and the comparison of different modalities in blood glucose level and insulin therapy management in the intensive care unit. Both projects are meta-analyses. Furthermore, I have the draft of a randomized controlled trial, written as part of my Clinical Science Scholars Program postgraduate training at Harvard University. This study would investigate the hypothesized superiority of an invasive, multimodal, individualized, goal-directed fluid therapy for patients with sepsis in the intensive care unit. Lastly, I plan to continue my career in the Centre for Translational Medicine as a facilitator for learning and speaking the 'language of science' at the bedside.

3 SUMMARY OF THE PH.D.

3.1 Why We Did It

We believe in evidence-based medicine in anesthesia and intensive care medicine. The cornerstone of evidence-based medicine is the internationally utilized practical guidelines that help us standardize and optimize our approach to healthcare. Therefore, we aimed to investigate the validity of the evidence and recommendation levels of one guideline-derived medical intervention and to summarize and contextualize clinical evidence on a medical intervention not yet protocolized, to inform policymakers.

3.2 What We Did

With study 1, we performed an interventional meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials based on the Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) protocol on liver surgery, investigating the efficacy of preoperative high-dose glucocorticoid administration in reducing postoperative complications, which are thought to be the consequence of liver injury, at least partly. We compared any type of high-dose glucocorticoid administration in major hepatic resections and liver transplantations and assessed whether there was a significant reduction in overall postoperative complications.

With study 2, we collected all relevant original research papers on the use of any hemoadsorption therapy for critically ill patients who developed an acute liver dysfunction within the context of critical illness and multiorgan dysfunction sequelae, as opposed to long-term deterioration of chronic liver diseases. This study investigated the effects of hemoadsorption therapy by contextualizing the clinical parameters observed before and after the therapy. As the intervention is novel, and the pathological entity is relatively rare, multifactorial, and deadly, no large-scale randomized controlled trials were published before our publication.

3.3 What Did We Find

In study 1, we observed a tendency to perform better than placebo plus standard of care in reducing overall postoperative complication rate, and a significant reduction in the observed wound infection rate. There were no significant differences in safety outcomes. Risk of bias

analysis and assessment of the level of evidence certainty showed that trials conducted on this research question suffered from several methodological errors, resulting in important inconsistencies and uncertainty in several domains.

In study 2, we observed a statistically significant effect of the hemoadsorption therapy in reducing serum bilirubin, aspartate transaminase, and the need for vasopressor support, all important markers of liver dysfunction and critical illness. Data on mortality or successful bridge-to-transplantation was unavailable, leading us to recommend specific research questions for the future.

3.4 Our Main Conclusion

Through our studies, we made several important recommendations for both practitioners and researchers. We highlighted the need for protocolizing a potentially life-saving therapy such as hemoadsorption. We generated counter-arguments to previously published studies reporting significant benefits of preoperative glucocorticoid administration in liver surgery. We urged the scientific community to resolve this highly important uncertainty in a widely used international practical guideline.

4 GRAPHICAL ABSTRACTS OF THE STUDIES

4.1 Study 1

The Effect of Preoperative Administration of Glucocorticoids on the Postoperative Complication Rate in Liver Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. Cet al., 2024 | Journal Of Clinical Medicine



In conclusion: the preoperative administration of glucocorticoids did not significantly reduce the overall postoperative complication rate.

https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm13072097?

4.2 Study 2



5 INTRODUCTION

5.1 Overview

Liver dysfunction preceding surgical intervention, or acutely manifesting following critical illness, is an exceptionally dangerous phenomenon due to the 'circular causality' of liver diseases: as the liver mediates many processes implicated in both recovery and further deterioration, disturbance of its many functions creates an unpredictable chain of complications for the patient, often resulting in even more severe liver injury, thus even worse complications. The practitioner must carefully manage this potentially life-threatening 'downward spiral' perioperatively and in the intensive care unit.

5.2 Perioperative Perspective on Liver Diseases

In cases of direct injury to the liver, such as liver surgery, certain extrahepatic tissue-level complications manifest, such as postoperative collections, sepsis, organ space and wound infections, and ultimately, mortality [1,2]. Despite many improvements in liver surgery, the prevalence of such complications remains as high as 48% [3]. Furthermore, there is ample evidence in the literature postulating that the aforementioned downward spiral comprised of the cascade of dysfunctional systemic metabolic and hematological responses to injury underlies these interventions' difficult and high-risk nature [4].

5.3 Perioperative Glucocorticoids Administration in Liver Surgery

Glucocorticoids, namely methylprednisolone and hydrocortisone, both virtually ubiquitous in clinical practice, have been investigated for their anti-inflammatory effects to halt the development of the hyperinflammatory state after liver injury [5,6,7]. This research topic has been investigated worldwide since 1996 and was protocolized for clinical practice in 2016 with the publication of the Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) guideline on liver surgery [8].

The 2016 ERAS protocol recommends preoperative administration of high-dose glucocorticoids with a moderate level of recommendation and a weak level of evidence. Randomized controlled studies (RCTs) and meta-analyses of randomized controlled studies have all found conflicting results, with the most recent one by Hao-Han et al. in 2021 reporting a statistically significant

improvement in overall postoperative complication rate. However, several inconsistencies and the absence of four additional RCTs in this meta-analysis necessitated a renewed critical appraisal of the current literature.

5.4 Critical Care Perspective on Liver Dysfunction

Acute liver dysfunction associated with critical illness in patients admitted to the intensive care units (ICU) is a frequent and deadly condition, with a prevalence and mortality up to 20% and 11% respectively [9,10,11]. This is thought to be a phenomenon distinct to an acute complication of a chronic liver disease, rather, a part of the multiorgan failure sequelae brought on by the entity of critical illness itself [12]. Such a condition also brings with it a dysregulated inflammatory process wherein typical pathways of inflammatory cytokines and mediators are disturbed to the point of excess reactive oxygen species at the tissue level and rapidly advancing end-organ dysfunction, manifesting in encephalopathy, permanent neurological and other organ damage, and ultimately, mortality due to multiple organ failure. This distinction is crucial in planning the consecutive steps of patient management, as these patients often require comprehensive diagnostics, monitoring, and treatment strategies.

5.5 Hemoadsorption Therapy in Acute Liver Dysfunction

Until recently, there were no specific treatments for acute liver dysfunction associated with critical illness. Furthermore, the unreliability of the standard monitoring techniques such as serum bilirubin and clinical diagnosis of hyperbilirubinemia, makes it exceedingly difficult to be 'proactive' against acute liver dysfunction, rather forcing the clinician to be 'reactive' to it [13,14].

Hemoadsorption is a novel extracorporeal blood purification technique mainly employed for cytokine removal to manage hyperinflammation [15,16,17]. As the state of hyperinflammation is also believed to contribute to acquired acute liver dysfunction in critically ill patients [18], theoretically, reducing toxic liver-related metabolites and cytokines in the blood could potentially improve liver function in these patients. However, there is limited evidence supporting its

effectiveness, and despite its growing use and increasing data, a comprehensive review of hemoadsorption in this context is still lacking.

6 OBJECTIVES

6.1 Study 1

We aimed to summarize and contextualize the existing evidence, based on two hypotheses: (1) preoperative glucocorticoid administration can reduce the complication rate following any type of liver surgery; (2) the effect of glucocorticoids on some complications will be different than on the overall complication rate. Our overall goal with this study was to provide clarification and a critical appraisal to policy-makers.

6.2 Study 2

We aimed to assess the effect of hemoadsorption therapy on critically ill patients with acute liver dysfunction associated with critical illness. We statistically analyzed clinical outcomes, the removal of total bilirubin, and the reduction in liver enzymes. Our overall goal with this study was to guide practitioners and researchers using hemoadsorption therapy for their patients by summarizing and contextualizing the current practice, literature, and any uncertainty in evidence quality and to inform the design of prospective clinical trials to answer specific, patient-related research questions.

7 METHODS

Both studies were conducted with full adherence to the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions [19], and were protocolized according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) 2020 Statement [20]. Both studies were also prospectively registered on the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO), with the following identifiers for the first and second study, respectively: CRD42021284559, CRD42022286213.

7.1 Study 1

7.1.1 Search Strategy

A systematic search was conducted on the 15th of October, 2021. We used three electronic databases: MEDLINE via PubMed, Embase, and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL). No filters or restrictions, such as language or date were used to maximize the reproducibility of our systematic search. The systematic search was reproduced once on April 1st, 2023, to ensure no other RCTs were published between the finalization of the manuscript and its submission for publication. The following search key was utilized: (((hepatic OR liver) AND (surgery OR resection OR operation OR intervention)) OR hepatectomy) AND (steroid OR corticosteroid OR glucocorticoid OR methylprednisolone OR hydrocortisone OR cortisol) AND random*. A modified search key was used for the search on Embase: ((hepatic OR 'liver'/exp OR liver) AND ('surgery'/exp OR surgery OR 'resection'/exp OR resection OR 'operation'/exp OR operation OR 'intervention'/exp OR intervention) OR 'hepatectomy'/exp OR hepatectomy) AND ('steroid'/exp OR steroid OR 'corticosteroid'/exp OR corticosteroid OR 'glucocorticoid'/exp OR glucocorticoid'/exp OR methylprednisolone OR 'hydrocortisone'/exp OR glucocorticoid OR 'corticosteroid'/exp OR methylprednisolone OR 'hydrocortisone'/exp OR glucocorticoid OR 'cortisol'/exp OR methylprednisolone OR 'hydrocortisone'/exp OR glucocorticoid OR 'methylprednisolone'/exp OR methylprednisolone OR 'hydrocortisone'/exp OR hydrocortisone OR 'cortisol'/exp OR cortisol) AND random*. References from the selected articles were also searched for additional studies to be included in the selection process.

7.1.2 Eligibility Criteria

We defined the eligibility criteria using the PICOS framework as per Cochrane recommendations. The following framework was utilized: population (P): adult patients of either sex undergoing liver surgery, including open or laparoscopic hepatic resection or liver transplantation; intervention (I): preoperative administration of any type of high-dose glucocorticoids; control (C): placebo or non-administration; main outcome (O): overall postoperative complication rate, with the rates of distinct complications and safety outcomes such as length of hospital stay being secondary outcomes; and setting (S): perioperative hospital care. Only randomized controlled trials were eligible for inclusion in this study.

7.1.3 Selection Process

Two independent review authors selected articles based on predetermined selection criteria, first by their titles and abstracts and then by their full texts, with inter-reviewer agreement calculated by Cohen's Kappa. An agreement of more than 0.8 was sought to judge whether the selection criteria were sufficiently reproducible.

7.1.4 Data Collection Process

Three independent review authors collected data from the included articles in two teams using a preset data table. This table was then compared to spot and correct any errors in data collection. The following data items were collected: (1) study characteristics: first author, the year of publication, study design, study population (number, age, and sex), study period, study country, and institute; (2) postoperative complications: overall postoperative complication rate, wound infection, septic/infectious complications, bile leakage, pleural effusion, gastrointestinal bleeding, intra-abdominal bleeding, high-grade liver failure, and all grades of liver failure; (3) laboratory outcomes (total bilirubin, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), interleukin-6 (IL-6), C-reactive protein (CRP), and prothrombin time_international normalized

ratio (PTT)); (4) perioperative outcomes (length of hospital stay, total operative time, intraoperative blood loss, blood transfusions, and blood products used (FFP or RBC).

7.1.5 Study Risk of Bias and Certainty of Evidence Assessment

Two independent review authors assessed the risk of bias, and level of certainty of the evidence for randomized controlled trials was assessed only by the first author, using the tools recommended by the Cochrane Handbook, namely, the RoB2 [21] with its associated tool and Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations (GRADE) assessment based on the GRADE Handbook [22], and using GRADEPro [23], respectively. Results from the risk of bias assessments were compared to detect any discrepancies. The risk of bias and GRADE assessments were visualized in the published manuscript.

7.1.6 Statistical Analysis

Meta-analyses were performed for all outcomes presented in the study design section of the prospectively registered protocol, given that at least three included articles presented data in a format that allowed for pooling. Data without measures of distribution, no specified units of measure, or inconsistent reporting were not eligible for pooling. If the reported outcome measures differed, estimations were made to convert medians with ranges into means with standard deviations, given that the reported data were of sufficient quality for the estimation. Adjustments and statistical models were used wherever appropriate for meta-analysis. To calculate and report the effect size estimation, odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI) were used for dichotomous outcomes; mean differences (MD) with 95% CI were used for continuous outcomes. Statistical heterogeneity was assessed in all cases using Cochrane Q and I² tests.

7.2 Study 2

7.2.1 Search Strategy

Two separate systematic searches were performed, once before and once after the publication of this study. The two searches were performed on the following dates: 18th of February 2022 and 24th of February 2023. Both searches utilized the same five electronic databases: Medline (via PubMed), Embase, Scopus, CENTRAL, and Web of Science. Systematic search also included manual searching of the CytoSorb Literature Database and the reference lists of the included studies.

No filters or restrictions were used in either search. Both instances of systematic search utilized the following search key: oXiris OR Jafron OR CytoSorb OR hemadsorption OR hemoadsorption OR "blood purification" OR "cytokine removal" AND liver failure OR "liver injury" OR liver dysfunction OR "hepatocellular injury" OR hepatic insufficiency OR hepatic dysfunction OR "acquired liver injury".

7.2.2 Eligibility Criteria

We included any type of published original research data. These publications included clinical trials, cohort studies, registry analyses, case reports and case series. Publications with no original research data, such as other reviews, editorials, commentaries, letters, and communications, were excluded. We defined the eligibility criteria using the PICO framework as per Cochrane recommendations. The following framework was utilized: population (P): adult patients with acute liver dysfunction or failure associated with critical illness; intervention (I): treated with hemoadsorption using any technology or modality; control (C): if available, standard of care; outcome (O): mortality, bridge-to-transplantation, liver function parameters, critical illness parameters, safety outcomes. We also included studies where any one of the following outcomes were included: vasopressor need, serum bilirubin, liver enzymes before and after therapy.

7.2.3 Selection Process

Three independent review authors divided into two teams performed the selection. Criteria used for the selection were predetermined in the study protocol. An inter-reviewer agreement was calculated by Cohen's Kappa first after the title-and-abstract selection, then the full-text selection. A Kappa of more than 0.8 was eligible to finish any given selection step.

7.2.4 Data Collection Process

Two independent authors collected data from all included studies into a premade data collection sheet. The two sheets were compared to spot any differences that may have resulted during the data collection process. The collected items were: (1) study characteristics and main outcomes; (2) pre-treatment and post-treatment liver function parameters; (3) changes in vital organ function scores; (4) safety outcomes.

7.2.5 Study Risk of Bias and Certainty of Evidence Assessment

As many different study types were included, different tools for risk of bias assessment were utilized in this study. Nevertheless, all tools used were based on the Cochrane Handbook's recommendations. The following tools were used for the given study types: (1) Risk Of Bias In Non-randomised Studies - of Interventions (ROBINS-I) [24] for non-randomized studies such as cohort studies and registry analyses; (2) Joanna-Briggs Institute's Critical Appraisal Tool (JBI) [25] for case reports and case series. GRADE assessment was used to assess the level of certainty of evidence in all cases.

7.2.6 Statistical Analysis

Meta-analysis was performed for all outcomes for which at least three studies of comparable types (cohorts or cases) reported data. Before-after differences were calculated and compared for

continuous outcomes using the classical inverse variance method and Hartung-Knapp adjustment. Where a measure of distribution was not provided, we made observations by inputting -0.5 to 0.9 to correlation models to see if our estimations were sound. Upon validating our mathematical model, we published our estimations using a correlation of 0.8, meaning that we assumed the variables were highly correlated; therefore, we underestimated the effect size.

8 RESULTS

8.1 Systematic Search, Selection, Study Characteristics

8.1.1 Study 1

The systematic search identified 8226 records after automatic and manual duplicate removal. These records were then selected further according to a predetermined selection protocol, ultimately yielding 11 RCTs eligible for inclusion. The detailed record of the selection process is presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. PRISMA flowchart of selection describing the systematic search and selection process

In summary, we managed to analyze data from 964 patients, of whom 477 were in the glucocorticoid group, and 487 in the control group. Baseline characteristics, clinical data, and intervention summaries of the included articles are detailed further in Table 1.

11 studies included in this meta-analysis investigated 964 patients in total, with 477 and 487 patients with no significant between-group heterogeneity in glucocorticoid (treatment) and comparator (placebo or non-administration with standard of care) groups, respectively. The detailed breakdown of study and patient characteristics of the included studies are presented in Table 1.

Table 1. The summary of the studies included (author, publication date, country, patient distribution, and demographic data). RCT: randomized controlled trial, a = mean, $b = mean \pm standard deviation$, c = median (range).

First Author and Publicat ion Date	Interventi on	Control	Surgery Type	Patient Distribution		Age, Years		Sex, Female % of Total	
				Interve ntion	Con trol	Interve ntion	Con trol	Interve ntion	Con trol
Aldrighe tti L. 2006 [26]	IV Methylpred nisolone 500 mg	Unclear	Hepatic resectio n	36	37	61.8 (21– 78) c	63 (31– 85) c	37.83	38.8 8

Steintho rsdottir K. J. 2021 [27]	IV Methylpred nisolone 10 mg/kg	Standard of care includin g IV Dexamet hasone 8 mg	Open liver surgery without biliary reconstr uction	86	88	65.2 ± 11.2 b	64.4 ± 12.0 b	34	30.6
Bressan A. K. 2022 [28]	IV Methylpred nisolone 500 mg	Placebo	Hepatic resectio n	74	77	63.9 a	62.4 a	47.2	38.9
Hasega wa Y. 2019 [29]	IV Methylpred nisolone 500 mg	Placebo	Hepatic resectio n	50	50	67 (59– 74) c	68 (62– 75) c	38	40
Donado n M. 2016 [30]	IV Methylpred nisolone 500 mg	Placebo	Hepatic resectio n	16	16	65 (27– 80) c	63 (22– 77) c	44	37.5
Hayashi Y. 2011 [31]	IV Hydrocorti sone 500- 300-100 mg	Non- administ ration	Hepatic resectio n	98	102	69 (39– 81) c	70 (35– 82) c	No data	No data

	consecutiv ely								
Yamashi ta Y. 2001 [32]	IV Methylpred nisolone 500 mg	Non- administ ration	Hepatic resectio n	16	17	56.8 a	60.3 a	31.25	23.5 2
Murator e A. 2002 [33]	IV Methylpred nisolone 30 mg/kg	Non- administ ration	Hepatic resectio n	28	25	64.1 a	65.4 a	60.7	32
Onoe S. 2021 [34]	IV Hydrocorti sone 500- 300-200- 100 mg	Placebo	Combin ed liver and extrahep atic bile duct resectio n	46	48	70 (39– 83) c	71 (39– 84) c	33	40
Schmidt S. C. 2007 [35]	Methylpred nisolone 30 mg/kg	Placebo	Hepatic resectio n	10	10	65 a	57 a	60	70

Turner	IV Methylpred		Orthoto			53.4 a	57.7		
S. 2006 [36]	nisolone 10 mg/kg	Placebo	transpla ntation	17	17		a	35.3	35.3

8.1.2 Study 2

The second and final round of systematic search yielded 3022 results, of which only two originated from the manual search. Duplicate records were removed first automatically, then manually by the first author. The detailed record of the selection process is presented in Figure 2.



Figure 2. PRISMA flowchart of included studies.

The selection process identified 30 eligible studies published between 2011 and 2022, with an additional 3 studies included from a subsequent systematic search. These studies collectively documented the use of hemoadsorption in 323 patients. Among the studies, 19 were case reports, 7 were case series (totaling 84 patients), 3 were observational studies (130 patients), and 1 was a registry analysis (109 patients). All patients who had liver dysfunction associated with acute critical illness were treated with hemoadsorption techniques: CytoSorb (23 datasets, 232 patients), Coupled Plasma Filtration Adsorption (4 datasets, 88 patients), oXiris (2 datasets, 2 patients), and a combination of CytoSorb and oXiris (1 dataset, 1 patient). Detailed characteristics of the included studies and the baseline patient data are provided in Table 2.

Table 2. Study and baseline characteristics of included studies. a= Individual data;	b= range
(min-max), c= mean ± standard deviation, d= median (minimum range-maximum	ı range).

Publication I	Data		Numbe				Numbe	
First Author	Year of Publicatio n	Study Design	r of Patient s	Age	Used Device	Intervention	r of Session s	
Gunasekera, A.M. [37]	2022	Case report	1	54 a	CytoSor b	CRRT with CytoSorb	1	
Ruiz- Rodriguez, J.C. [38]	2022	Case report	1	50 a	CytoSor b	CVVHDF with CytoSorb	1	

Cazzato, M.T. [39]	2019	Case report	1	No data	CytoSor b	CRRT with CytoSorb (24 h)	4
Daza, J.L. [40]	2022	Case report	1	41 a	CytoSor b	SLED combined with CytoSorb (12 h)	2
Hinz, B. [41]	2015	Case report	1	72 a	CytoSor b	CVVHD with CytoSorb (24- 6-24 h)	3
Köhler, T. [42]	2021	Case report	1	29 a	CytoSor b	CRRT with CytoSorb (24 h)	Unclear
Lau, C.W.M. [43]	2021	Case report	1	47 a	oXiris	Blood purification with oXiris (5 days in total)	No data
Li, Y. [44]	2020	Case report	1	35 a	oXiris	CVVH with oXiris (24 h)	2

Manohar, V. [45]	2017	Case report	1	22 a	CytoSor b	Extracorporea l cytokine hemofiltration (12 h)	1
Markovic, M. [46]	2020	Case report	1	31 a	CytoSor b and oXiris	CytoSorb (day 1) and oXiris (day 2)	2
Moretti, R. [47]	2011	Case report	1	27 a	CPFA	CPFA (24 h)	5
Piwowarczy k, P. [48]	2019	Case report	1	57 a	CytoSor b	CytoSorb with anticoagulate d CVVHD (24 h)	2
Tomescu, D. [49]	2018	Case report	1	17 a	CytoSor b	CytoSorb (before and throughout liver transplantatio n)	1
Wiegele, M. [50]	2015	Case report	1	44 a	CytoSor b	CytoSorb (6 h)	2

Lévai, T. [51]	2019	Case report	1	42 a	CytoSor b	CytoSorb with anticoagulate d CVVRRT	4
Manini, E. [52]	2019	Case report	1	62 a	CytoSor b	CytoSorb with anticoagulate d CVVRRT	1
Popescu, M. [53]	2017	Case report	1	47 a	CytoSor b	CytoSorb (24 h)	4
Kogelman, K. [54]	2021	Case report	1	45 a	CytoSor b	CytoSorb with CRRT (in CVVHD mode)	3
Breitkopf, R. [55]	2020	Case report	1	40 a	CytoSor b	CytoSorb with CRRT (in CVVHD mode)	2
Ullo, I. [56]	2017	Case series	9	21– 63 b	CPFA	CPFA with citrate anticoagulatio n	No data

Popescu, M. [57]	2017	Case series	5	49 ± 13 c	CytoSor b	CytoSorb with CVVHF	No data
Popescu, M. and Tomescu, D. [58]	2018	Case series	13	46 ± 17 c	CytoSor b	CytoSorb with CVVHF	No data
Maggi, U. [59]	2013	Case series	2	22– 64 b	CPFA	CPFA	3
Popescu, M. [60]	2020	Case series	29	34 ± 14 c	CytoSor b	CytoSorb with CVVHDF	3
Dhokia, V.D. [61]	2019	Case series	3	51– 71 b	CytoSor b	CytoSorb with CVVHDF (1); CytoSorb with Prismaflex (1); CytoSorb with CRRT (1)	2

Acar, U. [62]	2019	Case series	4	26– 73 b	CytoSor b	CytoSorb with CVVHD	No data
Ocskay, K. [18]	2021	Registry analysis	109	49. 2 ± 17. 1 c	CytoSor b	Varies: CytoSorb alone or CytoSorb with CRRT	2
Niu, D.G. [63]	2019	Retrospectiv e observation al study	76	51. 4 ± 15. 6 c	CPFA	CPFA with CRRT	No data
Scharf, C. [64]	2021	Retrospectiv e observation al study	33	55 (18 - 76) d	CytoSor b	CytoSorb	1
Praxenthaler , J. [65]	2022	Retrospectiv e observation al study	21	74 (58 80) d	CytoSor b	CVVHD with CytoSorb	varies

8.2 **Results of Analyses**

8.2.1 Study 1

8.2.1.1 Main Outcome

The main outcome of this study was the difference in the odds ratio of the overall postoperative complication rate between the intervention and control groups. Out of the eleven eligible studies in our analysis, nine (n = 836) reported the overall rate of postoperative complications as an outcome [27-35]. This outcome did not differentiate between major and minor complications or varying pathomechanisms. In this pooled analysis, 418 patients received preoperative glucocorticoids in the intervention group, while 419 patients in the control group were given either saline, a placebo, or nothing. The intervention group showed a trend toward a lower overall postoperative complication rate (OR: 0.71; 95% CI: 0.38–1.31, p = 0.23), although this finding was not statistically significant (see Figure 3A). Considerable heterogeneity was observed, as defined by the Cochrane Handbook [I² = 54% (2%; 78%), p = 0.03].

(A)

	Glucocor	ticoid	C	ontrol				
Study	Complication	Total	Complication	Total	Odds Ratio	OR	95%-CI	Weight
Aldrighetti L., 2006	5	37	20	36	;]	0.13	[0.04; 0.39]	10.7%
Hasegawa Y., 2019	11	50	20	50		0.42	[0.18; 1.02]	13.7%
Bressan A.K., 2020	24	74	35	77		0.58	[0.30; 1.12]	16.3%
Schmidt S.C., 2007	2	10	3	10		0.58	[0.07; 4.56]	5.0%
Steinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	19	88	19	86		0.97	[0.47; 1.99]	15.6%
Yamashita Y., 2001	2	17	2	17		1.00	[0.12; 8.06]	4.9%
Hayashi Y., 2011	42	98	41	102	÷ (m –	1.12	[0.64; 1.96]	17.6%
Donadon M., 2016	3	16	2	16		1.62	[0.23; 11.26]	5.5%
Muratore A., 2002	12	28	7	25		1.93	[0.61; 6.09]	10.7%
Overall effect		418		419		0.71	[0.38: 1.31]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: /2 = 54% [2%;	78%], p = 0.03							
					0.1 0.5 1 2 10			
			F	avours	Glucocorticoid Favours Cont	Ion		

(B)

Study	Glucocort	Total	Effusion	Total	Odds Ratio	OR	95%-CI W	eight
Bressan A. K., 2020 Muratore A., 2002 Steinthorsdottir, K. J.,2021 Aldrighetti L., 2006 Hayashi Y., 2011	3 3 2 1 14	77 25 88 36 102	7 7 2 1	74 - 28 - 86 37 -		0.39 0.41 0.98 1.03 1.26	[0.10; 1.56] 1 [0.09; 1.79] 1 [0.13; 7.09] [0.06; 17.09] [0.54; 2.92] 5	8.7% 6.6% 9.2% 4.6% 0.9%
Overall effect Heterogeneity: / ² = 0% [0%; 794	%], <i>p</i> = 0.56	328	Fa	323 0.1 vours Glu	1 0.5 1 2 Icocorticoid Favours C	0.81 10 control	[0.44; 1.48] 10	0.0%

(C)

	Glucocor	ticoid	Co	ontrol					
Study	Infections	Total	Infections	Total	Odds F	latio	OR	95%-CI	Weight
Aldrighetti L., 2006	0	36	2	37 -	· ++	-	0.19	[0.01; 4.20]	3.4%
Schmidt S.C., 2007	0	10	1	10 -			0.30	[0.01; 8.33]	2.9%
Yamashita Y., 2001	0	17	1	16 -			0.31	[0.01; 7.85]	3.0%
Bressan A.K., 2020	3	77	6	74		-	0.46	[0.11; 1.91]	15.8%
Once S., 2021	2	48	3	46			0.62	[0.10; 3.91]	9.5%
Havashi Y., 2011	10	102	12	98	- 12	-	0.78	[0.32: 1.90]	40.5%
Steinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	6	88	7	86			0.83	[0.27; 2.56]	24.9%
Overall effect		378		367	\$		0.64	[0.45; 0.92]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $l^2 = 0\% 10\%$:	71%1.p = 0.9	5		Г	1 1	1			
				0.0	1 0.1 1	10	100		
			F	avours G	Slucocorticoid	Favours C	ontrol		

(D)

	Glucocor	ticoid	C	ontrol				
Study	Complication	Total	Complication	Total	Odds Ratio	OR	95%-CI	Weight
Aldrighetti L., 2006	2	36	8	37		0.21	[0.04; 1.08]	20.9%
Bressan A.K., 2020	5	74	13	77		0.36	[0.12; 1.06]	28.1%
Steinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	5	88	4	86		1.23	[0.32: 4.76]	24.4%
Hayashi Y., 2011	10	102	4	98		2.55	[0.77; 8.44]	26.5%
Overall effect		300		298		0.73	[0.24; 2.20]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 65\% [0\%]$	88%], p = 0.03				1 1 1 1			
					0.1 0.5 1 2 10			
			E	avoure	Glucocorticoid Equatre contro	1 I		

d Favo

(E)

	Glucocor	ticoid	Co	ontrol				
Study	Bile Leakage	Total	Bile Leakage	Total	Odds Ratio	OR	95%-CI	Weight
Aldrighetti L., 2006	0	36	1	37 -	· •	0.33	[0.01; 8.43]	3.3%
Hayashi Y., 2011	3	102	5	88		0.50	[0.12; 2.17]	16.4%
Yamashita Y., 2001	0	17	0	16 -		1.00	[0.02; 53.46]	2.2%
Schmidt S.C., 2007	1	10	1	10		1.00	[0.05; 18.57]	4.1%
Once S., 2021	20	48	18	46		1.11	[0.49; 2.53]	51.4%
Bressan A.K., 2020	4	77	3	74		1.30	[0.28; 6.00]	14.9%
Steinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	7	88	1	86	÷ *	7.35	[0.88; 61.03]	7.8%
Overall effect		378		357	-	1.10	[0.57; 2.13]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 0\% 10\%$: 7	71%1.p = 0.57							
					0.1 0.51 2 10			
			Fa	avours G	Iucocorticoid Favours Cont	Ion		

(F)

	Glucocor	ticoid	C	ontrol				
Study	Liver Failure	Total	Liver Failure	Total	Odds Ratio	OR	95%-CI	Weight
Hayashi Y., 2011	1	102	3	98 -		0.31	[0.03; 3.07]	9.0%
Aldrighetti L., 2006	2	36	4	37		0.49	[0.08; 2.83]	15.1%
Bressan A.K., 2020	1	77	1	74		0.96	[0.06; 15.64]	6.0%
Once S., 2021	29	48	25	46		1.28	[0.57; 2.91]	69.9%
Overall effect	33	263	33	255		0.96	[0.48; 1.90]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: /2 = 0% [(0%; 85%], p = 0.5	8						
			F	avours	0.1 0.5 1 2 10 Glucocorticoid Favours Cont	trol		

Figure 3. Forest plots of clinical outcomes. (A) overall postoperative complication rate; (B) pleural effusion; (C) wound infection; (D) septic/infectious complications; (E) bile leakage; (F) liver failure of any grade. OR: odds ratio; CI: confidence interval.

8.2.1.2 Other Outcomes

Five studies [26,27,28,31,33] involving 651 participants evaluated pleural effusion rates as an outcome. Our analysis indicated no statistically significant difference between the groups, though there was a slight trend toward a lower rate in the intervention group (OR: 0.81; 95% CI: 0.44– 1.48, p = 0.4963) (see Figure 3B). Wound infection rates were reported in seven studies [26-28,31,32,34,35] with 745 participants. The intervention significantly lowered the incidence of wound infections (OR: 0.64; 95% CI: 0.45–0.92, p = 0.0241) (see Figure 3C). Four studies [26-28,31] with 598 participants reported septic or infectious complications. No statistically significant difference was found between the groups, although there was a trend toward a lower rate in the intervention group (OR: 0.73; 95% CI: 0.24–2.20, p = 0.577) (see Figure 3D). Bile leakage rates were analyzed in seven studies [26-28,31,32,34,35], including 745 participants. Our analysis revealed no statistically significant difference between the groups (OR: 1.12; 95% CI: 0.59–2.13, p = 0.7263), with a slight trend toward a higher rate in the intervention group (See Figure 3E). Liver failure outcomes were reported in five studies [26,28,31,32,34] involving 551 participants, and our analysis found no statistically significant difference between the groups (OR: 0.96; 95% CI: 0.49–1.88, p = 0.9034) (see Figure 3F).

Perioperative outcomes were also assessed in our analysis. No statistically significant differences were found between the glucocorticoid and control groups for these outcomes. Hospital stay duration (in days) was reported in eight studies [27-34] (n = 759), with a mean difference of -0.12 (95% CI: -0.57 to 0.34) (see Figure 4A). Total operative time (in minutes) was reported in seven studies [27-32,34] (n = 709), showing a mean difference of -2.82 (95% CI: -19.46 to 13.83) (see Figure 4B). Blood loss (in milliliters) was analyzed in eight studies [27-34] (n = 857), with a mean difference of 3.41 (95% CI: -33.33 to 40.16) (see Figure 4C). The requirement for intraoperative
blood transfusion was reported in five studies (n = 572), with an odds ratio of 1.04 (95% CI: 0.63 to 1.71, p = 0.89) (see Figure 4D).

(A)

	G	lucoco	rticoid		C	ontrol						
Study	Total Mean		SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95%-CI	Weight		
Aldrighetti L., 2006	36	7.60	4.01	37	10.95	7.98		-3.34	[-6.28;-0.41]	2.5%		
Hasegawa Y., 2019	50	9.71	4.57	50	10.06	5.33	+	-0.35	[-2.32; 1.62]	5.4%		
Steinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	88	4.49	2.22	86	4.73	1.59		-0.24	[-0.82; 0.34]	62.5%		
Donadon M., 2016	16	8.83	1.42	16	8.67	1.13	-	0.17	[-0.76; 1.09]	26.1%		
Yamashita Y., 2001	17	19.20	7.42	16	17.80	6.40	- +- -	1.40	[-3.51; 6.31]	0.9%		
Muratore A., 2003	25	13.40	19.10	28	11.60	7.50		1.80	[-6.38; 9.98]	0.3%		
Hayashi Y., 2011	102	17.27	14.17	98	14.19	6.62	-+-	3.07	[0.01; 6.14]	2.2%		
Onoe, S., 2021	48	45.85	69.41	46	34.11	37.00		11.74	[-10.92; 34.39]	0.0%		
Random effects model	382	2		377				-0.12	[-0.81; 0.58]	100.0%		
Heterogeneity: $I = 38\% [0\%;$	73%],	$\tau = 0, p$	0 = 0.12				30 30 10 0 10 30 30					
				-30 -20 -10 0 10 20 30								
					F	avours	Giucocorticola Favours Contr	01				

(B)

		Glucoc	orticoid		Control						
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Diffe	rence	MD	95%-CI	Weight
Aldrighetti L., 2006	36	395.59	51.94	37	421.05	61.05			-25.46	[-51.89; 0.96]	22.4%
Once, S., 2021	48	511.15	141.74	46	534.85	136.93 -			-23.70	[-80.78; 33.39]	6.4%
Yamashita Y., 2001	17	338.00	86.59	16	352.00	56.00		_	-14.00	[-65.47; 37.47]	8.1%
Steinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	88	163.50	73.60	86	161.80	65.70		_	1.70	[-19.17; 22.57]	29.7%
Donadon M., 2016	16	385.83	88.05	16	378.33	117.21			7.50	[-67.35; 82.35]	4.1%
Hasegawa Y., 2019	50	227.03	94.44	50	216.28	86.06		-	10.76	[-25.10; 46.62]	14.2%
Hayashi Y., 2011	102	348.78	133.50	98	327.44	112.59			21.35	[-13.04; 55.73]	15.0%
Random effects model	357			349				-	-2.82	[-19.46; 13.83]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 6\%$ [0%; 7	73%1. p	= 0.38									
							-50 0	50			

Favours Glucocorticoid Favours Control

(C)

		Glucoc	orticoid			Control				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95%-CI	Weight
Onoe, S., 2021	48	1070.44	529.33	46	1211.76	1049.63		-141.31	[-484.10; 201.47]	1.1%
Bressan A. K. 2022	77	339.00	242.00	74	395.00	266.00		-56.00	[-137.87; 25.87]	13.7%
Aldrighetti L., 2006	36	602.60	87.35	37	638.42	117.40		-35.82	[-84.03; 12.38]	24.4%
Hasegawa Y., 2019	50	58.49	26.68	50	36.19	13.12	G	22.30	[13.95; 30.64]	40.2%
Hayashi Y., 2011	102	375.75	313.70	98	340.53	393.75		35.22	[-64.30; 134.74]	10.3%
Steinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	88	637.90	720.63	86	587.73	591.87		50.17	[-146.96; 247.31]	3.2%
Yamashita Y., 2001	17	892.00	437.05	16	822.00	220.00		70.00	[-173.56; 313.56]	2.3%
Donadon M., 2016	16	366.67	254.81	16	250.00	198.19	++	116.67	[-48.15; 281.48]	4.8%
Random effects model	434			423				3.41	[-37.84; 44.67]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 40\% [0\%]$	73%],	$t^2 = 857.49$	924, p = 0	0.11			1 1 1 1			
							-400 -200 0 200 400			
						Favours	Glucocorticoid Favours Control	1		

(D)

	Glucocorticoid			Control					
Study	Events	Total	Events	Total	Odds Ratio	OR	95%-CI	Weight	
Bressan A.K., 2022	3	77	8	74		0.33	[0.09; 1.31]	13.6%	
Once S., 2021	17	48	16	46		1.03	[0.44; 2.40]	35.4%	
Steinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	13	88	10	86		1.32	[0.54; 3.19]	32.5%	
Muratore A., 2003	7	25	6	28		1.43	[0.41; 5.01]	16.1%	
Hasegawa Y., 2019	1	50	0	50		- 3.06	[0.12; 76.95]	2.4%	
Overall effect	41	288	40	284		1.04	[0.63; 1.71]	100.0%	
Heterogeneity: /2 = 0% [0%; 7!	9%], τ ² = 0, ,	p = 0.46							
					0.1 0.51 2 10				

Favours Glucocorticoid Favours Control

Figure 4. Forest plots of other outcomes. (A) length of hospital stay; (B) total operative time; (C) blood loss (milliliters); (D) need for administration of blood products. OR: odds ratio; CI: confidence interval; MD: mean difference; SD: standard deviation.

8.2.2 Study 2

8.2.2.1 Main Outcome

The primary outcomes assessed in this study were mortality, the rate of bridging to transplantation, and the duration of ICU stay. Due to the scarcity of well-documented original research data in the literature, none of these outcomes could be meta-analyzed as initially intended. Observational cohort studies [62-64] reported an in-hospital mortality rate of 38% (50 out of 130 patients), while case reports and series [37-61] indicated a mortality rate of 23% (19 out of 82 patients). The registry analysis documented a total in-hospital mortality rate of 59.6% (65 cases), with 10 deaths occurring at the end of hemoadsorption therapy (9.2%), 60 deaths during the ICU stay (55%), and 5 more during the post-ICU hospitalization period. This was the only study to report on the length of ICU stay, providing a median duration of 14.0 days (IQR: 7.0–23.0). None of the studies in the analysis provided data on the success rate or any other descriptive outcomes regarding bridging to liver transplantation.

8.2.2.2 Other Outcomes

Among the outcomes, only six laboratory parameters were suitable for meta-analysis. Data from 160 patients demonstrated a significant post-treatment reduction in total bilirubin levels, with a mean difference of -4.79 mg/dL (95% CI: -6.25 to -3.33, p = 0.002) (Figure 5). In the case series involving 38 patients, there was a non-significant decrease in serum creatinine, with a mean difference of -0.38 mg/dL (95% CI: -1.27 to 0.5, p = 0.20) (Figure 6). Additional analyses could be conducted only with individual patient data derived from case reports (Figure 7). Pre- and post-treatment values for each laboratory parameter were aggregated from these case reports and illustrated in box plots. The change in each parameter for individual patients was represented by lines connecting dots that reflect pre- and post-treatment values. These analyses revealed a

significant reduction in AST levels (Wilcoxon p = 0.03) (Figure 4B) and in the need for vasopressors (Wilcoxon p = 0.03) (Figure 4F) after treatment. Analyses of ALT, C-reactive protein (CRP), creatinine, and total bilirubin levels post-treatment showed non-significant trends toward reduction (Figure 4).



Figure 5. Forest plot of total bilirubin levels pre- and post-treatment with hemoadsorption



Figure 6. Forest plot of serum creatinine levels pre- and post-treatment with hemoadsorption.



Figure 7. Box plots of individual case data: (A) alanine aminotransferase (ALT), (B) aspartate aminotransferase (AST), (C) bilirubin, (D) creatinine, (E) C-reactive protein (CRP), and (F) vasopressor need. Data were pooled from individual case reports and presented as box plots, representing pre- and post-treatment values. Changes in these parameters for each case are also depicted by lines connecting pre- and post-treatment values.

Only two studies documented changes in SOFA scores before and after hemoadsorption therapy. Ocskay et al. [18] observed a non-significant improvement in SOFA scores among liver failure patients, with a mean difference and confidence interval of 0.5 (-0.3 to 1.3). In contrast, Popescu et al. (2020) [59] reported a significant improvement in CLIF-SOFA scores following hemoadsorption therapy in their case series. Although the retrospective study by Niu et al. [51] indicated a significant improvement in SOFA scores, specific data supporting this finding were not provided. Scharf et al. [63] also found a significant improvement in SAPS-II scores after hemoadsorption, with a mean difference of 6 ± 9 (p = 0.01). Among the individual case reports, Cazzato et al. [38] were the only ones to follow up on SOFA scores. Their patients, who underwent hepatic resection and developed acute liver failure postoperatively, showed an improvement in SOFA scores from 4 to 2 after hemoadsorption therapy.

While no study included into this meta-analysis analyzed safety outcomes in a format eligible for a pooled analysis, no device-related adverse events were recorded.

8.3 Assessment of the Risk of Bias and Level of Evidence Certainty

8.3.1 Risk of Bias Assessment

8.3.1.1 Study 1

Risk of bias assessment was performed using RoB2, and the results are presented in Figure 8. Overall, most of the studies included in this analysis were appropriately randomized, and none of the studies had issues related to missing outcomes. The primary risk of bias stemmed from the inadequate detailing of study designs in some instances, leading to potential concerns. Additionally, in certain cases, bias associated with outcome reporting posed a significant risk. Heterogeneity levels were evaluated following the guidelines of the Cochrane Handbook using $\tau 2$, 12, and Cochrane Q test statistics. The overall postoperative complication rate analysis showed moderate heterogeneity (I2 = 54% [2%;78%], p = 0.03), which could be attributed to the inclusion of fewer than ten studies and the pooling of patients who underwent different liver surgeries. Similarly, moderate heterogeneity was noted in the analyses of hospital stay length (I2 = 38% [0%;73%], p = 0.12) and blood loss (I2 = 40% [0%;73%], p = 0.11), likely due to variations in the surgical characteristics of the patients included. The analysis of septic/infectious complications revealed significant heterogeneity (I2 = 65%, [0%;88%], p = 0.03), potentially explained by the relatively small sample size (n = 200), as this analysis included only four studies. No severe heterogeneity was detected in any of the other analyses.

	<u>D1</u>	D2	D3	D4	D5	Overall	
Aldrighetti 2006	•	+	+	+	!	!	•
Hasegawa 2019	+	+	+	+	+	+	•
Bressan 2022	+	+	+	+	+	+	•
Schmidt 2007	!	•	+	•	+	!	
Steinthorsdottir 2022	+	•	+	•	+	+	D1
Yamashita 2001	+	•	+	•	•	-	D2
Hayashi 2011	+	•	+	!	+	!	D3
Donadon 2016	+	•	+	•	+	+	D4
Muratore 2002	•	!	+	•	•	-	D5
Turner 2006	+	•	+	•	+	+	
Onoe 2021	•	•	•	•	•	-	

Figure 8. Results of the risk of bias assessments using RoB2

8.3.1.2 Study 2

Risk of bias was assessed using several tools, all as per the recommendations in the Cochrane Handbook. Although the included and pooled studies are of categorically lower quality according to the hierarchy of levels of evidence, the studies themselves were of fair to good quality overall. The results of risk of bias assessments are presented in Figures 9, 10, 11.

			Ri	sk of bia	s domaiı	ns	-			
	D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	D6	D7	Overall		
Niu DG., 2019	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Scharf C., 2021	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Praxenthaler J., 2022	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+		
Ocskay K., 2021	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	-		
	Domains:									
	D1: Bias D2: Bias	due to cor	itounding. ection of p	articipants			-	Moderate		
D3: Bias in classification of interventions. D4: Bias due to deviations from intended interventions. D5: Bias due to missing data. D6: Bias in measurement of outcomes. D7: Bias in selection of the reported result.										
	Niu DG., 2019 Scharf C., 2021 Praxenthaler J., 2022 Ocskay K., 2021	D1Niu DG., 2019+Scharf C., 2021+Praxenthaler J., 2022+Ocskay K., 2021+Domains D1: Bias D2: Bias D3: Bias D4: Bias D5: Bias D5: Bias D7: Bias D7: Bias D7: Bias D7: Bias	D1D2Niu DG., 2019++Scharf C., 2021++Praxenthaler J., 2022++Ocskay K., 2021++Domains: D1: Bias due to cor D2: Bias due to sel D3: Bias in classific D4: Bias due to der D5: Bias due to der D5: Bias due to mis D6: Bias in measur D7: Bias in selection	RiD1D2D3Niu DG., 2019++Scharf C., 2021++Praxenthaler J., 2022++Ocskay K., 2021++Domains: D1: Bias due to confounding. D2: Bias due to selection of p D3: Bias in classification of in D4: Bias due to deviations fro D5: Bias due to missing data. D6: Bias in measurement of c D7: Bias in selection of the residue to the residu	Risk of biaD1D2D3D4Niu DG., 2019++++Scharf C., 2021++++Praxenthaler J., 2022++++Ocskay K., 2021++++Domains: D1: Bias due to confounding. D2: Bias due to selection of participants D3: Bias in classification of interventions D4: Bias due to deviations from intended D5: Bias due to missing data. D6: Bias in measurement of outcomes. D7: Bias in selection of the reported res	D1D2D3D4D5Niu DG., 2019+++++Scharf C., 2021+++++Praxenthaler J., 2022+++++Ocskay K., 2021++++-Domains: D1: Bias due to confounding. D2: Bias due to selection of participants. D3: Bias in classification of interventions. D4: Bias due to deviations from intended intervent D5: Bias due to missing data. D6: Bias in measurement of outcomes. D7: Bias in selection of the reported result.	Risk of bias domainsD1D2D3D4D5D6Niu DG., 2019++++++Scharf C., 2021+++++++Praxenthaler J., 2022+++++++Ocskay K., 2021++++++++Domains: D1: Bias due to confounding. D2: Bias due to selection of participants. D3: Bias in classification of interventions. D4: Bias due to deviations from intended interventions. D5: Bias due to missing data. D6: Bias in measurement of outcomes. D7: Bias in selection of the reported result.H	Niu DG., 2019Image: Construction of the reported result.D1D2D3D4D5D6D7Niu DG., 2019Image: Construction of the reported result.Image: Construction of the reported result.Niu DG., 2019Image: Construction of the reported result.Image: Construction of the reported result.Niu DG., 2019Image: Construction of the reported result.Image: Construction of the reported result.Niu DG., 2019Image: Construction of the reported result.Image: Construction of the reported result.Image: Construction of the reported result.Image: Construction of the reported result.Niu DG., 2019Image: Construction of the reported result.Image: Construction of the reported result.Image: Construction of the reported result.Niu Construction of the reported result.Image: Construction of the reported result.Image: Construction of the reported result.<		

Figure 9. Results of the risk of bias assessments using ROBINS-I

						Risk of bias	5			
		D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	D6	D7	D8	Overall
	Gunasekera AM, 2022	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Ruiz-Rodriguez JC, 2022	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Cazzato MT, 2019	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Daza JL, 2022	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Hinz B, 2015	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Köhler T., 2021	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Lau CWM, 2021	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Li Y., 2020	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Manohar V., 2017	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	
Study	Markovic M., 2020	+	-	+	+	+	+		+	
	Moretti R., 2011	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Piwowarczyk P., 2019	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	
	Tomescu D., 2018	+	+	+	+	-	+			
	Wiegele M., 2015	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	
	Lévai T., 2019	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Manini E., 2019	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	
	Popescu M., 2017	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Kogelman K., 2021	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Breitkopf R., 2020	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
	Judge - +	ement No Yes Not applicable								

Figure 10. Results of the risk of bias assessments using JBI for case reports

		Risk of bias											
		D1	D2	D3	D4	D5	D6	D7	D8	D9	D10	Overall	
	Popescu M. & Tomescu D., 2018	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	+		-		
Study	Maggi U., 2013	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+		-		
	Popescu M., 2020	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+		-		
	Dhokia VD, 2019	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+		-		
	Acar U., 2019	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+		-		
	Ullo I., 2017	+	+	+	-	-	+	+	+		-		
	Popescu M., 2017	+	+	+	-	-	+	-	+		-		
		D1: Were th	nere clear cr	iteria for inc	lusion in the	case series	for all partia	inanta inalu	dad in the or	an corico?	Judge	ment	
		D3: Were v	alid method:	s used for id	entification o	of the condition	on for all partic	rticipants includ	luded in the	case	۱ -	No / Unclear	
		series? D4: Did the	case series	have conse	cutive inclus	ion of partic	inants?				۱ 🕂	Yes	
		D5: Did the	case series	have comp	lete inclusion	of participa	nts?				- N	Not applicable	
		D6: Was the D7: Was the	ere clear rep ere clear rep	porting of the porting of cli	e demograph nical informa	tion of the pa	articipants in articipants?	the study?					
		D8: Were th	ne outcomes	s or follow up	o results of c	ases clearly	reported?	nhia informa	tion?				
		D10: Was the	tatistical an	alysis appro	priate?	site(s//clinic	(s) demogra	prile informa					

Figure 11. Results of the risk of bias assessments using JBI for case series

8.3.2 GRADE Assessment for Level of Evidence Certainty

8.3.2.1 Study 1

The studies were also assessed for their evidence certainty using the GRADE approach. Overall, the certainty of the evidence was rated as weak to very weak. The most critical issue was concerning the overall postoperative complication rate, which is an indirect and imprecise outcome. Other outcomes also suffered from imprecision and inconsistencies across the pooled studies. Finally, the risk of bias presented an obstacle to achieving higher levels of evidence certainty.

8.3.2.2 Study 2

The quality of evidence has been deemed poor according to the GRADE approach. The fact that all of the studies are retrospective and observational poses significant challenges for drawing dependable conclusions. Additionally, some of the literature on this subject might be categorized as "gray literature," which further raises concerns about the reliability and overall quality of the evidence presented.

9 DISCUSSION

9.1 Summary of Findings

Study 1 was the most comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis on this topic thus far. Our analysis found a tendency towards lower odds of overall postoperative complication with preoperative administration of glucocorticoids for patients undergoing major liver surgery such as hepatic resection or liver transplantation. However, unlike some of the papers included in this study, our findings did not reach statistical significance. This is very important to consider, as it sheds light on the fact that any beneficial effect reported by primary researchers may need to be reinforced by better stratification of patients, larger cohorts, and better reporting of the complications thought to be preventable by the immune-inflammatory modulatory effect ascribed to high-dose glucocorticoids. Interestingly, the wound infection was found to be significantly reduced by the administration of glucocorticoids. This might be due to the low number of studies and patients included in the analysis, especially considering the generally less-than-ideal level of evidence certainty and relatively high risk of bias in these studies, even though they were all randomized controlled trials. Our analyses found no significant benefit in other particular postoperative complications either.

Glucocorticoids have been studied for decades in an attempt to reduce postoperative complications. One of the first clinical studies in this area was performed by Shimada and colleagues and published in 1996 [66]. The present study aimed to evaluate whether glucocorticoids reduced surgical stress by inhibiting cytokine release after surgery. The administration of a single high dose of methylprednisolone ameliorated interstitial inflammation soon in the biopsied liver through down-regulation of secretion levels from macrophage-like cells (Kupffer's and endothelial cell types). Researchers chose steroids because they are potent anti-

inflammatory agents, which were theorized to potentially lead to hepatic stabilization and faster restoration of liver function as a result without the systemic derailment that an inflammatory state would create from uncontrolled immunological response.

Total bilirubin elevation is a marker of failure to maintain the critical balance between production and excretion that is presumed (to various extents) to be partly reflective of hepatic function [67]. When combined with aminotransferases such as ALT and AST, they are already widely used liver health markers in clinical practice. Even though the studies were not as systematic as would be expected from randomized controlled trials, and the data collected were moderately confounded, it is important to note that included studies reported significant benefits to using glucocorticoids. This could indicate a liver-protective effect provided by the intervention, given that an increase in ALT is recognized as a marker of liver disease [68].

CRP, an acute-phase protein produced by the liver, along with IL-6, serves as an indicator of inflammation. Elevated CRP levels have been linked to liver failure [69]. The studies we examined consistently reported significantly reduced CRP levels, suggesting a protective effect on the liver. Also, prolonged prothrombin time is associated with liver failure [70], as the liver produces many factors involved in the coagulation system. However, Hayashi et al.'s findings [31] on the PTT-INR contrast with those of other studies included in this review. As coagulation parameters are also considered a crucial aspect of assessing liver function, future clinical trials should be designed to produce more high-quality evidence regarding the intervention's impact on coagulation.

Study 2 found consistent and statistically significant benefits to using hemoadsorption in patients with critical illness-associated acute liver dysfunction. Liver enzymes, serum bilirubin, and the need for vasopressors, which are all important markers for prognosis, were significantly improved after the treatment. Naturally, such findings need to be validated by future randomized controlled trials. While all of these improvements are highly promising and consistent with experimental research concepts, real-life clinical trials are needed to investigate the patient-level effects of the treatment.

Two distinct pathophysiological stages of inflammation-induced liver dysfunction can be identified based on clinical presentation and laboratory findings. The first stage, known as primary dysfunction or "ischemic hepatitis," occurs within 24 hours after a shock event. This stage is characterized by a significant reduction in liver perfusion leading to centrilobular necrosis, marked by a sharp rise in transaminases (AST, ALT) and only a slight increase in bilirubin levels [71]. Typically, this condition resolves within a few days once tissue-level perfusion is restored. In contrast, secondary liver failure, or cholestatic liver dysfunction, emerges later and is mainly driven by inflammatory mediators. This condition is defined by impaired bile formation and excretion, not due to an obstruction of the bile ducts but rather a non-obstructive buildup of toxic metabolites such as bile acids and bilirubin in the liver. This occurs because of the down-regulation of specific transporter molecules on the biliary side of hepatocytes [72,73]. The average bilirubin levels observed in patients from our meta-analysis were 18.06 ± 13.26 mg/dL before hemoadsorption and 6.15 ± 2.32 mg/dL after hemoadsorption, indicating cholestatic liver dysfunction rather than an ischemic type.

However, this hypothesis is complicated by recent findings by Scharf et al. [64] concerning the effect of hemoadsorption in removing toxic metabolites. In fact, the basic scientific literature to distinguish between the direct removal of substances and secondary effects during hemoadsorption therapy in vivo remains unclear.

i.It is important to highlight the significant lack of robust original research evidence regarding the clinical outcomes of hemoadsorption therapy. Although the device appears to be safe in terms of device-related adverse effects or complications, it is difficult to make this claim in the absence of randomized controlled trials with sufficient sample sizes. The current data on clinical outcomes are either considered low quality according to GRADE criteria or require further validation through additional studies. For instance, the 2019 registry analysis by Ocskay et al. [18] included evaluations made by clinicians on whether hemoadsorption therapy improved, worsened, or had no impact on patients' clinical status. According to the clinicians, 68.9% (n = 75) of patients experienced improvement, 15.6% (n = 17) showed no change, and 4.8% (n = 5) actually

deteriorated. However, the lack of comparative studies prevents definitive conclusions about these outcomes.

9.2 Comparisons with Other International Publications

Study 1 was the most recent systematic review and meta-analysis on the subject of preoperative administration of a high-dose glucocorticoid in liver surgery for their hypothesized liver-protective effects. The four previous studies [74-77] all had different and sometimes conflicting findings. Nevertheless, when the ERAS protocol for liver surgeries was published, these meta-analyses were referred to as justification for the inclusion and discussion of this intervention.

None of these previous studies found significant differences between the intervention and control groups in the complications investigated by our study: bile leakage, liver failure, wound complications, infectious complications, and pleural effusion. This study, was unique among others in that we analyzed these outcomes separately from overall postoperative complication rates. However, the evidence presented in the published randomized controlled trials was often insufficient and/or confounded. One reason for the significant inconsistencies is most likely the changing definitions of postoperative complications. Especially in the postoperative liver failure outcome, there is a large degree of inconsistency due to the different grading and prognostics for what constitutes liver failure.

The most striking difference between our study and the previous studies is with our main outcome. Hao-Han et al. [77] found the intervention significantly reduced the overall postoperative complication rate. We added several recent RCTs and nearly 400 patients, almost doubling the total number of patients meta-analyzed, and could not confirm this finding. Furthermore, we identified several critical biases and uncertainties in the included studies, which might have been the reason behind the inconsistency across five meta-analyses of randomized controlled trials.

Study 2, in contrast, is the first and only systematic review and meta-analysis on the subject thus far. However, hemoadsorption therapy has also been investigated as an adjuvant therapy in critically ill patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) in a paper published by our research group [78]. This study, a systematic review and meta-analysis, also found hemoadsorption therapy to be significantly beneficial in several outcomes: PaO2/FiO2 ratio, vasopressor need, and CRP levels.

9.3 Strengths

9.3.1 Study 1

Our study included the most recent publications on the topic and analyzed a significantly larger patient population than previous meta-analyses. All the included articles were randomized controlled trials, which we rigorously evaluated using the GRADE approach to assess the certainty of evidence. This evaluation was previously missing in the literature. As a result, our study highlights the most critical areas of uncertainty in the current literature.

9.3.2 Study 2

This study is the first and only meta-analysis on the subject. Incorporating individual patient data and subsequently meta-analyzing several outcomes provided a perspective much larger than previously possible with case reports alone. Furthermore, critical appraisal of these studies and the relatively low risks of bias and methodological rigidity are encouraging for future researchers.

9.4 Limitations

9.4.1 Study 1

The main limitation of our study was the lack of data on certain outcomes and the lack of stratification of study populations. We were unable to perform subgroup analyses as planned, and we could not meta-analyze a part of our outcomes of interest. The generalizability of our findings is also limited due to the fact that we could not separately analyze different, albeit slightly, intervention regimens. There was also considerable heterogeneity between studies which limit the applicability of our findings. Finally, we could not perform an assessment of publication bias due to the low number of studies.

9.4.2 Study 2

The chief limitation of this study is the limitation imposed by the types of studies available in the literature. Randomized controlled trials in this topic were completely missing. Second, several of the included studies could be considered "gray literature", as it was not always clear whether they had been peer-reviewed, which limit our confidence in their freedom from risk of bias, and thus, limit the generalizability of the findings from the meta-analyses. Third, several included studies fail to report the sex and ethnicity of the patients, which are both important factors to consider in the clinical overview. Finally, as the hemoadsorption therapy in the context of this research question is relatively novel, expensive to administer, not widely available around the world, and is concerned with highly vulnerable patients, large cohort studies with long follow-up times were also unavailable.

10 CONCLUSIONS

10.1 Study 1

Preoperative administration of high-dose glucocorticoids do not reduce overall postoperative complication rate significantly. Although several included articles found significant improvements in laboratory outcomes, these data could not be meta-analyzed due to poor reporting.

10.2 Study 2

We found that hemoadsorption therapy for critically ill patients with acute liver dysfunction significantly improves bilirubin levels, need for vasopressors, and liver enzymes. These findings support the use of hemoadsorption as an adjuvant therapy in this patient population.

11 IMPLICATIONS FOR PRACTICE

11.1 Study 1

It is difficult to recommend preoperative administration of glucocorticoids for patients undergoing hepatic resections or liver transplantation, despite the significant reduction in wound infections and tendency to lower odds of developing overall postoperative complications. The use of this intervention should be limited to the field of clinical research, but not as part of the protocol as suggested by ERAS guidelines.

11.2 Study 2

Considering that there are still many unanswered questions, the use of hemoadsorption therapy for critically ill patients with acute liver dysfunction should be left to the discretion of the practicing physician and the team of intensivists caring for the patient. We recommend the use of hemoadsorption as an adjuvant therapy only.

12 IMPLICATIONS FOR RESEARCH

12.1 Study 1

Our findings confirm and guide the future perspectives of clinical trials in this topic. It is crucially important to standardize data collection and patient stratification in future clinical trials. Furthermore, the lack of standardized definitions for postoperative complications make it difficult to contextualize and apply results from the current body of evidence. However, considering the high-risk nature of these patients and surgeries, and the ubiquity of glucocorticoids in clinical practice, we recommend further randomized controlled trials to detect the patient strata and intervention regimes that are significantly beneficial.

12.2 Study 2

The lack of large-scale clinical trials in this field considerably limits the use of hemoadsorption; therefore, we recommend further research in this area. It should also be noted that longer followup times, more rigorous patient selection and documentation, and choosing patient-level outcomes such as organ-support free days and successful bridging-to-transplantation will serve to fill the gap in the clinical literature. We also recommend further experimental research to consider the potential biophysical and biochemical effects of hemoadsorption of variables such as levels of mercaptans, inducible degraders of low-density lipoprotein receptors (IDOLs), albumin binding capacity, and tryptophanes.

13 IMPLICATIONS FOR RESEARCH

13.1 Study 1

We recommend keeping the low levels of evidence certainty and recommendations in the ERAS protocols and urge policymakers to enable further clinical research in this area.

13.2 Study 2

Hemoadsorption therapy is currently not available in many parts of the world due to financial limitations. We urge policymakers to enable clinical researchers access to these devices in order to alleviate this critical condition and to be able to conduct large-scale clinical studies. We also recommend policymakers to consider hemoadsorption as an adjuvant therapy in intensive care units against acute liver dysfunction.

14 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Evidence-based medicine is and remains to be the cornerstone of anesthesia and intensive care medicine. Scientific decision-making in these domains affects the prognosis of our patients. Furthermore, practitioners in these fields need to be accountable for their decisions. Our main aim was to approach protocols necessary to practice evidence-based medicine: in one study, we evaluated the validity of a protocolized intervention, and in the other study, we investigated the roadmap to protocolizing an intervention by contextualizing and summarizing currently available literature. I intend to continue the work of practicing and popularizing evidence-based medicine for the entire duration of my medical career.

15 REFERENCES

- Brustia, R.; Fleres, F.; Tamby, E.; Rhaiem, R.; Piardi, T.; Kianmanesh, R.; Sommacale, D. Postoperative collections after liver surgery: Risk factors and impact on long-term outcomes. *J. Visc. Surg.* 2020, 157, 199–209.
- Virani, S.; Michaelson, J.S.; Hutter, M.M.; Lancaster, R.T.; Warshaw, A.L.; Henderson, W.G.; Khuri, S.F.; Tanabe, K.K. Morbidity and Mortality after Liver Resection: Results of the Patient Safety in Surgery Study. J. Am. Coll. Surg. 2007, 204, 1284–1292.
- Chen, L.; Wang, Y.-B.; Zhang, Y.-H.; Gong, J.-F.; Li, Y. Effective prediction of postoperative complications for patients after open hepatectomy: A simplified scoring system based on perioperative parameters. *BMC Surg.* 2019, 19, 128.
- Gorgen, A.; Goldaracena, N.; Zhang, W.; Rosales, R.; Ghanekar, A.; Lilly, L.; Cattral, M.; Greig, P.; McCluskey, S.; McGilvray, I.; et al. Surgical Complications after Right Hepatectomy for Live Liver Donation: Largest Single-Center Western World Experience. *Semin. Liver Dis.* 2018, *38*, 134–144.
- Holte, K.; Kehlet, H. Perioperative Single-Dose Glucocorticoid Administration: Pathophysiologic Effects and Clinical Implications. J. Am. Coll. Surg. 2002, 195, 694– 712.
- Delpín, E.A.S.; Figueroa, I.; López, R.; Vázquez, J. Protective effect of steroids on liver ischemia. *Am. Surg.* 1975, 41, 683–685.
- Saidi, R.F.; Chang, J.; Verb, S.; Brooks, S.; Nalbantoglu, I.; Adsay, V.; Jacobs, M.J. The effect of methylprednisolone on warm ischemia-reperfusion injury in the liver. *Am. J. Surg.* 2007, *193*, 345–348.
- Melloul, E.; Hübner, M.; Scott, M.; Snowden, C.; Prentis, J.; Dejong, C.H.C.; Garden, O.J.; Farges, O.; Kokudo, N.; Vauthey, J.; et al. Guidelines for Perioperative Care for Liver Surgery: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) Society Recommendations. *World J. Surg.* 2016, 40, 2425–2440.

- 9. Sakr, Y.; Lobo, S.M.; Moreno, R.P.; Gerlach, H.; Ranieri, V.M.; Michalopoulos, A.; Vincent, J.L.; SOAP Investigators. Patterns and early evolution of organ failure in the intensive care unit and their relation to outcome. *Crit. Care* **2012**, *16*, R222.
- Bingold, T.M.; Lefering, R.; Zacharowski, K.; Meybohm, P.; Waydhas, C.; Rosenberger, P.; Scheller, B.; Care Registry Group. Individual Organ Failure and Concomitant Risk of Mortality Differs According to the Type of Admission to ICU—A Retrospective Study of SOFA Score of 23,795 Patients. *PLoS ONE* 2015, *10*, e0134329.
- Kramer, L.; Jordan, B.; Druml, W.; Bauer, P.; Metnitz, P.; DEAA for the Austrian Epidemiologic Study on Intensive Care; ASDI Study Group. Incidence and prognosis of early hepatic dysfunction in critically ill patients—A prospective multicenter study. *Crit. Care Med* 2007, 35, 1099-e7.
- Kanjo, A.; Ocskay, K.; Gede, N.; Kiss, S.; Szakács, Z.; Párniczky, A.; Mitzner, S.; Stange, J.; Hegyi, P.; Molnár, Z. Efficacy and safety of liver support devices in acute and hyperacute liver failure: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Sci. Rep.* 2021, *11*, 4189.
- Vincent, J.L.; Moreno, R.; Takala, J.; Willatts, S.; De Mendonça, A.; Bruining, H.; Reinhart, C.K.; Suter, P.M.; Thijs, L.G. The SOFA (Sepsis-related Organ Failure Assessment) score to describe organ dysfunction/failure. On behalf of the Working Group on Sepsis-Related Problems of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. *Intensive Care Med.* **1996**, *22*, 707–710.
- 14. Pastor, C.M.; Suter, P.M. Hepatic hemodynamics and cell functions in human and experimental sepsis. *Anesth. Analg.* **1999**, *89*, 344–352.
- Rugg, C.; Klose, R.; Hornung, R.; Innerhofer, N.; Bachler, M.; Schmid, S.; Fries, D.; Ströhle, M. Hemoadsorption with CytoSorb in Septic Shock Reduces Catecholamine Requirements and In-Hospital Mortality: A Single-Center Retrospective 'Genetic' Matched Analysis. *Biomedicines* 2020, *8*, 539.
- Hawchar, F.; László, I.; Öveges, N.; Trásy, D.; Ondrik, Z.; Molnar, Z. Extracorporeal cytokine adsorption in septic shock: A proof of concept randomized, controlled pilot study. J. Crit. Care 2018, 49, 172–178.
- 17. Brouwer, W.P.; Duran, S.; Kuijper, M.; Ince, C. Hemoadsorption with CytoSorb shows a decreased observed versus expected 28-day all-cause mortality in ICU patients with septic shock: A propensity-score-weighted retrospective study. *Crit. Care* **2019**, *23*, 317.
- Ocskay, K.; Tomescu, D.; Faltlhauser, A.; Jacob, D.; Friesecke, S.; Malbrain, M.; Kogelmann, K.; Bogdanski, R.; Bach, F.; Fritz, H.; et al. Hemoadsorption in 'Liver Indication'—Analysis of 109 Patients' Data from the CytoSorb International Registry. J. Clin. Med. 2021, 10, 5182.

- Higgins, J.P.T.; Thomas, J.; Chandler, J.; Cumpston, M.; Li, T.; Page, M.; Welch, V. (Eds.) Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions; Version 6.3; Updated February 2022; Cochrane, 2022; Available online: www.training.cochrane.org/handbook (accessed on 1 October 2021).
- Higgins, J.P.T.; Thomas, J.; Chandler, J.; Cumpston, M.; Li, T.; Page, M.; Welch, V. (Eds.) Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions; Version 6.3; Updated February 2022; Cochrane, 2022; Available online: www.training.cochrane.org/handbook (accessed on 1 October 2021).
- Higgins, J.; Thomas, J. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions; Version 6.0; Cochrane, 2019; Available online: https://training.cochrane.org/handbook/current (accessed on 29 August 2020).
- 22. Schünemann, H.; Brożek, J.; Guyatt, G.; Oxman, A. (Eds.) GRADE Handbook for Grading Quality of Evidence and Strength of Recommendations. Updated October 2013The GRADE Working Group. 2013. Available online: https://gdt.gradepro.org/app/handbook/handbook.html (accessed on 24 January 2022).
- McMaster University and Evidence Prime. GRADEpro GDT: GRADEpro Guideline Development Tool. 2022. Available online: https://gradepro.org (accessed on 24 January 2022).
- 24. Sterne, J.A.; Hernán, M.A.; Reeves, B.C.; Savović, J.; Berkman, N.D.; Viswanathan, M.; Henry, D.; Altman, D.G.; Ansari, M.T.; Boutron, I.; et al. ROBINS-I: A tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. *BMJ* 2016, 355, i4919.
- 25. Moola, S.; Munn, Z.; Tufanaru, C.; Aromataris, E.; Sears, K.; Sfetcu, R.; Currie, M.; Lisy, K.; Qureshi, R.; Mattis, P.; et al. Chapter 7: Systematic reviews of etiology and risk. In JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis; Aromataris, E., Munn, Z., Eds.; JBI: Adelaide, Australia, 2020; Available online: https://synthesismanual.jbi.global (accessed on 21 February 2022).
- Aldrighetti, L.; Pulitanò, C.; Arru, M.; Finazzi, R.; Catena, M.; Soldini, L.; Comotti, L.; Ferla, G. Impact of preoperative steroids administration on ischemia-reperfusion injury and systemic responses in liver surgery: A prospective randomized study. *Liver Transplant.* 2006, 12, 941–949.
- 27. Steinthorsdottir, K.J.; Awada, H.N.; Schultz, N.A.; Larsen, P.N.; Hillingsø, J.G.; Jans, Ø.; Kehlet, H.; Aasvang, E.K. Preoperative high-dose glucocorticoids for early recovery after liver resection: Randomized double-blinded trial. *BJS Open* **2021**, *5*, zrab063.
- Bressan, A.K.; Isherwood, S.; Bathe, O.F.; Dixon, E.; Sutherland, F.R.; Ball, C.G. Preoperative Single-dose Methylprednisolone Prevents Surgical Site Infections After Major Liver Resection: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Ann Surg.* 2022, 275, 281–287.

- Hasegawa, Y.; Nitta, H.; Takahara, T.; Katagiri, H.; Kanno, S.; Umemura, A.; Akiyama, Y.; Iwaya, T.; Otsuka, K.; Sasaki, A. Glucocorticoid use and ischemia-reperfusion injury in laparoscopic liver resection: Randomized controlled trial. *Ann. Gastroenterol. Surg.* 2019, *4*, 76–83.
- Donadon, M.; Molinari, A.F.; Corazzi, F.; Rocchi, L.; Zito, P.; Cimino, M.; Costa, G.; Raimondi, F.; Torzilli, G. Pharmacological Modulation of Ischemic-Reperfusion Injury during Pringle Maneuver in Hepatic Surgery. A Prospective Randomized Pilot Study. *World J. Surg.* 2016, 40, 2202–2212.
- Hayashi, Y.; Takayama, T.; Yamazaki, S.; Moriguchi, M.; Ohkubo, T.; Nakayama, H.; Higaki, T. Validation of perioperative steroids administration in liver resection: A randomized controlled trial. *Ann. Surg.* 2011, 253, 50–55.
- 32. Yamashita, Y.I.; Shimada, M.; Hamatsu, T.; Rikimaru, T.; Tanaka, S.; Shirabe, K.; Sugimachi, K. Effects of preoperative steroid administration on surgical stress in hepatic resection: Prospective randomized trial. *Arch. Surg.* 2001, *136*, 328–333.
- Muratore, A.; Ribero, D.; Ferrero, A.; Bergero, R.; Capussotti, L. Prospective randomized study of steroids in the prevention of ischaemic injury during hepatic resection with pedicle clamping. *Br. J. Surg.* 2003, *90*, 17–22.
- 34. Onoe, S.; Yokoyama, Y.; Ebata, T.; Igami, T.; Mizuno, T.; Yamaguchi, J.; Watanabe, N.; Suzuki, S.; Nishiwaki, K.; Ando, M.; et al. Impact of Perioperative Steroid Administration in Patients Undergoing Major Hepatectomy with Extrahepatic Bile Duct Resection: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* 2021, 28, 121–130.
- 35. Schmidt, S.C.; Hamann, S.; Langrehr, J.M.; Höflich, C.; Mittler, J.; Jacob, D.; Neuhaus, P. Preoperative high-dose steroid administration attenuates the surgical stress response following liver resection: Results of a prospective randomized study. *J. Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surg.* 2007, 14, 484–492.
- 36. Turner, S.; Dhamarajah, S.; Bosomworth, M.; Bellamy, M.C.; on behalf of the Leeds Liver Transplant Group. Effect of perioperative steroids on renal function after liver transplantation*. *Anaesthesia* **2006**, *61*, 253–259.
- 37. Gunasekera, A.M.; Eranthaka, U.; Priyankara, D.; Kalupahana, R. A rare case of acute liver failure with intrahepatic cholestasis due to dengue hemorrhagic fever: CytoSorb®® and plasma exchange aided in the recovery: Case report. BMC Infect. Dis. 2022, 22, 938.
- 38. Ruiz-Rodríguez, J.C.; Chiscano-Camón, L.; Ruiz-Sanmartin, A.; Palmada, C.; Bajaña, I.; Iacoboni, G.; Bonilla, C.; García-Roche, A.; Plata-Menchaca, P.E.; Maldonado, C.; et al. Case report: Cytokine hemoadsorption in a case of hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis secondary to extranodal NK/T-cell lymphoma. Front. Med. 2022, 9, 925751.
- 39. Cazzato, M.T. CytoSorb as an Organ Support Therapy during Acute Liver Failure after Hepatic Resection: A Case Report; Poster presented at: Workshop Purification Therapies—Le Idee per la Ricerca Clinica, Italy, 2019. Available online: https://www.purificationtherapies.com/wp-content/uploads/01/16-2/P30_Poster_CYTO_Pellis_Case%20Report.pdf (accessed on 21 February 2022).

- 40. Daza, J.L.; Cruz, Y.D.L.; Gutierrez, G.; Sarzuri, H.; Guarnizo, N.; Alexander Ariza, A.; Marin, L. Combined Application of Cytosorb and Sustained Low Efficiency Dialysis (SLED) in Critical Patients. Ann. Case Rep. 2022, 7, 807.
- 41. Hinz, B.; Jauch, O.; Noky, T.; Friesecke, S.; Abel, P.; Kaiser, R. CytoSorb, a Novel Therapeutic Approach for Patients with Septic Shock: A Case Report. Int. J. Artif. Organs 2015, 38, 461–464.
- 42. Köhler, T.; Pletz, M.W.; Altmann, S.; Kirchner, C.; Schwier, E.; Henzler, D.; Winde, G.; Eickmeyer, C. Pericarditis Caused by Enterococcus faecium with Acute Liver Failure Treated by a Multifaceted Approach including Antimicrobials and Hemoadsorption. Case Rep. Crit. Care 2021, 2021, 8824050.
- 43. Lau, C.W.M.; Tam, C.W.Y.; Shum, H.P. Acute Liver Ischemia Secondary to Acute Severe Pancreatitis: A Case Report. J. GHR 2021, 10, 3599–3603.
- 44. Li, Y.; Zhou, L.; Yang, L.; Yuan, F. Septic shock after liver transplantation successfully treated with endotoxin and cytokine adsorption continuous renal replacement therapy: A case report and literature review. J. Int. Med. Res. 2020, 48, 0300060520940439.
- 45. Manohar, V.; Raj, S.; Sreekrishnan, T.P.; Gireesh Kumar, K.P. Cytokine hemoadsorption therapy—An adjuvant in the management of septic shock with multi-organ dysfunction: A case report. Natl. J. Physiol. Pharm. Pharmacol. 2018, 8, 297–299.
- 46. Markovic, M.; Knezevic, V.; Azaševac, T.; Majstorovic, S.; Veselinov, V.; Pencic, D.; Mitić, I. Continuous renal replacement therapy with Cytosorb in a polytrauma patient— When to start? A Case Report. In Proceedings of the 38th Vicenza Course on AKI & CRRT, Online, 2–6 November 2020.
- 47. Moretti, R.; Scarrone, S.; Pizzi, B.; Bonato, V.; Vivaldi, N. Coupled plasma filtrationadsorption in Weil's syndrome: Case report. Minerva Anestesiol. 2011, 77, 846–849.
- 48. Piwowarczyk, P.; Kutnik, P.; Potręć-Studzińska, B.; Sysiak-Sławecka, J.; Rypulak, E.; Borys, M.; Czczuwar, M. Hemoadsorption in isolated conjugated hyperbilirubinemia after extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. Cholestasis of sepsis: A case report and review of the literature on differential causes of jaundice in ICU patient. Int. J. Artif. Organs 2019, 42, 263–268.
- 49. Tomescu, D. First use of Cytosorb[™] during living related liver transplantation in a patient with acute liver failure due to Wilson's disease. In Proceedings of the 2018 Joint International Congress of ILTS, ELITA & LICAGE, Lisbon, Portugal, 23–26 May 2018.
- 50. Wiegele, M.; Krenn, C.G. Cytosorb[™] in a patient with Legionella pneumonia-associated rhabdomyolysis: A case report. ASAIO J. 2015, 61, e14–e16.

- 51. Lévai, T. Supportive therapy of acute pancreatitis with CytoSorb Adsorber. Case report, Abstract number: 055, 9th International Congress "Sepsis and Multiorgan Dysfunction". Infection 2019, 47 (Suppl. S1), 49.
- 52. Manini, E.; Volpi, F.; Mencarelli, F.; Bocci, F.; Sini, P.; Ciampichini, R.; Todisco, C.; Beato, V.; Capini, E. Hemoperfusion with Cytosorb for Bilirubin and Cytokine Removal in a Cardiac Surgery Patient. Poster Presented at: Workshop Purification Therapies—Le Idee per la Ricerca Clinica, 2019, Italy. Available online: https://www.purificationtherapies.com/wp-content/uploads/01/16-2/P32_Poster_CYTO_Manini_Case%20report.pdf (accessed on 21 February 2022).
- 53. Tomescu, D.; Popescu, M. The Potential Benefits of a Hemoadsorption Column in a Patient with Severe Inflammatory Syndrome due to Graft Dysfunction and Massive Transfusion after Liver Transplantation. In Proceedings of the 2017 Joint International Congress of ILTS, ELITA & LICAGE, Prague, Czech Republic, 24–27 May 2017. P-215, 187.
- 54. Kogelmann, K. Use of CytoSorb in Septic Multiple Organ Failure Following Intestinal Ischemia Due to Volvulus with Concomitant Liver Failure after COVID-19 Disease; CytoSorb Literature Database Case of the Week. 2021. Available online: https://litdbadmin.cytosorb-therapy.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/CoW_14_2021_E_web.pdf (accessed on 23 December 2023).
- 55. Breitkopf, R. Use of CytoSorb in a Patient with Sepsis and Acute Liver Failure Following C-Section in the 38th Week of Pregnancy CytoSorb Literature Database Case of the Week. 2020. Available online: https://litdb-admin.cytosorb-therapy.com/wpcontent/uploads/2020/08/CoW_35_2020_E_web.pdf (accessed on 23 December 2023).
- 56. Ullo, I.; Zappulo, F.; Bini, C.; Bruno, P.; Scrivo, A.; Donati, G.; La Manna, G. Coupled Plasma Filtration and Adsorption (CPFA) for Extracorporeal Detoxification During Acute or Acute on Chronic Liver Failure. Blood Purif. 2017, 44, 182.
- 57. Popescu, M.; Marcu, A.; Calancea, E.; Tomescu, D. The Effects of Using a Hemoadsobtion Column (CytoSorb®®) in Patients with Acute on Chronic Liver Failure. A Pilot Study. In Proceedings of the 2017 Joint International Congress of ILTS, ELITA & LICAGE, Prague, Czech Republic, 24–27 May 2017. P-28, 102.
- Popescu, M.; Tomescu, D. The potential utility of a hemoadsobtion column (CytoSorb®®) in patients with acute liver failure. In Proceedings of the 2018 Joint International Congress of ILTS, ELITA & LICAGE, Lisbon, Portugal, 23–26 May 2018.
- 59. Maggi, U.; Nita, G.; Gatti, S.; Antonelli, B.; Paolo, R.; Como, G.; Messa, P.; Rossi, G. Hyperbilirubinemia After Liver Transplantation: The Role of Coupled Plasma Filtration Adsorption. Transplant. Proc. 2013, 45, 2715–2717.

- Popescu, M.; Vasile, A.; Tanase, A.; Dinca, A.; David, C.; Tomescu, D. Potential benefits of hemoadsorption in patients with acute liver failure. Crit. Care 2020, 24 (Suppl. S1), 279.
- 61. Dhokia, V.D.; Madhavan, D.; Austin, A.; Morris, C.G. Novel use of Cytosorb[™] haemadsorption to provide biochemical control in liver impairment. J. Intensive Care Soc. 2019, 20, 174–181.
- Acar, U.; Gökkaya, Z.; Akbulut, A.; Freah, O.; Yenidünya, Ö.; Açik, M.E.; Tokat, Y.; Yentür, E. Impact of Cytokine Adsorption Treatment in Liver Failure. Transplant. Proc. 2019, 51, 2420–2424.
- 63. Niu, D.G.; Huang, Q.; Yang, F.; Tian, W.L.; Zhao, Y.Z. Efficacy of Coupled Plasma Filtration Adsorption in Treating Patients with Severe Intra-Abdominal Infection: A Retrospective Study. J. Laparoendosc. Adv. Surg. Tech. A 2019, 29, 905–908.
- 64. Scharf, C.; Liebchen, U.; Paal, M.; Becker-Pennrich, A.; Irlbeck, M.; Zoller, M.; Schroeder, I. Successful elimination of bilirubin in critically ill patients with acute liver dysfunction using a cytokine adsorber and albumin dialysis: A pilot study. Sci. Rep. 2021, 11, 10190.
- 65. Praxenthaler, J.; Schwier, E.; Altmann, S.; Kirchner, C.; Bialas, J.; Henzler, D.; Köhler, T. Immunomodulation by Hemoadsorption—Changes in Hepatic Biotransformation Capacity in Sepsis and Septic Shock: A Prospective Study. Biomedicines. 2022, 10, 2340.
- Shimada, M.; Saitoh, A.; Kano, T.; Takenaka, K.; Sugimachi, K. The effect of a perioperative steroid pulse on surgical stress in hepatic resection. *Int. Surg.* 1996, *81*, 49–51.
- Guerra Ruiz, A.R.; Crespo, J.; López Martínez, R.M.; Iruzubieta, P.; Casals Mercadal, G.; Lalana Garcés, M.; Lavin, B.; Morales Ruiz, M. Measurement and clinical usefulness of bilirubin in liver disease. *Adv. Lab. Med./Av. Med. Lab.* 2021, *2*, 352–361.
- Dufour, D.R.; A Lott, J.; Nolte, F.S.; Gretch, D.R.; Koff, R.S.; Seeff, L.B. Diagnosis and Monitoring of Hepatic Injury. I. Performance Characteristics of Laboratory Tests. *Clin. Chem.* 2000, 46, 2027–2049.
- 69. Pepys, M.B.; Hirschfield, G.M. C-reactive protein: A critical update. J. Clin. Investig. 2003, 111, 1805–1812, Correction in J. Clin. Investig. 2003, 112, 299.
- Akamatsu, N.; Sugawara, Y.; Kanako, J.; Arita, J.; Sakamoto, Y.; Hasegawa, K.; Kokudo, N. Low Platelet Counts and Prolonged Prothrombin Time Early After Operation Predict the 90 Days Morbidity and Mortality in Living-donor Liver Transplantation. *Ann. Surg.* 2017, *265*, 166–172.

- Ronco, C.; Brendolan, A.; d'Intini, V.; Ricci, Z.; Wratten, M.L.; Bellomo, R. Coupled plasma filtration adsorption: Rationale, technical development and early clinical experience. *Blood Purif.* 2003, 21, 409–416.
- 72. Kluge, M.; Tacke, F. Liver impairment in critical illness and sepsis: The dawn of new biomarkers? *Ann. Transl. Med.* **2019**, *7* (Suppl. S8), S258.
- 73. Recknagel, P.; Gonnert, F.A.; Westermann, M.; Lambeck, S.; Lupp, A.; Rudiger, A.; Dyson, A.; Carré, J.E.; Kortgen, A.; Krafft, C.; et al. Liver Dysfunction and Phosphatidylinositol-3-Kinase Signalling in Early Sepsis: Experimental Studies in Rodent Models of Peritonitis. *PLoS Med.* **2012**, *9*, e1001338.
- 74. Richardson, A.J.; Laurence, J.M.; Lam, V.W. Use of pre-operative steroids in liver resection: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *HPB* **2014**, *16*, 12–19.
- 75. Li, N.; Gu, W.; Weng, J.; Lin, F.; Zhu, G.; Lu, M.; Cao, J. Short-term administration of steroids does not affect postoperative complications following liver resection: Evidence from a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Hepatol. Res.* **2014**, *45*, 201–209.
- 76. Yang, L.; Zhang, Z.; Kong, J.; Wang, W. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Benefit and Safety of Preoperative Administration of Steroid in Patients Undergoing Liver Resection. *Front. Pharmacol.* 2019, 10, 1442.
- 77. Hai, H.-H.; Aw, P.; Teng, T.Z.J.; Shelat, V.G. Perioperative steroid administration reduces overall complications in patients undergoing liver resection: A meta-analysis. *World J. Gastrointest. Surg.* 2021, 13, 1079–1094.
- 78. Szigetváry CE, Turan C, Kovács EH, Kói T, Engh MA, Hegyi P, Csukly G, Ruszkai Z, Molnár Z. Hemoadsorption as Adjuvant Therapy in Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS): A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Biomedicines*. 2023; 11(11):3068. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines11113068</u>

16 BIBLIOGRAPHY OF THE CANDITATE'S PUBLICATIONS

Publications related to the thesis

Hemoadsorption Therapy for Critically Ill Patients with Acute Liver Dysfunction: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review

Turan, Caner ; Szigetváry, Csenge E. ; Kói, Tamás ; Engh, Marie A. ; Atakan, Işıl ; Zubek, László ; Terebessy, Tamás ; Hegyi, Péter ; Molnár, Zsolt

BIOMEDICINES 12: 1 Paper: 67, 16 p. (2024)

DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines12010067

IF: 4.7 (2022)

The Effect of Preoperative Administration of Glucocorticoids on the Postoperative Complication Rate in Liver Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials

Turan, Caner ; Kovács, Emőke Henrietta ; Szabó, László ; Atakan, Işıl ; Dembrovszky, Fanni; Ocskay, Klementina ; Váncsa, Szilárd ; Hegyi, Péter ; Zubek, László ; Molnár, Zsolt

JOURNAL OF CLINICAL MEDICINE 13: 7 Paper: 2097, 15 p. (2024)

DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm13072097

IF: 3.9 (2022)

Publications unrelated to the thesis

Higher Dose Anticoagulation Cannot Prevent Disease Progression in COVID-19 Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Kovács, Emőke Henrietta ; Tánczos, Krisztián ; Szabó, László ; Turan, Caner ;

Dembrovszky, Fanni ; Ocskay, Klementina ; Lee, Bo-Young ; Hegyi, Péter ; Molnár, Zsolt BIOMEDICINES 10: 9 Paper: 2194, 20 p. (2022) DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines10092194 IF: 4.7 (2022)

Hemoadsorption as Adjuvant Therapy in Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome (ARDS) : A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Szigetváry, Csenge Erzsébet ; Turan, Caner ; Kovács, Emőke Henrietta ; Kói, Tamás ;

Engh, Marie Anne ; Hegyi, Péter ; Csukly, Gábor ; Ruszkai, Zoltán ; Molnár, Zsolt

BIOMEDICINES 11: 11 Paper: 3068, 18 p. (2023)

DOI: https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines11113068

IF: 4.7 (2022)

Procalcitonin-guided antibiotic therapy may shorten length of treatment and may improve survival-a systematic review and meta-analysis

Papp, Márton ; Kiss, Nikolett ; Baka, Máté ; Trásy, Domonkos ; Zubek, László ; Fehérvári, Péter ; Harnos, Andrea ; **Turan, Caner** ; Hegyi, Péter ; Molnár, Zsolt

CRITICAL CARE 27 : 1 Paper: 394, 15 p. (2023)

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13054-023-04677-2

IF: 15.1 (2022)

Evaluating the predictive value of late gadolinium enhancement assessed by cardiac magnetic resonance on sudden cardiac death in patients selected for implantable cardioverter defibrillator and cardiac resynchronization therapy implantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis

Masszi, Richárd ; Zsigmond, Előd-János ; Ehrenberger, Réka ; **Turan, Caner** ; Fehérvári, Péter ; Teutsch, Brigitta ; Molnár, Zsolt ; Drobni, Zsófia ; Vágó, Hajnalka ; Hegyi, Péter ; Kosztin, Annamária ; Merkely, Béla

CLINICAL RESEARCH IN CARDIOLOGY Paper: in press (2024)

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00392-024-02441-2

IF: 5.0 (2022)

Platelet-rich plasma (PRP) treatment of the ovaries signifcantly improves fertility parameters and reproductive outcomes in diminished ovarian reserve patients: a systematic review and metaanalysis

Éliás, Máté ; Kónya, Márton ; Kekk, Zsófa ; **Turan, Caner** ; Pinto Amorim das Virgens, Isabel ; Tóth, Réka ; Keszthelyi, Márton ; Hegyi, Péter ; Várbíró, Szabolcs ; Sipos, Miklós

JOURNAL OF OVARIAN RESEARCH 17 Paper: 104, 18 p. (2024)

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13048-024-01423-2

IF: 4.7 (2022)

The effect of different optimization techniques in cardiac resynchronization therapy: a systematic review and network meta-analysis

Előd, Zsigmond ; Masszi, Richárd ; Ehrenberger, Réka ; Turan, Caner ; Gede, Noémi ;

Fehérvári, Péter ; Nagy, Rita ; Trásy, Domonkos ; Hegyi, Péter ; Molnár, Zsolt ; Duray, Gábor

ESC HEART FAILURE Published online: 05 August 2024

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/ehf2.14957

IF: 3.8 (2022)

Fluid resuscitation with balanced electrolyte solutions results in faster resolution of diabetic ketoacidosis than with 0.9% saline in adults – A systematic review and meta-analysis

Szabó, Gergő Vilmos ; Szigetváry, Csenge ; **Turan, Caner** ; Engh, Marie Anne ; Farkas, Nelli ; Fazekas, Alíz ; Terebessy, Tamás ; Hegyi, Péter ; Molnár, Zsolt

DIABETES/METABOLISM RESEARCH AND REVIEWS, 2024 Jul;40(5):e3831

DOI: https://doi.org/10.1002/dmrr.3831

IF: 8 (2022)

17 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My work as a Ph.D. student and a young researcher is dedicated, in its entirety, to the people who inspire me to wake up to a better world of tomorrow. None of the things I have achieved would have been possible without the constant love and support of my family and friends.





Systematic Review

The Effect of Preoperative Administration of Glucocorticoids on the Postoperative Complication Rate in Liver Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials

Caner Turan, Emőke Henrietta Kovács, László Szabó, Işıl Atakan, Fanni Dembrovszky, Klementina Ocskay, Szilárd Váncsa, Péter Hegyi, László Zubek and Zsolt Molnár





https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm13072097





The Effect of Preoperative Administration of Glucocorticoids on the Postoperative Complication Rate in Liver Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials

Caner Turan ^{1,2}, Emőke Henrietta Kovács ^{1,2,3}, László Szabó ^{1,4}, Işıl Atakan ¹, Fanni Dembrovszky ^{1,4}, Klementina Ocskay ^{1,4}, Szilárd Váncsa ^{1,4}, Péter Hegyi ^{1,4,5}, László Zubek ^{1,2} and Zsolt Molnár ^{1,2,6,*}

- ¹ Centre for Translational Medicine, Semmelweis University, 1085 Budapest, Hungary; c.caner.turan@gmail.com (C.T.); islatakan@gmail.com (I.A.); dembrovszky.f@gmail.com (F.D.); hegyi2009@gmail.com (P.H.)
- ² Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Therapy, Semmelweis University, 1085 Budapest, Hungary
- ³ Selye János Doctoral College for Advanced Studies, Semmelweis University, 1085 Budapest, Hungary
- ⁴ Institute for Translational Medicine, Medical School, University of Pécs, 7623 Pécs, Hungary
- ⁵ Institute of Pancreatic Diseases, Semmelweis University, 1085 Budapest, Hungary
- ⁶ Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Therapy, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, 61-701 Poznan, Poland
- Correspondence: zsoltmolna@gmail.com

Abstract: Background: Glucocorticoids may grant a protective effect against postoperative complications. The evidence on their efficacy, however, has been inconclusive thus far. We investigated the effects of preoperatively administered glucocorticoids on the overall postoperative complication rate, and on liver function recovery in patients undergoing major liver surgery. Methods: We performed a systematic literature search on PubMed, Embase, and CENTRAL in October 2021, and repeated the search in April 2023. Pre-study protocol was registered on PROSPERO (ID: CRD42021284559). Studies investigating patients undergoing liver resections or transplantation who were administered glucocorticoids preoperatively and reported postoperative complications were eligible. Meta-analyses were performed using META and DMETAR packages in R with a random effects model. Risk of bias was assessed using RoB2. Results: The selection yielded 11 eligible randomized controlled trials (RCTs) with 964 patients. Data from nine RCTs (n = 837) revealed a tendency toward a lower overall complication rate with glucocorticoid administration (odds ratio: 0.71; 95% confidence interval: 0.38–1.31, p = 0.23), but it was not statistically significant. Data pooled from seven RCTs showed a significant reduction in wound infections with glucocorticoid administration [odds ratio: 0.64; 95% confidence interval: 0.45-0.92, p = 0.02]. Due to limited data availability, meta-analysis of liver function recovery parameters was not possible. Conclusions: The preoperative administration of glucocorticoids did not significantly reduce the overall postoperative complication rate. Future clinical trials should investigate homogenous patient populations with a specific focus on postoperative liver recovery.

Keywords: glucocorticoid; liver surgery; perioperative mangement

1. Introduction

Despite advancements in surgical techniques, liver surgery remains a relatively highrisk procedure, with complication rates reaching up to 48% [1]. The most common complications of liver resections and transplantations include postoperative collections, sepsis, and wound and organ space infections. Underlying the complications are thought to be hepatocellular injury and subsequent inflammation, the accumulation of toxic metabolites due to hepatic dysfunction, and a predisposition to coagulopathy and infections [2,3].

Aside from their other effects, hydrocortisone and methylprednisolone, which are both glucocorticoids, have been investigated in the past in both human and animal models for



Citation: Turan, C.; Kovács, E.H.; Szabó, L.; Atakan, I.; Dembrovszky, F.; Ocskay, K.; Váncsa, S.; Hegyi, P.; Zubek, L.; Molnár, Z. The Effect of Preoperative Administration of Glucocorticoids on the Postoperative Complication Rate in Liver Surgery: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *J. Clin. Med.* **2024**, *13*, 2097. https:// doi.org/10.3390/jcm13072097

Academic Editors: Kassiani Theodoraki and Keira Mason

Received: 22 February 2024 Revised: 16 March 2024 Accepted: 27 March 2024 Published: 3 April 2024



Copyright: © 2024 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/).
their anti-inflammatory properties, which could be helpful in reducing the postoperative hyperinflammatory state [4–6]. Preoperative glucocorticoid administration, based on this pharmacological basis, has been investigated in multiple fields of surgery for its effect on reducing postoperative complication rates [7–10]. However, the efficacy of routine glucocorticoid administration remains controversial.

Clinical trials on preoperative glucocorticoid administration in liver surgery have been ongoing since 1996. The 2016 Enhanced Recovery After Surgery guideline on liver surgery recommends glucocorticoids, albeit with a moderate level of recommendation on a weak level of evidence [11]. This guideline references two systematic reviews by Richardson et al. [12] and Li et al. [13], which contradict each other in their results on postoperative complication rates. Since then, two additional systematic reviews have been published on the subject, in 2019 and 2021, by Yang et al. [14] and Hai et al. [15], respectively. However, these two papers also reported contradicting results.

Therefore, we decided to perform a systematic review and meta-analysis to update the current knowledge on the subject. We aimed to summarize and contextualize the existing evidence, based on two hypotheses: (1) preoperative glucocorticoid administration can reduce the complication rate following any type of liver surgery; (2) the effect of glucocorticoids on some complications will be different than on the overall complication rate. Therefore, we investigated not only the overall postoperative complication rate but also distinct complications and liver function parameters, to inform future clinical research and critically appraise the current level of evidence certainty.

2. Methods

We reported our systematic review and meta-analysis in accordance with the PRISMA 2020 Statement [16] (Table S3: PRISMA 2020 Checklist), and we undertook our research based on the recommendations of the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions [17]. The study protocol was registered on PROSPERO (registration number: CRD42021284559). However, we deviated from the registered protocol concerning reporting our primary outcome, the overall postoperative complication rate. We had initially aimed to report complications following the Clavien–Dindo Classification System [18]. However, this was not possible due to inadequate data availability.

2.1. Search Strategy

Our systematic search was conducted on 15 October 2021, on MEDLINE via PubMed, Embase, and the Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) databases, with no filters and no restrictions on date of publication, language, or article type. This systematic search was repeated on 1 April 2023 to detect any new literature eligible for inclusion. During the systematic search, the following search key was used: (((hepatic OR liver) AND (surgery OR resection OR operation OR intervention)) OR hepatectomy) AND (steroid OR corticosteroid OR glucocorticoid OR methylprednisolone OR hydrocortisone OR cortisol) AND random*. A modified search key was used for the search on Embase: ((hepatic OR 'liver'/exp OR liver) AND ('surgery'/exp OR surgery OR 'resection'/exp OR resection OR 'operation'/exp OR operation OR 'intervention'/exp OR intervention) OR 'hepatectomy'/exp OR hepatectomy) AND ('steroid'/exp OR steroid OR 'corticosteroid'/exp OR corticosteroid OR 'glucocorticoid'/exp OR glucocorticoid OR 'methylprednisolone'/exp OR methylprednisolone OR 'hydrocortisone OR 'cortisol'/exp OR cortisol) AND random*. References from the selected articles were also searched for additional studies to be included in the selection process.

2.2. Eligibility Criteria

Only randomized controlled trials (RCTs) published in peer-reviewed journals and investigating the preoperative administration of glucocorticoids (natural or synthetic) against placebo or non-administration for patients undergoing liver surgery were included in this study. We report the study framework and eligibility criteria according to the PICOS

method, where population (P): adult patients (aged 18 or older) of both sexes undergoing elective or non-elective liver surgery, including open or laparoscopic resection or liver transplantation; intervention (I): preoperatively administered high-dose glucocorticoids as a study drug, regardless of dosing strategy, as opposed to standard of care; control (C): placebo or non-administration; main outcome (O): overall postoperative complication rate (referring to the number of patients who experienced any postoperative complication related to the surgical procedure, including but not limited to infections, bile leakage, liver failure, bleeding, and pleural effusion); and setting (S): perioperative hospital care. We included studies that fit the inclusion criteria regardless of the preoperative dosage strategy. Exclusion criteria were study designs other than RCTs, animal studies, and patients who underwent surgeries that included organs other than the liver. Studies were considered eligible for synthesis if they satisfied the eligibility criteria and reported raw data for any or all outcomes under investigation as per our pre-registered study protocol. Publications in which the study population may have overlapped with an earlier publication were not eligible for inclusion.

2.3. Selection Process

The selection was performed by two teams of independent review authors (CT as review author 1, and IA and EHK as review author 2). Duplicates were detected and removed by both manual and automatic searches. The two reviewer groups then assessed the results for inclusion, first by title and abstract selection, then by full-text selection using EndNote 20 software (Clarivate Analytics, Philadelphia, PA, USA). As agreed, any conflict was resolved by a third independent investigator (FD). To evaluate inter-reviewer agreement, Cohen's Kappa was calculated once after title-and-abstract selection and once after full-text selection, with $\kappa = 0.97$ and $\kappa = 1.0$, respectively. Regarding studies with identical patient populations, the reviewers chose to include only the article with the earlier publication date.

2.4. Data Collection Process

From the eligible articles, data were collected by three authors (CT, IA, and EHK) independently. Disagreements were solved by discussion between the authors. The following data were extracted: (1) study characteristics: first author, the year of publication, study design, study population (number, age, and sex), study period, study country, and institute; (2) postoperative complications: overall postoperative complication rate, wound infection, septic/infectious complications, bile leakage, pleural effusion, gastrointestinal bleeding, intra-abdominal bleeding, high-grade liver failure, and all grades of liver failure; (3) laboratory outcomes (total bilirubin, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), aspartate aminotransferase (AST), interleukin-6 (IL-6), C-reactive protein (CRP), and prothrombin time–international normalized ratio (PTT)); (4) perioperative outcomes (length of hospital stay, total operative time, intraoperative blood loss, blood transfusions, and blood products used (FFP or RBC).

When unavailable in writing, data estimates from visual sources were collected using software GetData Graph Digitizer version number: v.2.26), although these estimates were not used in the quantitative synthesis.

2.5. Study Risk of Bias and Certainty of Evidence Assessment

Two authors (CT, IA) performed the risk of bias assessment independently, according to the recommendations of the Cochrane Handbook [17], utilizing the RoB 2 tool (ROB2 IRPG beta v6, 25 June 2019) based on the RoB 2 version dated 15 March 2019 [19]. Disagreements were solved by deliberation between the authors. The risk of bias was thus assessed on five distinct domains, including the randomization process, deviations from intended intervention, missing outcome data, the measurement of the outcome, the selection of the reported outcome, and overall bias. The level of certainty of evidence evaluation, using the GRADE assessment based on the GRADE handbook [20], was made using the online software GRADE Pro GDT version 20 [21].

2.6. Statistical Analysis

Meta-analysis was performed for outcomes for which at least 3 distinct included studies reported data. The statistical analyses were made using R (R Core Team 2021, v4.1.1) [22]. For calculations and plots, we used the META (Schwarzer 2022, v5.2.0) [23] and DMETAR (Cuijpers, Furukawa, and Ebert 2022, v0.0.9000) [24] packages.

For dichotomous outcomes, the odds ratio (OR) with a 95% confidence interval (CI) was used to measure the effect. To calculate the odds ratio, the total number of patients in each group and those with the event of interest were extracted from each study. Raw data from the selected studies were pooled using a random effects model via the Mantel-Haenszel method (Mantel and Haenszel 1959; Robins, Greenland, and Breslow 1986; Thompson, Turner, and Warn 2001) [25–27]. If the study number for the given outcome was over five, the Hartung-Knapp adjustment (Knapp and Hartung 2003; IntHout, Ioannidis, and Borm 2014) [28,29] was applied (below six studies, no adjustment was applied). For the pooled results, an exact Mantel-Haenszel method (no continuity correction) was used to handle zero-cell counts (Cooper, Hedges, and Valentine 2009; J. Sweeting, J. Sutton, and C. Lambert 2004) [30,31]. In individual studies, the zero-cell-count problem was adjusted using treatment arm continuity correction. To estimate $\tau 2$, we used the Paule– Mandel method (Paule and Mandel 1982) [32], and the Q-profile method for calculating the confidence interval of $\tau 2$ (Harrer et al., 2021) [33]. Statistical heterogeneity across trials was assessed by means of the Cochrane Q test and the I2 values (Higgins and Thompson 2002) [34]. Raw data were used in all instances; in the case of binary data, numbers of event and non-event and, in the case of continuous data, mean and standard deviation (SD) were used. If the mean and SD were not reported in the article, estimations were made using the given values of medians, quartiles, minimums, and maximums, using the Luo [35] and Shi [36] methods.

Forest plots (Rücker and Schwarzer 2021; IntHout et al., 2016) [37,38] were used to graphically summarize the results.

Outlier and influence analyses were carried out following the recommendations of Harrer et al. (2021) [33] and Viechtbauer and Cheung (2010) [39].

3. Results

3.1. Study Selection and Characteristics

The systematic search yielded 8226 records, and the selection process is detailed in the flowchart according to PRISMA as presented in Figure 1. Overall, 11 articles [40–50] were included in our study. The repeat search did not find any further studies eligible for inclusion.



Figure 1. PRISMA flowchart of selection describing the systematic search and selection process.

3.2. Main Characteristics of the Included Studies

In summary, we managed to analyze data from 964 patients, of whom 477 were in the glucocorticoid group, and 487 in the control group. Baseline characteristics, clinical data, and intervention summaries of the included articles are detailed further in Table 1.

Table 1. The summary of the studies included (author, publication date, country, patient distribution, and demographic data).

First Author and Publication Date	Intervention	Control	Surgery Type	Patient Distribution		Age,	Years	Sex, Female % of Total	
				Intervention	Control	Intervention	Control	Intervention	Control
Aldrighetti L. 2006 [40]	IV Methylpred- nisolone 500 mg	Unclear	Hepatic resection	36	37	61.8 (21–78) ^c	63 (31–85) ^c	37.83	38.88
Steinthorsdottir K. J. 2021 [41]	IV Methylpred- nisolone 10 mg/kg	Standard of care including IV Dexametha- sone 8 mg	Open liver surgery without biliary reconstruction	86	88	$65.2\pm11.2^{\text{ b}}$	$64.4\pm12.0~^{\text{b}}$	34	30.6
Bressan A. K. 2022 [42]	IV Methylpred- nisolone 500 mg	Placebo	Hepatic resection	74	77	63.9 ^a	62.4 ^a	47.2	38.9
Hasegawa Y. 2019 [43]	IV Methylpred- nisolone 500 mg	Placebo	Hepatic resection	50	50	67 (59–74) ^c	68 (62–75) ^c	38	40
Donadon M. 2016 [44]	IV Methylpred- nisolone 500 mg	Placebo	Hepatic resection	16	16	65 (27–80) ^c	63 (22–77) ^c	44	37.5
Hayashi Y. 2011 [45]	IV Hydrocortisone 500-300-100 mg consecutively	Non- administration	Hepatic resection	98	102	69 (39–81) ^c	70 (35–82) ^c	No data	No data
Yamashita Y. 2001 [46]	IV Methylpred- nisolone 500 mg	Non- administration	Hepatic resection	16	17	56.8 ^a	60.3 ^a	31.25	23.52

First Author and Publication Date	Intervention	Control	Surgery Type	Patient Distribution		Age,	Years	Sex, Female % of Total	
				Intervention	Control	Intervention	Control	Intervention	Control
Muratore A. 2002 [47]	IV Methylpred- nisolone 30 mg/kg	Non- administration	Hepatic resection	28	25	64.1 ^a	65.4 ^a	60.7	32
Onoe S. 2021 [48]	IV Hydrocortisone 500-300-200- 100 mg	Placebo	Combined liver and extrahepatic bile duct resection	46	48	70 (39–83) ^c	71 (39–84) ^c	33	40
Schmidt S. C. 2007 [49]	Methylprednisolone 30 mg/kg	Placebo	Hepatic resection	10	10	65 ^a	57 ^a	60	70
Turner S. 2006 [50]	IV Methylpred- nisolone 10 mg/kg	Placebo	Orthotopic liver transplantation	17	17	53.4 ^a	57.7 ^a	35.3	35.3

Table 1. Cont.

RCT: randomized controlled trial, ^a = mean, ^b = mean \pm standard deviation, ^c = median (range).

3.3. Postoperative Complications

Nine [43–51] (n = 836) out of the eleven eligible articles in our study reported the overall postoperative complication rate as an outcome. This outcome did not distinguish between major and minor complications or different pathomechanisms. In this analysis, 418 patients were in the intervention group and received glucocorticoids preoperatively, and 419 patients in the control group received either saline or a placebo or nothing. There was a tendency toward a lower overall postoperative complication rate in the intervention group (OR:0.71; 95% CI: 0.38–1.31, p = 0.23), but the result did not reach statistical significance (see Figure 2A). There was substantial heterogeneity as defined by the Cochrane Handbook [17] [I² = 54% (2%; 78%), p = 0.03].

Five studies [40–42,45,47] (n = 651) reported the rate of pleural effusion as an outcome. Our analysis found no statistically significant difference between the groups with a tendency toward a lower rate in the intervention group (OR: 0.81; 95% CI: 0.44–1.48, p = 0.4963) (see Figure 2B). Seven studies [40–42,45,46,48,49] (n = 745) reported the rate of wound infection as an outcome. Our analysis found that the intervention significantly reduced wound infections (OR = 0.64; 95% CI: 0.45–0.92, p = 0.0241) (see Figure 2C). Four studies [40–42,45] (n = 598) reported septic/infectious complications as an outcome. Our analysis found no statistically significant difference between the groups with a tendency toward a lower rate in the intervention group (OR: 0.73; 95% CI: 0.24–2.20, p = 0.577) (see Figure 2D). Seven studies [40–42,45,46,48,49] (n = 745) reported the rate of bile leakage as an outcome. Our analysis found no statistically significant difference between the groups (OR: 1.12; 95% CI: 0.59–2.13, p = 0.7263) with a tendency toward a higher rate in the intervention group (see Figure 2E). Five studies [40,42,45,46,48] (n = 551) reported liver failure as an outcome. Our analysis found no statistically significant difference between the groups (OR: 0.96; 95% CI = 0.49–1.88, p = 0.9034) (see Figure 2F).

3.4. Laboratory Outcomes

Due to the discrepancy in the methodology of measurements and the reporting of the laboratory outcomes between the included studies, we could not perform a meta-analysis for these parameters. Hence, we included these only in the systematic review. Nevertheless, several individual studies reported statistically significant results. A detailed summary of the measurement time points, results and, where available, *p*-values of each included study are depicted in Table S1.

3.5. Other Outcomes

Our analysis also included perioperative outcomes. There were no statistically significant differences between the glucocorticoid and control groups with respect to these outcomes. Eight studies [43,44,46-50,52] (*n* = 759) reported on the length of hospital stay

(days), (MD: -0.12; 95% CI: -0.57-0.34) (see Figure 3A). Seven studies [43,44,46–49,52] (n = 709) reported on the total operative time (minutes), (MD: -2.82; 95% CI = -19.46-13.83) (see Figure 3B). Eight studies [43–49,52] (n = 857) reported on the blood loss (milliliters), (MD = 3.41; 95% CI: -33.33-40.16) (see Figure 3C). Five studies (n = 572) reported on the number of patients who needed to be administered blood transfusion intraoperatively, (OR: 1.04; 95% CI = 0.63-1.71, p = 0.89) (see Figure 3D).



Figure 2. Forest plots of clinical outcomes. (**A**) overall postoperative complication rate; (**B**) pleural effusion; (**C**) wound infection; (**D**) septic/infectious complications; (**E**) bile leakage; (**F**) liver failure of any grade [40–49]. OR: odds ratio; CI: confidence interval.

3.6. Risk of Bias and Study Heterogeneity Assessment

The results of the risk of bias assessment for the outcomes are presented in Figure 4. All outcomes meta-analyzed in this paper received the same score; therefore, Figure 4 represents the results of the assessments of all outcomes.

Overall, most of the included studies were adequately randomized, and no studies had issues arising from missing outcomes. The main risk of bias was related to the inadequate elaboration of the study designs in some cases, which led to some concerns and, in other cases, bias arising from the reporting of the outcomes represented a critical risk.

Levels of heterogeneity are interpreted according to the Cochrane Handbook [17] using $\tau 2$, I², and Cochrane Q test statistics [32–34]. Moderate heterogeneity (I² = 54% [2%;78%], p = 0.03) was observed in the analysis of the overall postoperative complication rate. This may be due to the fact that fewer than ten studies were included in the analysis, and the fact that patients who underwent different liver surgeries were pooled together. Moderate heterogeneity was observed in the analyses of the length of hospital stay (I² = 38% [0%;73%], p = 0.12) and blood loss (I² = 40% [0%;73%], p = 0.11), possibly due to the difference in the surgical characteristics of the included patients. Severe heterogeneity (I² = 65%, [0%;88%], p = 0.03) was observed in the analysis of septic/infectious complications. This could be explained by the size of the patient pool (n = 200), given that this analysis only incorporated four studies. No severe heterogeneity has been detected in any other analyses.

	G	ucoco	rticoid		C	ontrol				
itudy	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95%-CI	Weight
Idrighetti L., 2006	36	7.60	4.01	37	10.95	7.98	-+	-3.34	[-6.28;-0.41]	2.5%
lasegawa Y., 2019	50	9.71	4.57	50	10.06	5.33	+	-0.35	[-2.32; 1.62]	5.4%
teinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	88	4.49	2.22	86	4.73	1.59		-0.24	[-0.82; 0.34]	62.5%
onadon M., 2016	16	8.83	1.42	16	8.67	1.13	D	0.17	[-0.76; 1.09]	26.1%
amashita Y., 2001	17	19.20	7.42	16	17.80	6.40	- - -	1.40	[-3.51; 6.31]	0.9%
luratore A., 2003	25	13.40	19.10	28	11.60	7.50		1.80	[-6.38; 9.98]	0.3%
layashi Y., 2011	102	17.27	14.17	98	14.19	6.62		3.07	[0.01; 6.14]	2.2%
onoe, S., 2021	48	45.85	69.41	46	34.11	37.00		- 11.74	[-10.92; 34.39]	0.0%
andom effects model	382	2		377				-0.12	[-0.81; 0.58]	100.0%
eterogeneity: /" = 38% [0%;	73%],	τ ⁻ = 0, p	= 0.12							

(B)

		Glucoc	orticoid			Control					
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Dif	ference	MD	95%-CI	Weight
Aldrighetti L., 2006	36	395.59	51.94	37	421.05	61.05			-25.46	[-51.89; 0.96]	22.4%
Once, S., 2021	48	511.15	141.74	46	534.85	136.93 -		<u> </u>	-23.70	[-80.78; 33.39]	6.4%
Yamashita Y., 2001	17	338.00	86.59	16	352.00	56.00	- -		-14.00	[-65.47; 37.47]	8.1%
Steinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	88	163.50	73.60	86	161.80	65.70	-	•	1.70	[-19.17; 22.57]	29.7%
Donadon M., 2016	16	385.83	88.05	16	378.33	117.21		*	7.50	[-67.35; 82.35]	4.1%
Hasegawa Y., 2019	50	227.03	94.44	50	216.28	86.06			10.76	[-25.10; 46.62]	14.2%
Hayashi Y., 2011	102	348.78	133.50	98	327.44	112.59	-	-	21.35	[-13.04; 55.73]	15.0%
Random effects model	357			349				>	-2.82	[-19.46; 13.83]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 6\%$ [0%; 7	73%], p	= 0.38					1 1				
							-50 0	50			
						Favours G	lucocorticoid	Favours Co	ntrol		

(C)

		Glucoc	orticoid			Control				
Study	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Mean Difference	MD	95%-CI	Weight
Onoe, S., 2021	48	1070.44	529.33	46	1211.76	1049.63		-141.31	[-484.10; 201.47]	1.1%
Bressan A. K. 2022	77	339.00	242.00	74	395.00	266.00		-56.00	[-137.87; 25.87]	13.7%
Aldrighetti L., 2006	36	602.60	87.35	37	638.42	117.40		-35.82	[-84.03; 12.38]	24.4%
Hasegawa Y., 2019	50	58.49	26.68	50	36.19	13.12	+	22.30	[13.95; 30.64]	40.2%
Hayashi Y., 2011	102	375.75	313.70	98	340.53	393.75		35.22	[-64.30; 134.74]	10.3%
Steinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	88	637.90	720.63	86	587.73	591.87		50.17	[-146.96; 247.31]	3.2%
Yamashita Y., 2001	17	892.00	437.05	16	822.00	220.00		70.00	[-173.56; 313.56]	2.3%
Donadon M., 2016	16	366.67	254.81	16	250.00	198.19		116.67	[-48.15; 281.48]	4.8%
Random effects model	434	2		423			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	3.41	[-37.84; 44.67]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: / ² = 40% [0%;	73%],	τ = 857.49	124, p = 0	.11						
							-400 -200 0 200 400			
						Favours	Glucocorticoid Favours Contro			

(D)

	Glucoco	rticoid		Control				
Study	Events	Total	Events	Total	Odds Ratio	OR	95%-CI	Weight
Bressan A.K., 2022	3	77	8	74		0.33	[0.09; 1.31]	13.6%
Once S., 2021	17	48	16	46		1.03	[0.44; 2.40]	35.4%
Steinthorsdottir K.J., 2021	13	88	10	86		1.32	[0.54; 3.19]	32.5%
Muratore A., 2003	7	25	6	28		1.43	[0.41; 5.01]	16.1%
Hasegawa Y., 2019	1	50	0	50		3.06	[0.12; 76.95]	2.4%
Overall effect	41	288	40	284		1.04	[0.63; 1.71]	100.0%
Heterogeneity: $I^{2} = 0\% [0\%; 79]$	$9\%], \tau^2 = 0, 1$	p = 0.46						
					0.1 0.51 2 10			
				Favours (Glucocorticoid Favours Contro	1		

Figure 3. Forest plots of other outcomes. (**A**) length of hospital stay; (**B**) total operative time; (**C**) blood loss (milliliters); (**D**) need for administration of blood products [40–48]. OR: odds ratio; CI: confidence interval; MD: mean difference; SD: standard deviation.



Figure 4. Results of the risk of bias assessments using RoB2 [40–50].

3.7. Certainty of Evidence Assessment

Studies were also evaluated for their level of certainty of evidence using the GRADE assessment system. Results of the GRADE assessment of meta-analyzed outcomes are presented on Table S2. Overall, the certainty of the evidence was assessed as weak to very weak.

4. Discussion

This is the largest and most comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis on the effects of preoperative glucocorticoid administration in liver surgery to date. Our results revealed that glucocorticoid prophylaxis did not reduce the overall complication rate in patients undergoing major liver surgery (OR: 0.71, p = 0.23), and hence its routine use in this patient population is not supported by sufficient evidence.

Liver surgery presents a unique challenge, being unlike most other major abdominal surgeries in the context of postoperative complications. It has been postulated in the past that underlying the relatively high risk involved in liver surgeries is the cascade of dys-functional systemic metabolic and hematological responses to injury, which is the result of and also the cause of hepatic dysfunction [51]. When the liver parenchyma is injured, the protective functions of the liver, which would have otherwise compensated for the response to insult, may become impaired or dysregulated [52]. The resulting dysfunction is associated with the typical post-hepatectomy complications such as hepatic insufficiency, bile leakage, wound infections, abdominal infections, pleural effusion, pulmonary atelectasis, and hemorrhage [53]. Liver transplantation follows a similar logic, and the complications may be even more severe [54].

Investigations into the use of glucocorticoids for their hypothesized protective effect against postoperative complications have been ongoing for decades. One of the earliest clinical trials was published in 1996 by Shimada et al. [55]. The authors investigated the effects of steroid administration on postoperative cytokine release and found that a short-term pulse of methylprednisolone might be effective in reducing surgical stress by decreasing cytokine release. Steroids were chosen by researchers for their significant anti-inflammatory effects, which have been hypothesized by trialists as being able to reduce the extent of hepatic dysregulation, allow for a more rapid liver function recovery, and reduce the risk of developing systemic dysregulation in relation to the uncontrolled immune response. However, it should be noted that steroids have long been considered a double-edged sword when it comes to use, as their potential side effects are risky and undesirable [4].

Since the two systematic reviews published in 2014, there have been contradictory results published by clinical trialists on the subject of steroids and liver surgery, which necessitated further systematic reviews. While Richardson et al. [12], Li et al. [13], and Yang et al. [14] all reported in their meta-analyses a tendency toward lower overall postoperative complication rates (*p*-values of 0.09, 0.09, and 0.13, respectively), the recent meta-analysis by Hao-Han et al. [15] found a statistically significant decrease in overall complications

(p = 0.04). However, we cannot validate these results with our updated study. None of the previous meta-analyses were able to detect a statistically significant difference between the intervention and control groups in terms of specific complications, namely, bile leakage, liver failure, wound complications, infectious complications, and pleural effusion. Our analysis of particular complications did not provide a sufficiently high level of evidence, due to the unavailability and/or the improper reporting of these complications. Especially for liver failure, there was an observable difference between the reporting of Onoe et al. [48] and that of other studies. This is possibly due to the different assessments made on what constitutes liver failure. In our meta-analysis, we detected a statistically significant reduction in wound infections, but we have reservations about the quality of the evidence. Firstly, both the sample size and the number of studies are limited, and the intervention groups with zero complications may have introduced a bias toward a reduced odds ratio in the analysis.

Increased total bilirubin is an indicator of an imbalance between production and excretion and, ultimately, is considered a reflection of liver function [56]. Most of the included studies investigated this outcome as a measure of liver health and, except for Muratore et al. [47], found that steroid administration significantly reduced levels of total bilirubin. Combined with aminotransferases ALT and AST, these are indicators of liver health commonly used in clinical practice. Although the investigation was not as thorough, and the findings were not as consistent as with total bilirubin, there were many significant findings of reduced levels of ALT in the intervention groups. This could signal a liverprotective effect that was bestowed by the intervention, since an increase in ALT is found primarily in the liver and is considered a marker of liver disease [57]. C-reactive protein is an acute-phase protein synthesized by the liver and, along with interleukin 6, is a marker of inflammation. Increases in CRP levels have been associated with liver failure [58]. The studies we reviewed consistently reported significantly reduced levels, signaling a protective effect on the liver. Lastly, prolonged prothrombin time is associated with liver failure [59], as the liver produces many of the factors and components of the coagulation system. Hayashi et al.'s finding [45] on the PTT-INR contradicts other articles included in this review. Coagulation parameters should be considered a critical component of the assessment of liver function; thus, future clinical trials should be designed to generate further high-quality evidence on the effects of the intervention on coagulation.

All previous meta-analyses found significantly reduced levels of total bilirubin in the intervention groups. Although we could not perform a meta-analysis on this outcome, available evidence suggests future clinical trials could validate these findings. All meta-analyses, except for that of Hao-Han et al. [15], have also found significantly reduced levels of IL-6 in the intervention groups. However, IL-6 has not been measured in recent clinical trials. We recommend that IL-6 be included in future clinical trial designs as an outcome measure.

The reporting of laboratory measurements as outcomes was not always consistent across the included studies. Although we did not detect a considerable risk of bias using Cochrane's tools, in the clinical context, it might have been more useful to have explicitly detailed and consistent measurements taken throughout the follow-up period. Furthermore, the mathematical analysis of the aggregated data should always be presented in the publication along with distribution, in order to enable reliable meta-analyses. Laboratory outcomes should be examined and reported in a way that is consistent with complications and patient subgroups. Peak values should also be examined alongside means, and the measurements should be documented clearly with their time points to reduce the risk of bias. Measurement results and time points left out of the reports without a clear explanation presented a challenge in conducting our meta-analysis. Another challenge was results reported without reliable distribution figures, which made meta-analyzing these outcomes by pooling medians and means unreliable.

We recommend that trialists design future randomized clinical trials around an internationally acknowledged postoperative complication classification system such as the Clavien– Dindo Classification System [60] or the Comprehensive Complication Index (CCI) [18], which is an integrated complication-reporting algorithm.

On the other hand, we recommend that future clinical trials put emphasis on differentiating the benefits for patient subgroups, categorized according to the indication for liver surgery, as well as patient severity scoring systems. We recommend utilizing the APACHE IV scoring system [61] for assessing critically ill patients, and the American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) physical status classification system [62] to group patients according to the assessed surgical risk. Furthermore, trialists ought to consider the potential difference in benefits derived for patients undergoing liver transplantation versus open or laparoscopic hepatic resections. Researchers may be able to detect differences in benefits derived between different regimes of preoperative steroid administration. Therefore, designing future clinical trials around contrasting single high-dose preoperative administration versus progressively decreasing doses of perioperative administration on subsequent days, as designed by Onoe S. et al. [48], might yield a higher level of evidence.

The ERAS Society's recommendation on perioperative steroid administration in their 2016 guideline [11] is currently stated as a weak recommendation based on a moderate level of evidence. In light of our systematic review and other studies that have been published since 2016, we recommend that the guidelines on this intervention be updated with new levels of evidence and a new grade of recommendation.

4.1. Strengths and Limitations

Our study had certain strengths and limitations that should illuminate clinical decision making and future clinical trial designs. Our study included the most recent publications on the topic and had considerably more patients in the analysis compared to the previous meta-analyses. All included articles were randomized controlled trials which were critically appraised using the GRADE approach to the level of evidence certainty, which was missing from the literature. As such, the qualitative assessment within this manuscript describes where there is uncertainty in the currently available literature.

Our study was limited by data availability, which prevented us from performing subgroup analyses, and meta-analyses on postoperative laboratory outcomes. Differences in intervention regimes may limit the generalizability of our findings. Furthermore, the analyses were limited by the considerable heterogeneity between studies, which limited the applicability of our findings. Finally, we could not perform an assessment of publication bias due to the low number of studies.

4.2. Implications for Practice and Research

We were unable to show any convincing benefits to using glucocorticoids preoperatively in liver surgery, and hence the routine use of preoperative glucocorticoids in major liver surgery cannot be supported by evidence. However, it should be noted that there were no reported cases of adverse events associated with its use either. Therefore, its use should only be warranted within the domain of clinical research.

Further prospective data collection is needed to assess the benefits of perioperative steroid administration on particular postoperative complications. Mainly, the effects on liver dysfunction or failure, shock, septic complications, and coagulation-related complications should be investigated.

It is crucially important to bring scientific results to the bedside [63,64]. As such, research on this particular topic should focus on outcomes that are specific to patient populations and direct clinical outcomes with rigorous postoperative follow-ups.

5. Conclusions

In conclusion, our meta-analysis did not show any statistically significant reduction in postoperative complications for patients undergoing liver surgery, except for in the rate of developing wound infections. However, further investigation is needed to clarify this finding. Most clinical trials reported significant improvements in postoperative laboratory

values at different time points, which signifies a protective effect against liver injury and dysfunction, but further research is needed for a higher grade of evidence.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/jcm13072097/s1, Table S1: Summary table of the laboratory outcomes reported by the included studies, Table S2: Results of the GRADE assessments carried out using GRADEPro GDT software, Table S3: PRISMA 2020 Checklist.

Author Contributions: C.T.: conceptualization, investigation, writing—original draft; E.H.K.: conceptualization, investigation, writing—review and editing; F.D.: methodology, supervision, writing review and editing; K.O.: methodology, supervision, writing—review and editing; I.A.: investigation, writing—review and editing; L.S.: software, formal analysis, writing—review and editing; L.Z.: review and editing; S.V.: project administration, writing—review and editing; P.H.: project administration, supervision, writing—review and editing; Z.M.: conceptualization, project administration, supervision, writing—original draft. All authors certify that they have participated sufficiently in the work to take public responsibility for the content, including participation in the concept, design, analysis, writing, or revision of the manuscript. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This work was supported by the Economic Development and Innovation Operational Programme Grant (GINOP-2.3.2-15-2016-00048—STAY ALIVE, GINOP-2.3.4-15-2020-00010 Competence Centre for Health Data Analysis, Data Utilisation and Smart Device and Technology Development at the University of Pécs) and the Hungarian National Research, Development and Innovation Office (Grant No: K 138816).

Institutional Review Board Statement: Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement: Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement: The datasets used in this study can be found in the full-text articles included in the systematic review and meta-analysis.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References

- 1. Chen, L.; Wang, Y.-B.; Zhang, Y.-H.; Gong, J.-F.; Li, Y. Effective prediction of postoperative complications for patients after open hepatectomy: A simplified scoring system based on perioperative parameters. *BMC Surg.* **2019**, *19*, 128. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 2. Brustia, R.; Fleres, F.; Tamby, E.; Rhaiem, R.; Piardi, T.; Kianmanesh, R.; Sommacale, D. Postoperative collections after liver surgery: Risk factors and impact on long-term outcomes. *J. Visc. Surg.* **2020**, *157*, 199–209. [CrossRef]
- Virani, S.; Michaelson, J.S.; Hutter, M.M.; Lancaster, R.T.; Warshaw, A.L.; Henderson, W.G.; Khuri, S.F.; Tanabe, K.K. Morbidity and Mortality after Liver Resection: Results of the Patient Safety in Surgery Study. J. Am. Coll. Surg. 2007, 204, 1284–1292. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Holte, K.; Kehlet, H. Perioperative Single-Dose Glucocorticoid Administration: Pathophysiologic Effects and Clinical Implications. J. Am. Coll. Surg. 2002, 195, 694–712. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. Delpín, E.A.S.; Figueroa, I.; López, R.; Vázquez, J. Protective effect of steroids on liver ischemia. Am. Surg. 1975, 41, 683-685.
- 6. Saidi, R.F.; Chang, J.; Verb, S.; Brooks, S.; Nalbantoglu, I.; Adsay, V.; Jacobs, M.J. The effect of methylprednisolone on warm ischemia-reperfusion injury in the liver. *Am. J. Surg.* **2007**, *193*, 345–348. [CrossRef]
- Chan, V.W.K.; Chan, P.K.; Fu, H.; Chan, C.W.; Yan, C.H.; Chiu, K.Y. Combination Effect of High-Dose Preoperative and Periarticular Steroid Injection in Total Knee Arthroplasty. A Randomized Controlled Study. J. Arthroplast. 2021, 36, 130–134.e2. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 8. Engelman, E.; Maeyens, C. Effect of Preoperative Single-Dose Corticosteroid Administration on Postoperative Morbidity Following Esophagectomy. J. Gastrointest. Surg. 2010, 14, 788–804. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Hwang, S.H.; Seo, J.H.; Joo, Y.H.; Kang, J.M. Does the Preoperative Administration of Steroids Reduce Intraoperative Bleeding during Endoscopic Surgery of Nasal Polyps? *Otolaryngol.–Head Neck Surg.* 2016, 155, 949–955. [CrossRef]
- Subramanian, V.; Saxena, S.; Kang, J.-Y.; Pollok, R.C.G. Preoperative Steroid Use and Risk of Postoperative Complications in Patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease Undergoing Abdominal Surgery. Am. J. Gastroenterol. 2008, 103, 2373–2381. [CrossRef]
- Melloul, E.; Hübner, M.; Scott, M.; Snowden, C.; Prentis, J.; Dejong, C.H.C.; Garden, O.J.; Farges, O.; Kokudo, N.; Vauthey, J.; et al. Guidelines for Perioperative Care for Liver Surgery: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery (ERAS) Society Recommendations. *World J. Surg.* 2016, 40, 2425–2440. [CrossRef]
- 12. Richardson, A.J.; Laurence, J.M.; Lam, V.W. Use of pre-operative steroids in liver resection: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *HPB* **2014**, *16*, 12–19. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Li, N.; Gu, W.; Weng, J.; Lin, F.; Zhu, G.; Lu, M.; Cao, J. Short-term administration of steroids does not affect postoperative complications following liver resection: Evidence from a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Hepatol. Res.* 2014, 45, 201–209. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 14. Yang, L.; Zhang, Z.; Kong, J.; Wang, W. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of the Benefit and Safety of Preoperative Administration of Steroid in Patients Undergoing Liver Resection. *Front. Pharmacol.* **2019**, *10*, 1442. [CrossRef]
- 15. Hai, H.-H.; Aw, P.; Teng, T.Z.J.; Shelat, V.G. Perioperative steroid administration reduces overall complications in patients undergoing liver resection: A meta-analysis. *World J. Gastrointest. Surg.* **2021**, *13*, 1079–1094. [CrossRef]
- Page, M.J.; McKenzie, J.E.; Bossuyt, P.M.; Boutron, I.; Hoffmann, T.C.; Mulrow, C.D.; Shamseer, L.; Tetzlaff, J.M.; Akl, E.A.; Brennan, S.E.; et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* 2021, 372, n71. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 17. Higgins, J.P.T.; Thomas, J.; Chandler, J.; Cumpston, M.; Li, T.; Page, M.; Welch, V. (Eds.) *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions*; Version 6.3; Updated February 2022; Cochrane, 2022; Available online: www.training.cochrane.org/handbook (accessed on 1 October 2021).
- 18. Slankamenac, K.; Graf, R.; Barkun, J.; Puhan, M.A.; Clavien, P.A. The comprehensive complication index: A novel continuous scale to measure surgical morbidity. *Ann. Surg.* **2013**, *258*, 1–7. [CrossRef]
- 19. Higgins, J.; Thomas, J. *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions*; Version 6.0; Cochrane, 2019; Available online: https://training.cochrane.org/handbook/current (accessed on 29 August 2020).
- Schünemann, H.; Brożek, J.; Guyatt, G.; Oxman, A. (Eds.) GRADE Handbook for Grading Quality of Evidence and Strength of Recommendations. Updated October 2013The GRADE Working Group. 2013. Available online: https://gdt.gradepro.org/app/ handbook/handbook.html (accessed on 24 January 2022).
- 21. McMaster University and Evidence Prime. GRADEpro GDT: GRADEpro Guideline Development Tool. 2022. Available online: https://gradepro.org (accessed on 24 January 2022).
- 22. R Core Team. *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing;* R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2021; Available online: https://www.R-project.org/ (accessed on 29 August 2022).
- Schwarzer, G. Meta: General Package for Meta-Analysis. 2022. Available online: https://github.com/guido-s/meta/ (accessed on 29 August 2022).
- Cuijpers, P.; Furukawa, T.; Ebert, D.D.; Harrer, M. Dmetar: Companion R Package for the Guide Doing Meta-Analysis in R. 2022. Available online: https://dmetar.protectlab.org (accessed on 29 August 2022).
- Mantel, N.; Haenszel, W. Statistical Aspects of the Analysis of Data from Retrospective Studies of Disease. JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 1959, 22, 719–748. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Robins, J.; Greenland, S.; Breslow, N.E. A General Estimator for the Variance of the Mantel-Haenszel Odds Ratio. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 1986, 124, 719–723. [CrossRef]
- 27. Thompson, S.G.; Turner, R.M.; Warn, D.E. Multilevel Models for Meta-Analysis, and Their Application to Absolute Risk Differences. *Stat. Methods Med. Res.* 2001, 10, 375–392. [CrossRef]
- Knapp, G.; Hartung, J. Improved tests for a random effects meta-regression with a single covariate. *Stat. Med.* 2003, 22, 2693–2710. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- IntHout, J.; Ioannidis, J.P.; Borm, G.F. The Hartung-Knapp-Sidik-Jonkman Method for Random Effects Meta-Analysis Is Straightforward and Considerably Outperforms the Standard DerSimonian-Laird Method. BMC Med. Res. Methodol. 2014, 14, 25. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 30. Cooper, H.; Hedges, L.V.; Valentine, J.C. (Eds.) *The Handbook of Research Synthesis and Meta-Analysis*, 2nd ed.; Russell Sage Foundation: New York, NY, USA, 2009.
- Sweeting, J.M.; Sutton, J.A.; Lambert, C.P. What to Add to Nothing? Use and Avoidance of Continuity Corrections in Meta-Analysis of Sparse Data. *Stat. Med.* 2004, 23, 1351–1375. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 32. Paule, R.C.; Mandel, J. Consensus Values and Weighting Factors. J. Res. Natl. Bur. Stand. 1982, 87, 377–387. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 33. Harrer, M.; Cuijpers, P.; Furukawa, T.; Ebert, D. *Doing Meta-Analysis With R: A Hands-on Guide*, 1st ed.; Chapman & Hall/CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA; London, UK, 2021.
- 34. Higgins, J.P.T.; Thompson, S.G. Quantifying heterogeneity in a meta-analysis. Stat. Med. 2002, 21, 1539–1558. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Luo, D.; Wan, X.; Liu, J.; Tong, T. Optimally estimating the sample mean from the sample size, median, mid-range, and/or mid-quartile range. *Stat. Methods Med. Res.* 2018, 27, 1785–1805. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 36. Shi, J.; Luo, D.; Weng, H.; Zeng, X.; Lin, L.; Chu, H.; Tong, T. Optimally estimating the sample standard deviation from the five-number summary. *Res. Synth. Methods* **2020**, *11*, 641–654. [CrossRef]
- 37. Rücker, G.; Schwarzer, G. Beyond the Forest Plot: The Drapery Plot. Res. Synth. Methods 2021, 12, 13–19. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- IntHout, J.; Ioannidis, A.J.P.; Rovers, M.M.; Goeman, J.J. Plea for routinely presenting prediction intervals in meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* 2016, 6, e010247. [CrossRef]
- Viechtbauer, W.; Cheung, M.W.-L. Outlier and influence diagnostics for meta-analysis. *Res. Synth. Methods* 2010, 1, 112–125. [CrossRef]
- Aldrighetti, L.; Pulitanò, C.; Arru, M.; Finazzi, R.; Catena, M.; Soldini, L.; Comotti, L.; Ferla, G. Impact of preoperative steroids administration on ischemia-reperfusion injury and systemic responses in liver surgery: A prospective randomized study. *Liver Transplant.* 2006, 12, 941–949. [CrossRef]

- Steinthorsdottir, K.J.; Awada, H.N.; Schultz, N.A.; Larsen, P.N.; Hillingsø, J.G.; Jans, Ø.; Kehlet, H.; Aasvang, E.K. Preoperative high-dose glucocorticoids for early recovery after liver resection: Randomized double-blinded trial. *BJS Open* 2021, *5*, zrab063. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bressan, A.K.; Isherwood, S.; Bathe, O.F.; Dixon, E.; Sutherland, F.R.; Ball, C.G. Preoperative Single-dose Methylprednisolone Prevents Surgical Site Infections After Major Liver Resection: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Ann Surg.* 2022, 275, 281–287. [CrossRef]
- Hasegawa, Y.; Nitta, H.; Takahara, T.; Katagiri, H.; Kanno, S.; Umemura, A.; Akiyama, Y.; Iwaya, T.; Otsuka, K.; Sasaki, A. Glucocorticoid use and ischemia-reperfusion injury in laparoscopic liver resection: Randomized controlled trial. *Ann. Gastroenterol. Surg.* 2019, *4*, 76–83. [CrossRef]
- 44. Donadon, M.; Molinari, A.F.; Corazzi, F.; Rocchi, L.; Zito, P.; Cimino, M.; Costa, G.; Raimondi, F.; Torzilli, G. Pharmacological Modulation of Ischemic-Reperfusion Injury during Pringle Maneuver in Hepatic Surgery. A Prospective Randomized Pilot Study. *World J. Surg.* **2016**, *40*, 2202–2212. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Hayashi, Y.; Takayama, T.; Yamazaki, S.; Moriguchi, M.; Ohkubo, T.; Nakayama, H.; Higaki, T. Validation of perioperative steroids administration in liver resection: A randomized controlled trial. *Ann. Surg.* **2011**, *253*, 50–55. [CrossRef]
- 46. Yamashita, Y.I.; Shimada, M.; Hamatsu, T.; Rikimaru, T.; Tanaka, S.; Shirabe, K.; Sugimachi, K. Effects of preoperative steroid administration on surgical stress in hepatic resection: Prospective randomized trial. *Arch. Surg.* 2001, *136*, 328–333. [CrossRef]
- 47. Muratore, A.; Ribero, D.; Ferrero, A.; Bergero, R.; Capussotti, L. Prospective randomized study of steroids in the prevention of ischaemic injury during hepatic resection with pedicle clamping. *Br. J. Surg.* **2003**, *90*, 17–22. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Onoe, S.; Yokoyama, Y.; Ebata, T.; Igami, T.; Mizuno, T.; Yamaguchi, J.; Watanabe, N.; Suzuki, S.; Nishiwaki, K.; Ando, M.; et al. Impact of Perioperative Steroid Administration in Patients Undergoing Major Hepatectomy with Extrahepatic Bile Duct Resection: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Ann. Surg. Oncol.* 2021, *28*, 121–130. [CrossRef]
- Schmidt, S.C.; Hamann, S.; Langrehr, J.M.; Höflich, C.; Mittler, J.; Jacob, D.; Neuhaus, P. Preoperative high-dose steroid administration attenuates the surgical stress response following liver resection: Results of a prospective randomized study. *J. Hepato-Biliary-Pancreatic Surg.* 2007, 14, 484–492. [CrossRef]
- 50. Turner, S.; Dhamarajah, S.; Bosomworth, M.; Bellamy, M.C.; on behalf of the Leeds Liver Transplant Group. Effect of perioperative steroids on renal function after liver transplantation*. *Anaesthesia* 2006, *61*, 253–259. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gorgen, A.; Goldaracena, N.; Zhang, W.; Rosales, R.; Ghanekar, A.; Lilly, L.; Cattral, M.; Greig, P.; McCluskey, S.; McGilvray, I.; et al. Surgical Complications after Right Hepatectomy for Live Liver Donation: Largest Single-Center Western World Experience. *Semin. Liver Dis.* 2018, *38*, 134–144. [CrossRef]
- 52. Kauffmann, R.; Fong, Y. Post-hepatectomy liver failure. Hepatobiliary Surg. Nutr. 2014, 3, 238–246. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Midorikawa, Y.; Kubota, K.; Takayama, T.; Toyoda, H.; Ijichi, M.; Torzilli, G.; Mori, M.; Makuuchi, M. A comparative study of postoperative complications after hepatectomy in patients with and without chronic liver disease. *Surgery* 1999, 126, 484–491. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 54. Hall, E.C.; Boyarsky, B.J.; Deshpande, N.A.; Garonzik-Wang, J.M.; Berger, J.C.; Dagher, N.N.; Segev, D.L. Perioperative Complications After Live-Donor Hepatectomy. *JAMA Surg.* 2014, 149, 288–291. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 55. Shimada, M.; Saitoh, A.; Kano, T.; Takenaka, K.; Sugimachi, K. The effect of a perioperative steroid pulse on surgical stress in hepatic resection. *Int. Surg.* **1996**, *81*, 49–51. [PubMed]
- Guerra Ruiz, A.R.; Crespo, J.; López Martínez, R.M.; Iruzubieta, P.; Casals Mercadal, G.; Lalana Garcés, M.; Lavin, B.; Morales Ruiz, M. Measurement and clinical usefulness of bilirubin in liver disease. *Adv. Lab. Med./Av. Med. Lab.* 2021, 2, 352–361. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 57. Dufour, D.R.; A Lott, J.; Nolte, F.S.; Gretch, D.R.; Koff, R.S.; Seeff, L.B. Diagnosis and Monitoring of Hepatic Injury. I. Performance Characteristics of Laboratory Tests. *Clin. Chem.* **2000**, *46*, 2027–2049. [CrossRef]
- 58. Pepys, M.B.; Hirschfield, G.M. C-reactive protein: A critical update. J. Clin. Investig. 2003, 111, 1805–1812, Correction in J. Clin. Investig. 2003, 112, 299. [CrossRef]
- Akamatsu, N.; Sugawara, Y.; Kanako, J.; Arita, J.; Sakamoto, Y.; Hasegawa, K.; Kokudo, N. Low Platelet Counts and Prolonged Prothrombin Time Early After Operation Predict the 90 Days Morbidity and Mortality in Living-donor Liver Transplantation. *Ann. Surg.* 2017, 265, 166–172. [CrossRef]
- 60. Dindo, D. The Clavien–Dindo Classification of Surgical Complications. In *Treatment of Postoperative Complications after Digestive Surgery*; Cuesta, M., Bonjer, H., Eds.; Springer: London, UK, 2014.
- 61. Zimmerman, J.E.; Kramer, A.A.; McNair, D.S.; Malila, F.M. Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation (APACHE) IV: Hospital mortality assessment for today's critically ill patients*. *Crit. Care Med.* **2006**, *34*, 1297–1310. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Doyle, D.J.; Goyal, A.; Garmon, E.H. American Society of Anesthesiologists Classification. In *StatPearls [Internet]*; StatPearls Publishing: Treasure Island, FL, USA, 2022. Available online: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK441940/ (accessed on 3 May 2022).

15 of 15

- 63. Hegyi, P.; Petersen, O.H.; Holgate, S.; Erőss, B.; Garami, A.; Szakács, Z.; Dobszai, D.; Balaskó, M.; Kemény, L.; Peng, S.; et al. Academia Europaea Position Paper on Translational Medicine: The Cycle Model for Translating Scientific Results into Community Benefits. J. Clin. Med. 2020, 9, 1532. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 64. Hegyi, P.; Erőss, B.; Izbéki, F.; Párniczky, A.; Szentesi, A. Accelerating the translational medicine cycle: The Academia Europaea pilot. *Nat. Med.* **2021**, *27*, 1317–1319. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.





Systematic Review

Hemoadsorption Therapy for Critically III Patients with Acute Liver Dysfunction: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review

Caner Turan, Csenge Erzsébet Szigetváry, Tamás Kói, Marie Anne Engh, Işıl Atakan, László Zubek, Tamás Terebessy, Péter Hegyi and Zsolt Molnár









Systematic Review Hemoadsorption Therapy for Critically Ill Patients with Acute Liver Dysfunction: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review

Caner Turan ^{1,2}, Csenge Erzsébet Szigetváry ^{1,2}, Tamás Kói ^{2,3}, Marie Anne Engh ², Işıl Atakan ², László Zubek ², Tamás Terebessy ^{2,4}, Péter Hegyi ^{2,5,6} and Zsolt Molnár ^{1,2,7,*}

- ¹ Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Therapy, Semmelweis University, 1085 Budapest, Hungary; c.caner.turan@gmail.com (C.T.); szigetvary.csenge@gmail.com (C.E.S.)
- ² Centre for Translational Medicine, Semmelweis University, 1085 Budapest, Hungary; samatiok@gmail.com (T.K.); islatakan@gmail.com (I.A.); laszlo.zubek@gmail.com (L.Z.); drterebessytamas@yahoo.com (T.T.); hegyi2009@gmail.com (P.H.)
- ³ Department of Stochastics, Institute of Mathematics, Budapest University of Technology and Economics, 1111 Budapest, Hungary
- ⁴ Department of Orthopaedics, Semmelweis University, 1085 Budapest, Hungary
- ⁵ Institute of Pancreatic Diseases, Semmelweis University, 1085 Budapest, Hungary
- ⁶ Institute for Translational Medicine, Medical School, University of Pécs, 7623 Pécs, Hungary
- ⁷ Department of Anesthesiology and Intensive Therapy, Poznan University of Medical Sciences, 60-806 Poznan, Poland
- Correspondence: zsoltmolna@gmail.com; Tel./Fax: +36-1-355-6565

Abstract: Critically ill patients are at risk of developing acute liver dysfunction as part of multiorgan failure sequelae. Clearing the blood from toxic liver-related metabolites and cytokines could prevent further organ damage. Despite the increasing use of hemoadsorption for this purpose, evidence of its efficacy is lacking. Therefore, we conducted this systematic review and meta-analysis to assess the evidence on clinical outcomes following hemoadsorption therapy. A systematic search conducted in six electronic databases (PROSPERO registration: CRD42022286213) yielded 30 eligible publications between 2011 and 2023, reporting the use of hemoadsorption for a total of 335 patients presenting with liver dysfunction related to acute critical illness. Of those, 26 are case presentations (n = 84), 3 are observational studies (n = 142), and 1 is a registry analysis (n = 109). Analysis of data from individual cases showed a significant reduction in levels of aspartate transaminase (p = 0.03) and vasopressor need (p = 0.03) and a tendency to lower levels of total bilirubin, alanine transaminase, C-reactive protein, and creatinine. Pooled data showed a significant reduction in total bilirubin (mean difference of -4.79 mg/dL (95% CI: -6.25; -3.33), p = 0.002). The use of hemoadsorption for critically ill patients with acute liver dysfunction or failure seems to be safe and yields a trend towards improved liver function after therapy, but more high-quality evidence is crucially needed.

Keywords: hemoadsorption; liver dysfunction; critical care; database meta-analysis

1. Introduction

Critically ill patients admitted to the intensive care unit (ICU) have been shown to be at risk of developing acute liver dysfunction usually as part of multiorgan failure sequelae [1]. Affecting at least 20% of patients, ICU-acquired liver dysfunction therefore has a frequent occurrence in the critically ill population and represents a life-threatening condition associated with a significantly increased risk of death [2,3]. In fact, early liver dysfunction, even after correction for other organ failures, is responsible for a mortality of 11% [4].

During such hyperinflammatory conditions, the liver is both a site of production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6) and a target organ for the effects of inflammatory mediators derived from extrahepatic sources of infection [5]. When advancing into more severe states, liver dysfunction can lead to hepatic encephalopathy or brain



Citation: Turan, C.; Szigetváry, C.E.; Kói, T.; Engh, M.A.; Atakan, I.; Zubek, L.; Terebessy, T.; Hegyi, P.; Molnár, Z. Hemoadsorption Therapy for Critically Ill Patients with Acute Liver Dysfunction: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. *Biomedicines* 2024, 12, 67. https://doi.org/10.3390/ biomedicines12010067

Academic Editor: Aleksander F. Sikorski

Received: 16 November 2023 Revised: 15 December 2023 Accepted: 24 December 2023 Published: 27 December 2023



Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). dysfunction as an expression of acute liver failure [6]. Furthermore, the disruption of the balance of reductive oxygen species is found to be implicated in biochemical and biophysical changes that might play a role in the progression of liver dysfunction into such severe disease states [7,8].

Bedside monitoring of the liver function of critically ill patients is not easy. Bilirubin represents the standard measure for the assessment of liver dysfunction in the ICU and is routinely assessed as part of the sequential organ failure assessment (SOFA) score since increased bilirubin plasma levels reflect a derangement in metabolic processes such as bile formation, bile secretion, and reduced bile flow into the biliary tract, the latter being considered the main component of early hepatic dysfunction under hyperinflammatory conditions [9,10]. However, despite good correlations between bilirubin plasma concentrations and mortality in several critically ill conditions (0.1–0.4 mg/dL total bilirubin was associated with higher cancer mortality (HR, 1.94; p = 0.016), whereas ≥ 0.8 mg/dL was associated with non-cancer, non-cardiovascular mortality (HR, 1.88; p = 0.002)) [11], bilirubin is a lagging parameter as there is a significant time lag between imminent or even established liver dysfunction and development of hyperbilirubinemia [12]. Thus, given the lack of diagnostic accuracy of standard laboratory parameters, diagnosis and monitoring of liver dysfunction in critically ill patients remains a major challenge with a very inconsistent definition and lack of clear diagnostic criteria [13].

Up to now, there is no specific therapy for acute liver dysfunction in critically ill patients, integrated management strategies and therapeutic interventions are hardly supported by randomized studies, and treatment is often center-specific [14]. Current clinical practice therefore focuses on timely decisions around transplant in conjunction with optimal multiple organ supportive care and effective therapeutic interventions.

Hemoadsorption is a new extracorporeal blood purification modality. It has been primarily used for cytokine adsorption to control hyperinflammation [15–17]. Acquired acute liver dysfunction in critically ill patients is also thought to be due to hyperinflammation [18]. Therefore, theoretically, clearing the blood from toxic liver-related metabolites and cytokines could be beneficial in improving liver function in this patient population. However, evidence of its efficacy is lacking, and despite its increasing use and accumulating data, a comprehensive summary on hemoadsorption in this setting is missing.

Objectives

The aim of this systematic review and meta-analysis is to assess the effect of hemoadsorption on clinical outcomes and the removal of total bilirubin, as well as the reduction in liver transaminases in critical illness-associated acute liver dysfunction.

2. Methods

We report our systematic review and meta-analysis in accordance with the PRISMA 2020 Statement (Supplementary Table S1: PRISMA 2020 Checklist), and it was conducted following the recommendations of the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions [19].

2.1. Search Strategy

Two systematic literature searches were conducted on 18 February 2022 and 24 February 2023, using the following databases: Medline (via PubMed), Embase, Scopus, CEN-TRAL, and Web of Science (PROSPERO registration: CRD42022286213). The following search key was used in these databases: oXiris OR Jafron OR CytoSorb OR hemadsorption OR hemoadsorption OR "blood purification" OR "cytokine removal" AND liver failure OR "liver injury" OR liver dysfunction OR "hepatocellular injury" OR hepatic insufficiency OR hepatic dysfunction OR "acquired liver injury".

CytoSorb Literature Database, and the references of included studies, citing articles, authors' other accessible publications, and ResearchGate were hand-searched for further eligible publications. No filters or restrictions were imposed on the search.

2.2. Eligibility Criteria

Primary research publications with original clinical data were eligible for inclusion in this systematic review. Publications without original clinical data, such as reviews, commentaries, editorials, consensus, and guidelines, were excluded. Inclusion and exclusion criteria were framed beforehand in the PICO model (patients; intervention; control; outcomes). The target population was adult patients with acute liver dysfunction or failure associated with critical illness and treated with hemoadsorption (HA). Selected articles had to report one or more of the following to assess the effect of HA therapy: requirements of vasopressors, serum levels of bilirubin, and the liver enzymes alanine aminotransferase (ALT) or aspartate aminotransferase (AST) for pre- and post-hemoadsorption treatment. Primary outcomes were the change in liver function parameters during HA and mortality. We pooled data from individual cases to assess the variations in vasopressor needs and serum levels of bilirubin, ALT, and AST, before and after treatment with hemoadsorption, without considering the heterogeneity existing among different sources. In addition to the case studies, a pooled analysis was conducted for studies including data on control cohorts. The effect size was expressed as the mean difference in the relative changes of the aforementioned variables from baseline to post-treatment values.

2.3. Selection Process

The selection was performed by two independent review authors (CT as review author 1 and CS as review author 2). The two reviewer groups then assessed the results for inclusion, first by title and abstract selection, followed by full-text selection using the EndNote 20 software (Clarivate Analytics, Philadelphia, PA, USA). Any disagreements were resolved firstly by consensus between the reviewers or by a third independent investigator (FD) when needed. To evaluate inter-reviewer agreement, Cohen's Kappa was calculated with the result being $\kappa = 0.89$ after full-text selection.

2.4. Data Collection Process

From the eligible articles, data were collected by the two review authors (CT and IA). Disagreements between authors were resolved through consensus. The following data were extracted: (1) study characteristics: first author, year of publication, study design, study population (number, age, and sex), study period, study country, and institute; main outcomes (mortality, bridge to liver transplantation, length of ICU stay); (2) pre-treatment and post-treatment liver function parameters: serum bilirubin, ALT, AST, vasopressor need (mcg/kg/min), serum bile acid levels, prothrombin time, D-dimer levels; (3) changes in vital organ function: SOFA scores (Sequential Organ Failure Assessment), SAPS-II (Simplified Acute Physiology Score II), CLIF scores (Chronic Liver Failure Consortium Organ Failure), APACHE (Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation) scores; (4) safety outcomes: white and red blood cell counts, hemoglobin count, serum albumin, platelet count, neutrophil count. Only data prior to the initiation of hemoadsorption therapy and at the discontinuation of the therapy were collected.

When unavailable in writing, data estimates from visual sources were collected using software (GetData Graph Digitizer version number: v.2.26), although these estimates were not used in the meta-analysis for optimal mathematical accuracy.

2.5. Study Risk of Bias and Certainty of Evidence Assessment

Two authors (CT and IA) independently performed the risk of bias assessment according to the recommendations of the Cochrane Handbook [19] utilizing the Joanna-Briggs Institute's Critical Appraisal Tool [20] for case reports and case series, ROBINS-I Risk of Bias Assessment for cohort studies [21]. Disagreements were resolved by deliberation.

The level of certainty of evidence evaluation was performed using the GRADE assessment based on the GRADE Handbook [22] and was determined using the online software GRADE Pro GDT.20 (GRADEpro Guideline Development Tool version 20, available from gradepro.org).

2.6. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were carried out using the R statistical software (version 4.1.2.) [23]. Meta-analysis was performed for outcomes for which at least three studies reported data. The meta-analysis follows the advice of Harrer et al. [24].

For each continuous outcome, we meta-analyzed the before-treatment mean, the aftertreatment mean, and their difference. We used the classical inverse variance method with the restricted maximum likelihood estimator. As only a few studies contributed to the meta-analysis, Hartung-Knapp adjustment was applied. Besides the prediction interval, heterogeneity was assessed by calculating the I² measure and its confidence interval and performing the Cochrane Q test. I² values of 25%, 50%, and 75% were considered low, moderate, and high heterogeneity, respectively.

In all cases, although standard deviations of the outcome before and after the treatment were available, the standard deviation of the change was missing. Following the instructions of [20], we input several different correlations from the range of -0.5 to 0.9. All the employed correlations provided more or less the same pooled results. The published results were created with an input correlation of 0.8.

Publication bias could not be assessed by visual inspection of the Funnel plot or by performing Egger's test due to the small number of available studies.

From the meta-analyses described above, we excluded studies with one or very few observations. We visualized these excluded results on boxplots, and we tested whether the order of magnitude of the before and after values is different by performing the Wilcoxon test.

3. Results

3.1. Study Selection and Characteristics

The systematic search yielded 3022 records after duplicate removal. The selection process took place in accordance with the protocol registered on PROSPERO. The PRISMA flowchart detailing the selection process is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. PRISMA flowchart of included studies.

3.2. Main Characteristics of the Included Studies

The selection process yielded 30 eligible publications between 2011 and 2022, and a further 3 publications from the pool retrieved from the repeat systematic search. All publications reported the use of hemoadsorption for a total of 323 patients. Of those, 19 were case reports, 7 were case series (total number of patients, n = 84), 3 were observational studies (n = 130), and 1 was a registry analysis (n = 109). All patients presented with liver dysfunction related to acute critical illness have been treated with HA: CytoSorb (23 datasets, n = 232), Coupled Plasma Filtration Adsorption (4, n = 88), oXiris (2, n = 2), and CytoSorb + oXiris (1, n = 1). The main characteristics of the included studies along with baseline characteristics of the patients are detailed in Table 1.

Publication	Data		Number				Normhanaf
First Author	Year of Publication	[—] Study Design	Patients	Age	Used Device	Intervention	Sessions
Gunasekera, A.M. [25]	2022	Case report	1	54 ^a	CytoSorb	CRRT with CytoSorb	1
Ruiz-Rodriguez, J.C. [26]	2022	Case report	1	50 ^a	CytoSorb	CVVHDF with CytoSorb	1
Cazzato, M.T. [27]	2019	Case report	1	No data	CytoSorb	CRRT with CytoSorb (24 h)	4
Daza, J.L. [28]	2022	Case report	1	41 ^a	CytoSorb	SLED combined with CytoSorb (12 h)	2
Hinz, B. [29]	2015	Case report	1	72 ^a	CytoSorb	CVVHD with CytoSorb (24-6-24 h)	3
Köhler, T. [30]	2021	Case report	1	29 ^a	CytoSorb	CRRT with CytoSorb (24 h)	Unclear
Lau, C.W.M. [31]	2021	Case report	1	47 ^a	oXiris	Blood purification with oXiris (5 days in total)	No data
Li, Y. [32]	2020	Case report	1	35 ^a	oXiris	CVVH with oXiris (24 h)	2
Manohar, V. [33]	2017	Case report	1	22 ^a	CytoSorb	Extracorporeal cytokine hemofiltration (12 h)	1
Markovic, M. [34]	2020	Case report	1	31 ^a	CytoSorb and oXiris	CytoSorb (day 1) and oXiris (day 2)	2
Moretti, R. [35]	2011	Case report	1	27 ^a	CPFA	CPFA (24 h)	5
Piwowarczyk, P. [36]	2019	Case report	1	57 ^a	CytoSorb	CytoSorb with anticoagulated CVVHD (24 h)	2
Tomescu, D. [37]	2018	Case report	1	17 ^a	CytoSorb	CytoSorb (before and throughout liver transplantation)	1
Wiegele, M. [38]	2015	Case report	1	44 ^a	CytoSorb	CytoSorb (6 h)	2
Lévai, T. [39]	2019	Case report	1	42 ^a	CytoSorb	CytoSorb with anticoagulated CVVRRT	4
Manini, E. [40]	2019	Case report	1	62 ^a	CytoSorb	CytoSorb with anticoagulated CVVRRT	1
Popescu, M. [41]	2017	Case report	1	47 ^a	CytoSorb	CytoSorb (24 h)	4
Kogelman, K. [42]	2021	Case report	1	45 ^a	CytoSorb	CytoSorb with CRRT (in CVVHD mode)	3
Breitkopf, R. [43]	2020	Case report	1	40 ^a	CytoSorb	CytoSorb with CRRT (in CVVHD mode)	2
Ullo, I. [44]	2017	Case series	9	21–63 ^b	CPFA	CPFA with citrate anticoagulation	No data

Table 1. Study and baseline characteristics of included studies.

Publication	n Data		Numberof				Number of
First Author	Year of Publication	Study Design	Patients	Age	Used Device	Intervention	Sessions
Popescu, M. [45]	2017	Case series	5	$49\pm13~^{\rm c}$	CytoSorb	CytoSorb with CVVHF	No data
Popescu, M. and Tomescu, D. [46]	2018	Case series	13	$46\pm17~^{c}$	CytoSorb	CytoSorb with CVVHF	No data
Maggi, U. [47]	2013	Case series	2	22–64 ^b	CPFA	CPFA	3
Popescu, M. [48]	2020	Case series	29	$34\pm14~^{c}$	CytoSorb	CytoSorb with CVVHDF	3
Dhokia, V.D. [49]	2019	Case series	3	51–71 ^b	CytoSorb	CytoSorb with CVVHDF (1); CytoSorb with Prismaflex (1); CytoSorb with CRRT (1)	2
Acar, U. [50]	2019	Case series	4	26–73 ^b	CytoSorb	CytoSorb with CVVHD	No data
Ocskay, K. [18]	2021	Registry analysis	109	$49.2\pm17.1~^{\rm c}$	CytoSorb	Varies: CytoSorb alone or CytoSorb with CRRT	2
Niu, D.G. [51]	2019	Retrospective observational study	76	$51.4\pm15.6^{\rm \ c}$	CPFA	CPFA with CRRT	No data
Scharf, C. [52]	2021	Retrospective observational study	33	55 (18–76) ^d	CytoSorb	CytoSorb	1
Praxenthaler, J. [53]	2022	Retrospective observational study	21	74 (58–80) ^d	CytoSorb	CVVHD with CytoSorb	varies

Table 1. Cont.

^a Individual data, ^b range (min–max), ^c mean \pm standard deviation, ^d median (minimum range–maximum range).

3.3. Primary Outcomes

The main outcomes of this study were mortality, rate of bridge to transplantation, and length of ICU stay. The lack of well-documented original research data in the literature led to none of these outcomes being able to be meta-analyzed as planned. The inhospital mortality rate was 38% (50/130 patients) in the observational cohort studies [51–53]; 23% (19/82 patients) in case reports and series [27–50]; and the registry analysis by Ocskay et al. [18] reported a total of 65 cases of in-hospital mortality (59.6%): 10 at the end of HA therapy (9.2%), 60 during the ICU stay (55%), and 5 more during the out of ICU hospitalization period. Only Ocskay et al. reported the length of ICU stay (14.0 (7.0–23.0); median and IQR). No studies reported the success rate or any other descriptive outcomes in relation to bridging to liver transplantation.

3.4. Other Outcomes

In order to assess the use of hemoadsorption therapy in a clinical setting, we planned to review a set of exploratory outcomes. These included laboratory outcomes, safety parameters, and changes in vital organ functions.

3.4.1. Post-Treatment Organ Function Parameters

Among these outcomes, only six laboratory parameters could be meta-analyzed. Data pooled from 160 patients showed a significant reduction in total bilirubin levels post-treatment (mean difference of -4.79 mg/dL (95% CI: -6.25; -3.33), p = 0.002) (Figure 2). Pooled data from case series (n = 38) showed a non-significant reduction in serum creatinine (mean difference of -0.38 mg/dL (95% CI: -1.27; 0.5), p = 0.20) (Figure 3). Further analyses could only be performed using individual patient data from case reports (Figure 4). Before and after treatment values for each laboratory parameter were pooled from the case reports and summarized in box plots. Individual patient data concerning the change of these parameters are depicted by lines that connect dots that represent before and after data for

each patient. These analyses showed significantly reduced AST levels (Wilcoxon p = 0.03) (Figure 4B) and vasopressor need (Wilcoxon p = 0.03) (Figure 4F) after treatment. Analyses of ALT, C-reactive protein (CRP), creatinine, and total bilirubin levels after treatment all channels for reduction (Figure 4)



Figure 2. Total bilirubin levels. Forest plot of total bilirubin levels pre- and post-treatment with hemoadsorption [46–48,50].

n	meandiff	se	C	reatini	ine dif	feren	ce	mean diff	95%-CI	weights
29	-0.7000	0.1669						-0.70	[-1.03; -0.37]	39.5%
4	-0.4700	0.4841		-				-0.47	[-1.42; 0.48]	16.2%
5	-0.0700	0.1103						-0.07	[-0.29; 0.15]	44.3%
					-			-0.38	[-1.27; 0.50]	100.0%
			-		_	_	-		[-5.65; 4.89]	
4%], $\tau^2 =$	0.1154, p = 0.1154	006		1		1				
(p = 0.20)3)		-4	-2	0	2	4			
	n 29 4 5 94%], $\tau^2 =$ (p = 0.20	n meandiff 29 -0.7000 4 -0.4700 5 -0.0700 44%], $\tau^2 = 0.1154$, $\rho = 0.4$	n meandiff se 29 -0.7000 0.1669 4 -0.4700 0.4841 5 -0.0700 0.1103 44%], $\tau^2 = 0.1154$, $p = 0.006$ ($p = 0.203$)	n meandiff se C 29 -0.7000 0.1669 4 -0.4700 0.4841 5 -0.0700 0.1103 (p = 0.203) -4	n meandiff se Creatini 29 -0.7000 0.1669 4 -0.4700 0.4841 5 -0.0700 0.1103 $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-1}$ $^{-$	n meandiff se Creatinine dif 29 -0.7000 0.1669 4 -0.4700 0.4841 5 -0.0700 0.1103 (p = 0.203) -4 -2 0	n meandiff se Creatinine different 29 -0.7000 0.1669 4 -0.4700 0.4841 5 -0.0700 0.1103 (p = 0.203) -4 -2 0 2	n meandiff se Creatinine difference 29 -0.7000 0.1669 4 -0.4700 0.4841 5 -0.0700 0.1103 (p = 0.203) -4 -2 0 2 4	n meandiff se Creatinine difference mean diff 29 -0.700 0.1669 4 -0.4700 0.4841 5 -0.0700 0.1103 -0.70 -0.47 -0.07 -0.07 -0.38 -0.47 -0.38	n meandiff se Creatinine difference mean diff 95%-Cl 29 -0.7000 0.1669 4 -0.4700 0.4841 5 -0.0700 0.1103 -0.47 [-1.42; 0.48] -0.07 [-0.29; 0.15] -0.38 [-1.27; 0.50] [-5.65; 4.89]

Figure 3. Creatinine levels. Forest plot of serum creatinine levels pre- and post-treatment with hemoadsorption [47,48,50].



Figure 4. Box plots of individual case data: **(A)** alanine aminotransferase (ALT), **(B)** aspartate aminotransferase (AST), **(C)** bilirubin, **(D)** creatinine, **(E)** C-reactive protein (CRP), and **(F)** vasopressor need. Data were pooled from individual case reports and presented as box plots, representing preand post-treatment values. Changes in these parameters for each case are also depicted by lines connecting pre- and post-treatment values. Currently, data are lacking for D-dimer, serum bile acid levels, and prothrombin time before and after treatment with hemoadsorption. Therefore, a meta-analysis could not be performed for these outcomes.

Other post-treatment organ function parameters extracted from the included articles are detailed in Appendix A Table A1.

3.4.2. Changes in Vital Organ Function

Only two studies reported SOFA score changes before and after HA therapy. Ocskay et al. [18] reported a non-significant improvement in SOFA scores of liver failure patients (mean with a CI: 0.5 (-0.3 to 1.3)), while Popescu et al. (2020) observed a significantly improved CLIF-SOFA score after HA therapy in their case series [48]. The retrospective study by Niu et al. [51] reported a significant improvement in SOFA score, but there are no data available to demonstrate this outcome. Scharf et al. [52] reported a significant improvement in SAPS-II scores after hemoadsorption therapy (mean difference of 6 \pm 9, p = 0.01).

Among the single-patient case reports, only Cazzato et al. [27] followed up with their patients' SOFA scores. Their patients who underwent a hepatic resection and developed acute liver failure postoperatively improved from a SOFA score of 4 to a 2 after HA therapy.

3.4.3. Safety Outcomes

None of the included studies reported the safety outcomes planned to be presented in this review, but device-related adverse events were not reported in any of the studies.

3.5. Risk of Bias and Level of Evidence Certainty Assessments

The results of the risk of bias assessment and GRADE assessment of the level of evidence certainty are presented in Supplementary Figures S3–S5 and Supplementary Table S1, respectively.

Individual case reports were nearly free from the risk of bias according to our assessment. Case series however suffered from a lack of clearly elaborated patient enrollment strategy across the board. Overall, the risk of bias was not significant for any of the included studies.

Evidence quality is assessed to be poor by the GRADE assessment. Study designs being retrospective and observational present a major challenge in drawing reliable conclusions. Some publications on this topic might be considered "gray literature". As such, the reliability and the quality of the evidence provided should be considered questionable.

4. Discussion

ICU-acquired acute liver dysfunction in the context of a dysregulated host response and hyperinflammation is common and associated with poor short-term outcomes. Notwithstanding clinical advancements to support liver function over the last decades, diagnosis is challenging and therapeutic strategies in the form of liver support therapies are still controversially discussed, since solid data on their efficacy remain sparse.

Therefore, we conducted this systematic review and meta-analysis on the effects of hemoadsorption on liver function in patients with confirmed liver dysfunction of various inflammatory etiologies. We found that the use of hemoadsorption for critically ill patients with acute liver dysfunction or failure seems to be safe and yields a trend towards improved liver function after hemoadsorption.

4.1. Devices

There are a few different hemoadsorption technologies available on the market, of which we identified three devices that were used for ICU-acquired liver dysfunction: CytoSorb, CPFA, and oXiris. Among these, CytoSorb was by far the most frequently used.

4.1.1. CytoSorb

The CytoSorb hemoadsorber is a European CE-marked device capable to adsorb and thus remove cytokines as well as substances such as bilirubin and myoglobin from the blood compartment [54,55]. With more than 180,000 single treatments, this technology is hitherto the most frequently reported hemoadsorption device in clinical practice.

4.1.2. Coupled Plasma Filtration Adsorption

The CPFA cartridge for the removal of cytokines is a blood purification technique that separates whole blood into cellular and plasma components using a high cut-off filter. Subsequently, the plasma is filtered through an adsorbing material that can extract cytokines and then recombine the plasma and cellular components back into whole blood [56].

4.1.3. oXiris

oXiris is a new, high-adsorption membrane filter based on the AN69 polyacrylonitrile hemofilter membrane; in addition, it undergoes additional surface treatment with polyethyleneimine (PEI) lipid A phosphate groups and heparin grafting that combines cytokine and endotoxin removal properties, renal replacement function, and anti-thrombogenic properties [57]. Surface adsorption is purely selective on endotoxin because of the specific configuration of the membrane. Conversely, bulk adsorption is nonselective and can absorb numerous mediators unselectively.

4.2. Outcomes

4.2.1. Bilirubin

One of the most consistent findings in patients with liver dysfunction and treated with hemoadsorption is the effective reduction in bilirubin levels after hemoadsorption, which is strongly supported by the results of our current study.

Two temporally staggered pathophysiological stages of inflammation-induced liver dysfunction can be distinguished in terms of clinical appearance and laboratory assessment. The primary dysfunction, which manifests itself within 24 h after the shock (called "ischemic hepatitis"), leads to a severe restriction of liver perfusion with centrilobular necrosis, accompanied by a massive increase in transaminases (AST, ALT) with only a slight increase in bilirubin [56]. This condition resolves within a few days after the circulation is restored. This is to be distinguished from secondary liver failure or cholestatic liver dysfunction, which is predominantly triggered by inflammatory mediators and is defined by impaired bile formation and excretion. The underlying mechanism is not an obstruction of bile ducts but a non-obstructive accumulation of bile acids and bilirubin in the liver due to a down-regulation of specific transporter molecules at the biliary side of the hepatocyte [9,58]. The mean bilirubin levels in patients included in our meta-analysis were $18.06 \pm 13.26 \text{ mg/dL}$ and $6.15 \pm 2.32 \text{ mg/dL}$ according to data from individual cases and cohorts before and after HA treatment, respectively. These levels point towards a cholestatic liver dysfunction, rather than an ischemic type.

There is some evidence from experimental studies that high bilirubin concentrations inhibit the non-specific defense mechanisms of neutrophil granulocytes. Because of the antioxidant properties of bilirubin, the bactericidal effect of reactive oxygen species can be inhibited, which enhances the systemic spread of bacteria in an already critical phase [59].

4.2.2. ALT, AST, Bile Acid, Ammonia

However, hemoadsorption may effectively remove not only bilirubin from the blood but also, as shown in two recent in vitro experiments, effectively remove bile acids [60,61]. These results indicate that hemoadsorbents may remove hydrophobic, albumin-bound bile acids better than CRRT filters. Although aminotransferases, levels of bile acid, and serum ammonia are regularly used in clinical practice as markers for liver function, there is hardly any clinical evidence on the effect of hemoadsorption on these parameters. In fact, a recent study found that ammonia elimination is mainly achieved by the dialysis filter rather than CytoSorb [62]. Furthermore, Scharf et al. hypothesized that the molecular weight of AST, ALT, and GGT makes the transaminase reduction unlikely, and the significant reduction observed suggests a potential improvement in liver function [52]. Therefore, the direct removal of substances versus secondary effects during hemoadsorption therapy remains an unresolved issue. Future studies are needed, in which concentrations of the substances of interest should be measured in the in-flow line (pre-adsorber) and the in the out-flow line (post-adsorber) to determine the clearance of these molecules by the hemoadsorber.

4.2.3. Clinical Outcomes and Safety

This review establishes that there is a critical lack of hard evidence on clinical outcomes associated with hemoadsorption therapy. Although the device itself does not seem to have any adverse effects or complications associated with its use, there is no systematically generated evidence for this claim to be sufficiently reliable. The existing evidence on clinical outcomes is either deemed to be of low quality according to the GRADE assessment or needs to be corroborated and complemented by more studies. The registry analysis from 2019 includes assessments by involved clinicians on whether hemoadsorption therapy improved, deteriorated, or did not affect the clinical status of the patients. While clinicians assessed 68.9% (n = 75) of patients' conditions to have been improved by the therapy, 15.6% (n = 17) of patients did not show any change and 4.8% (n = 5) deteriorated. Due to the lack of comparative studies, it is impossible to draw solid conclusions for such an outcome. However, the current lack of evidence should not be misconstrued as a lack of interest in the topic nor as a demonstration of the inefficacy of the therapy.

4.3. Implications for Research and Practice

Two recent meta-analyses on different extracorporeal liver-support devices showed that this issue is still unsolved, and the level of evidence is so low that recommendations on which approach is the best cannot be made [1,63]. Hemoadsorption is relatively simple to apply, and according to some recent data, it may even be superior to Molecular Adsorbent Recirculating System (MARS). In a recent in vitro study, CytoSorb was found superior to MARS as far as bilirubin, bile acid, ammonia, and cytokine removal are concerned [57]. However, large prospective data or results of randomized trials are still missing. Furthermore, it would also be important to consider alternative study endpoints, such as the change in levels of mercaptans, idols, tryptophane, and albumin binding capacity [64]. Such studies in the future could fill in the gaps in the currently available evidence and knowledge on HA therapy, particularly those associated with clinical outcomes for patients with acute liver dysfunction.

This study has been conducted in the framework of Academia Europaea's position on the cycle model of translational medicine for community healthcare benefit [65,66]. Accordingly, our findings and elaboration are aimed towards summarizing and contextualizing discussions around this highly important subject to generate new hypotheses and guide further research.

4.4. Limitations

The current study has several limitations. First and foremost, the limitation is imposed by the lack of randomized controlled clinical trials in the literature. Second, several of the included studies are case reports and series, which limit the generalizability of the findings from the meta-analyses. Third, several included studies fail to report the sex and ethnicity of the patients, which are both important factors to consider in the clinical overview.

5. Conclusions

The current systematic review and meta-analysis provide further support that adjuvant therapy with hemoadsorption is a feasible, safe, and effective method to reduce circulating bilirubin levels and may have direct and/or indirect effects on other liver-related potentially toxic metabolites. However, the quality of evidence is still low and very little is known about

the clinical effects of the therapy. Therefore, our results highlight the need for adequately designed clinical trials with the above-mentioned parameters as the main outcomes.

Supplementary Materials: The following supporting information can be downloaded at https: //www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/biomedicines12010067/s1, Figure S1. Forest plot of total bilirubin levels pre- and post-treatment with hemoadsorption, using zero correlation model. Figure S2. Forest plot of serum creatinine levels pre- and post-treatment with hemoadsorption, using zero correlation model. Figure S3. Summary table of risk of bias assessment using ROBINS-I for the included nonrandomized studies. Figure S4. Summary table of risk of bias assessment according to JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis (Case reports). Figure S5. Summary table of risk of bias assessment according to JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis (Case series). Table S1. Summary table of results of GRADE Assessment for the level of certainty of evidence in the included studies. Table S2. HA LIVER PRISMA_2020_checklist. Reference [67] are cited in the supplementary materials.

Author Contributions: All authors' contributions are represented in accordance with the CRediT Author Contribution guidelines. C.T.: conceptualization, investigation, writing—original draft; C.E.S.: conceptualization, investigation, writing—review and editing; T.K.: software, formal analysis, writing—review and editing; M.A.E.: methodology, supervision, writing—review and editing; I.A.: investigation, writing—original draft; T.T.: reviewing and editing; L.Z.: conceptualization, reviewing and editing; P.H.: project administration, supervision; Z.M.: conceptualization, project administration, supervision, writing—review and editing. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This project was partially funded by the Hungarian National Research, Development and Innovation Office, Grant No.: K 138816.

Institutional Review Board Statement: In accordance with Good Clinical Practices (GCP) guidelines and applicable regulatory and institutional requirements, written informed consent from study participants was not required.

Informed Consent Statement: Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

Data Availability Statement: All data used for the meta-analysis originate from publicly available publications.

Conflicts of Interest: Z.M. is a full-time employee of CytoSorbents Europe GmbH. The other authors state that they have no conflicts of interest.

Appendix A

 Table A1. Post-treatment organ function parameters.

First Author, Year of Publication	Bilirubin (mg/dL): Pre-Treatment/Post- Treatment	CRP (mg/dL): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	ALT (U/L): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	AST (U/L): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	Creatinine (mg/dL): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	Ammonia (µmol/L): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	LDH (U/L): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	Vasopressor Dosage (mcg/kg/min)	Mortality	Changes in Vital Organ Function: Pre-Treatment/Post- Treatment
Gunasekera, A.M., 2022 [25]	4.9/4.9	-	2338/2390	5049/3795	4.8/1.8	-	-	-	0	-
Ruiz-Rodriguez, J.C., 2022 [26]	22/7.8	7.7/4.94	-	1938/1625	7.03/CRRT	-	-	1.5/0	0 *	SOFA Score: 15/16
Cazzato, M.T., 2019 [27]	3.22/4.99	-	-	-	3.53/1.52	67/57	-	0.16/0.01	0	SOFA Score: 4/2
Daza, J.L., 2022 [28]	-	145/21	900/179	1100/320	3.8/1.6	-	670/178	1.2/0	1	-
Hinz, B., 2015 [29]	6.58/5.88	203.2/133.4	107.4/100.8	80.4/87.6	1.76/1.78	-	-	0.3/0.15	0	-
Köhler, T., 2021 [30]	1.17/0.19	-	-	-	-	-	-	0.22/0.1	0	SOFA Score: 12/6
Lau, C.W.M., 2021 [31]	-	243/164	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	-
Li, Y., 2020 [32]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	CLIF Score: 63/43
Manohar, V., 2017 [33]	-	176.15/74.97	378.5/226.9	992.5/540.1	-	-	-	0.1/0.1	0	-
Markovic, M., 2020 [34]	-	125.5/214.9	482/393	2355/1561	4.52/3.45	-	-	0.6/0.15	1	APACHE-II Score: 35/60
Moretti, R., 2011 [35]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	-
Piwowarczyk, P., 2019 [36]	18.41/2.4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	SOFA Score: 16/10
Tomescu, D., 2018 [37]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	-
Wiegele, M., 2015 [38]	1.4/0.94	-	137/121	395/285	1.21/1.04	-	-	0.12/0.1	0	-
Lévai, T., 2019 [39]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	-
Manini, E., 2019 [40]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	-

Table AL Cont.

First Author, Year of Publication	Bilirubin (mg/dL): Pre-Treatment/Post- Treatment	CRP (mg/dL): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	ALT (U/L): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	AST (U/L): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	Creatinine (mg/dL): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	Ammonia (µmol/L): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	LDH (U/L): Pre- Treatment/Post- Treatment	Vasopressor Dosage (mcg/kg/min)	Mortality	Changes in Vital Organ Function: Pre-Treatment/Post- Treatment
Popescu, M., 2017 [41]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	
Kogelman, K., 2021 [42]	-	285.9/62.6	-	13,300/198	1.83/no data	-	-	-	0 *	SAPS II Score: 56/37
Breitkopf, R., 2020 [43]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	Glasgow Coma Scale: 13/15
Ullo, I., 2017 [44]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2	
Popescu, M., 2017 [45]	$\begin{array}{c} 17.5 \pm 7.9 / \\ 11.8 \pm 6.7 \end{array}$	-	-	-	$\begin{array}{c} 0.83 \pm 0.41 / \\ 0.76 \pm 0.31 \end{array}$	-	-	-	0	
Popescu, M. and Tomescu, D., 2018 [46]	$\begin{array}{c} 23.6 \pm 12.9 / \\ 17.8 \pm 11.2 \end{array}$	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	
Maggi, U., 2013 [47]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	
Popescu, M., 2020 [48]	$\begin{array}{c} 14.2 \pm 12.6 / \\ 9.2 {\pm} 9.1 \end{array}$	-	-	-	$\begin{array}{c} 1.9 \pm 1.4 / \\ 1.2 \pm 0.8 \end{array}$	-	-	-	11	CLIF-SOFA Score: $12.0 \pm 2.1/10.0 \pm 2.6$
Dhokia, V.D., 2019 [49]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	0	-
Acar, U., 2019 [50]	$\begin{array}{c} 18.14 \pm 4.47 / \\ 14.32 \pm 4.1 \end{array}$	$979 \pm 667 / 982 \pm 611$	$\begin{array}{c} 117.88 \pm 67.10 / \\ 119.66 \pm 73.79 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 180.11 \pm 115.10 / \\ 153.44 \pm 78.21 \end{array}$			$\begin{array}{c} 347.11 \pm 160.34 / \\ 298.55 \pm 53.09 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.02 \pm 0.04 / \\ 0.59 \pm 1.50 \end{array}$	3	-
Ocskay, K., 2021 [18]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	65	SOFA Score: mean = $0.5 (n = 73)$
Niu, D.G., 2019 [51]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	14	
Scharf, C., 2021 [52]	-	-	$\begin{array}{c} 614 \pm 1707 / \\ 395 \pm 1112 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 1512 \pm 4338 / \\ 1033 \pm 3003 \end{array}$	-	-	-	-	10 **	SAPS II: 6 ± 9
Praxenthaler, J., 2022 [53]	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

* Mortality event occurred within the follow-up period, but after the completion of the hemoadsorption therapy, from an unrelated reason as described by the authors. ** 7-days mortality irrespective of the completion of the hemoadsorption therapy.

References

- Kanjo, A.; Ocskay, K.; Gede, N.; Kiss, S.; Szakács, Z.; Párniczky, A.; Mitzner, S.; Stange, J.; Hegyi, P.; Molnár, Z. Efficacy and safety of liver support devices in acute and hyperacute liver failure: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Sci. Rep.* 2021, 11, 4189. [CrossRef]
- Sakr, Y.; Lobo, S.M.; Moreno, R.P.; Gerlach, H.; Ranieri, V.M.; Michalopoulos, A.; Vincent, J.L.; SOAP Investigators. Patterns and early evolution of organ failure in the intensive care unit and their relation to outcome. *Crit. Care* 2012, *16*, R222. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 3. Bingold, T.M.; Lefering, R.; Zacharowski, K.; Meybohm, P.; Waydhas, C.; Rosenberger, P.; Scheller, B.; Care Registry Group. Individual Organ Failure and Concomitant Risk of Mortality Differs According to the Type of Admission to ICU—A Retrospective Study of SOFA Score of 23,795 Patients. *PLoS ONE* **2015**, *10*, e0134329. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Kramer, L.; Jordan, B.; Druml, W.; Bauer, P.; Metnitz, P.; DEAA for the Austrian Epidemiologic Study on Intensive Care; ASDI Study Group. Incidence and prognosis of early hepatic dysfunction in critically ill patients—A prospective multicenter study. *Crit. Care Med* 2007, 35, 1099-e7. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 5. Geier, A.; Fickert, P.; Trauner, M. Mechanisms of Disease: Mechanisms and clinical implications of cholestasis in sepsis. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* **2006**, *3*, 574–585. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 6. Lu, K. Cellular Pathogenesis of Hepatic Encephalopathy: An Update. Biomolecules 2023, 13, 396. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Allameh, A.; Niayesh-Mehr, R.; Aliarab, A.; Sebastiani, G.; Pantopoulos, K. Oxidative Stress in Liver Pathophysiology and Disease. *Antioxidants* 2023, 12, 1653. [CrossRef]
- 8. Vega, S.; Neira, J.L.; Marcuello, C.; Lostao, A.; Abian, O.; Velazquez-Campoy, A. NS3 protease from hepatitis C virus: Biophysical studies on an intrinsically disordered protein domain. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **2013**, *14*, 13282–13306. [CrossRef]
- Recknagel, P.; Gonnert, F.A.; Westermann, M.; Lambeck, S.; Lupp, A.; Rudiger, A.; Dyson, A.; Carré, J.E.; Kortgen, A.; Krafft, C.; et al. Liver Dysfunction and Phosphatidylinositol-3-Kinase Signalling in Early Sepsis: Experimental Studies in Rodent Models of Peritonitis. *PLoS Med.* 2012, *9*, e1001338. [CrossRef]
- 10. Moseley, R.H. Sepsis and cholestasis. Clin. Liver Dis. 2004, 8, 83-94. [CrossRef]
- 11. Ong, K.L.; Allison, M.A.; Cheung, B.M.; Wu, B.J.; Barter, P.J.; Rye, K.A. The relationship between total bilirubin levels and total mortality in older adults: The United States National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 1999–2004. *PLoS ONE* **2014**, *9*, e94479. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Vincent, J.L.; Moreno, R.; Takala, J.; Willatts, S.; De Mendonça, A.; Bruining, H.; Reinhart, C.K.; Suter, P.M.; Thijs, L.G. The SOFA (Sepsis-related Organ Failure Assessment) score to describe organ dysfunction/failure. On behalf of the Working Group on Sepsis-Related Problems of the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine. *Intensive Care Med.* 1996, 22, 707–710. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Pastor, C.M.; Suter, P.M. Hepatic hemodynamics and cell functions in human and experimental sepsis. *Anesth. Analg.* **1999**, *89*, 344–352. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Stravitz, R.T.; Kramer, A.H.; Davern, T.; Shaikh, A.O.S.; Caldwell, S.H.; Mehta, R.L.; Blei, A.T.; Fontana, R.J.; McGuire, B.M.; Rossaro, L.; et al. Intensive care of patients with acute liver failure: Recommendations of the U.S. Acute Liver Failure Study Group. *Crit. Care Med.* 2007, 35, 2498–2508. [CrossRef]
- 15. Rugg, C.; Klose, R.; Hornung, R.; Innerhofer, N.; Bachler, M.; Schmid, S.; Fries, D.; Ströhle, M. Hemoadsorption with CytoSorb in Septic Shock Reduces Catecholamine Requirements and In-Hospital Mortality: A Single-Center Retrospective 'Genetic' Matched Analysis. *Biomedicines* **2020**, *8*, 539. [CrossRef]
- 16. Hawchar, F.; László, I.; Öveges, N.; Trásy, D.; Ondrik, Z.; Molnar, Z. Extracorporeal cytokine adsorption in septic shock: A proof of concept randomized, controlled pilot study. *J. Crit. Care* **2018**, *49*, 172–178. [CrossRef]
- 17. Brouwer, W.P.; Duran, S.; Kuijper, M.; Ince, C. Hemoadsorption with CytoSorb shows a decreased observed versus expected 28-day all-cause mortality in ICU patients with septic shock: A propensity-score-weighted retrospective study. *Crit. Care* **2019**, 23, 317. [CrossRef]
- Ocskay, K.; Tomescu, D.; Faltlhauser, A.; Jacob, D.; Friesecke, S.; Malbrain, M.; Kogelmann, K.; Bogdanski, R.; Bach, F.; Fritz, H.; et al. Hemoadsorption in 'Liver Indication'—Analysis of 109 Patients' Data from the CytoSorb International Registry. J. Clin. Med. 2021, 10, 5182. [CrossRef]
- 19. Julian Higgins, J.T.; Chandler, J. *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 6.0*; Cochrane, Canada. 2019. Available online: https://training.cochrane.org/handbook/current (accessed on 29 August 2020).
- 20. Moola, S.; Munn, Z.; Tufanaru, C.; Aromataris, E.; Sears, K.; Sfetcu, R.; Currie, M.; Lisy, K.; Qureshi, R.; Mattis, P.; et al. Chapter 7: Systematic reviews of etiology and risk. In *JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis*; Aromataris, E., Munn, Z., Eds.; JBI: Adelaide, Australia, 2020. Available online: https://synthesismanual.jbi.global (accessed on 21 February 2022).
- Sterne, J.A.; Hernán, M.A.; Reeves, B.C.; Savović, J.; Berkman, N.D.; Viswanathan, M.; Henry, D.; Altman, D.G.; Ansari, M.T.; Boutron, I.; et al. ROBINS-I: A tool for assessing risk of bias in non-randomised studies of interventions. *BMJ* 2016, 355, i4919. [CrossRef]
- 22. GRADEpro GDT: GRADEpro Guideline Development Tool [Software]. McMaster University and Evidence Prime: Hamilton, Canada, 2022. Available online: https://gradepro.org (accessed on 23 December 2023).
- 23. R Core Team. *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing;* R Foundation for Statistical Computing: Vienna, Austria, 2021. Available online: https://www.R-project.org/ (accessed on 23 December 2023).

- 24. Harrer, M.; Cuijpers, P.; Furukawa, T.A.; Ebert, D.D. *Doing Meta-Analysis with R: A Hands-On Guide*; Chapman & Hall/CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA; London, UK, 2021; ISBN 978-0-367-61007-4.
- Gunasekera, A.M.; Eranthaka, U.; Priyankara, D.; Kalupahana, R. A rare case of acute liver failure with intrahepatic cholestasis due to dengue hemorrhagic fever: CytoSorb^{®®} and plasma exchange aided in the recovery: Case report. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 2022, 22, 938. [CrossRef]
- Ruiz-Rodríguez, J.C.; Chiscano-Camón, L.; Ruiz-Sanmartin, A.; Palmada, C.; Bajaña, I.; Iacoboni, G.; Bonilla, C.; García-Roche, A.; Plata-Menchaca, P.E.; Maldonado, C.; et al. Case report: Cytokine hemoadsorption in a case of hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis secondary to extranodal NK/T-cell lymphoma. *Front. Med.* 2022, *9*, 925751. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Cazzato, M.T. CytoSorb as an Organ Support Therapy during Acute Liver Failure after Hepatic Resection: A Case Report; Poster presented at: Workshop Purification Therapies—Le Idee per la Ricerca Clinica, Italy, 2019. Available online: https://www.purificationtherapies.com/wp-content/uploads/01/16-2/P30_Poster_CYTO_Pellis_Case%20Report.pdf (accessed on 21 February 2022).
- 28. Daza, J.L.; Cruz, Y.D.L.; Gutierrez, G.; Sarzuri, H.; Guarnizo, N.; Alexander Ariza, A.; Marin, L. Combined Application of Cytosorb and Sustained Low Efficiency Dialysis (SLED) in Critical Patients. *Ann. Case Rep.* **2022**, *7*, 807. [CrossRef]
- Hinz, B.; Jauch, O.; Noky, T.; Friesecke, S.; Abel, P.; Kaiser, R. CytoSorb, a Novel Therapeutic Approach for Patients with Septic Shock: A Case Report. Int. J. Artif. Organs 2015, 38, 461–464. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Köhler, T.; Pletz, M.W.; Altmann, S.; Kirchner, C.; Schwier, E.; Henzler, D.; Winde, G.; Eickmeyer, C. Pericarditis Caused by Enterococcus faecium with Acute Liver Failure Treated by a Multifaceted Approach including Antimicrobials and Hemoadsorption. *Case Rep. Crit. Care* 2021, 2021, 8824050. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 31. Lau, C.W.M.; Tam, C.W.Y.; Shum, H.P. Acute Liver Ischemia Secondary to Acute Severe Pancreatitis: A Case Report. J. GHR 2021, 10, 3599–3603.
- Li, Y.; Zhou, L.; Yang, L.; Yuan, F. Septic shock after liver transplantation successfully treated with endotoxin and cytokine adsorption continuous renal replacement therapy: A case report and literature review. J. Int. Med. Res. 2020, 48, 0300060520940439. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Manohar, V.; Raj, S.; Sreekrishnan, T.P.; Gireesh Kumar, K.P. Cytokine hemoadsorption therapy—An adjuvant in the management of septic shock with multi-organ dysfunction: A case report. *Natl. J. Physiol. Pharm. Pharmacol.* 2018, *8*, 297–299. [CrossRef]
- Markovic, M.; Knezevic, V.; Azaševac, T.; Majstorovic, S.; Veselinov, V.; Pencic, D.; Mitić, I. Continuous renal replacement therapy with Cytosorb in a polytrauma patient—When to start? A Case Report. In Proceedings of the 38th Vicenza Course on AKI & CRRT, Online, 2–6 November 2020.
- 35. Moretti, R.; Scarrone, S.; Pizzi, B.; Bonato, V.; Vivaldi, N. Coupled plasma filtration-adsorption in Weil's syndrome: Case report. *Minerva Anestesiol.* **2011**, 77, 846–849.
- 36. Piwowarczyk, P.; Kutnik, P.; Potręć-Studzińska, B.; Sysiak-Sławecka, J.; Rypulak, E.; Borys, M.; Czczuwar, M. Hemoadsorption in isolated conjugated hyperbilirubinemia after extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. Cholestasis of sepsis: A case report and review of the literature on differential causes of jaundice in ICU patient. *Int. J. Artif. Organs* 2019, 42, 263–268. [CrossRef]
- 37. Tomescu, D. First use of Cytosorb[™] during living related liver transplantation in a patient with acute liver failure due to Wilson's disease. In Proceedings of the 2018 Joint International Congress of ILTS, ELITA & LICAGE, Lisbon, Portugal, 23–26 May 2018.
- Wiegele, M.; Krenn, C.G. Cytosorb[™] in a patient with Legionella pneumonia-associated rhabdomyolysis: A case report. ASAIO J. 2015, 61, e14–e16. [CrossRef]
- 39. Lévai, T. Supportive therapy of acute pancreatitis with CytoSorb Adsorber. Case report, Abstract number: 055, 9th International Congress "Sepsis and Multiorgan Dysfunction". *Infection* **2019**, 47 (Suppl. S1), 49. [CrossRef]
- 40. Manini, E.; Volpi, F.; Mencarelli, F.; Bocci, F.; Sini, P.; Ciampichini, R.; Todisco, C.; Beato, V.; Capini, E. Hemoperfusion with Cytosorb for Bilirubin and Cytokine Removal in a Cardiac Surgery Patient. Poster Presented at: Workshop Purification Therapies— Le Idee per la Ricerca Clinica, 2019, Italy. Available online: https://www.purificationtherapies.com/wp-content/uploads/01/16-2/P32_Poster_CYTO_Manini_Case%20report.pdf (accessed on 21 February 2022).
- Tomescu, D.; Popescu, M. The Potential Benefits of a Hemoadsorption Column in a Patient with Severe Inflammatory Syndrome due to Graft Dysfunction and Massive Transfusion after Liver Transplantation. In Proceedings of the 2017 Joint International Congress of ILTS, ELITA & LICAGE, Prague, Czech Republic, 24–27 May 2017. P-215, 187.
- 42. Kogelmann, K. Use of CytoSorb in Septic Multiple Organ Failure Following Intestinal Ischemia Due to Volvulus with Concomitant Liver Failure after COVID-19 Disease; CytoSorb Literature Database *Case of the Week*. 2021. Available online: https://litdb-admin. cytosorb-therapy.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/CoW_14_2021_E_web.pdf (accessed on 23 December 2023).
- Breitkopf, R. Use of CytoSorb in a Patient with Sepsis and Acute Liver Failure Following C-Section in the 38th Week of Pregnancy CytoSorb Literature Database *Case of the Week*. 2020. Available online: https://litdb-admin.cytosorb-therapy.com/wp-content/ uploads/2020/08/CoW_35_2020_E_web.pdf (accessed on 23 December 2023).
- 44. Ullo, I.; Zappulo, F.; Bini, C.; Bruno, P.; Scrivo, A.; Donati, G.; La Manna, G. Coupled Plasma Filtration and Adsorption (CPFA) for Extracorporeal Detoxification During Acute or Acute on Chronic Liver Failure. *Blood Purif.* **2017**, *44*, 182.
- 45. Popescu, M.; Marcu, A.; Calancea, E.; Tomescu, D. The Effects of Using a Hemoadsobtion Column (CytoSorb^{®®}) in Patients with Acute on Chronic Liver Failure. A Pilot Study. In Proceedings of the 2017 Joint International Congress of ILTS, ELITA & LICAGE, Prague, Czech Republic, 24–27 May 2017. P-28, 102.

- 46. Popescu, M.; Tomescu, D. The potential utility of a hemoadsobtion column (CytoSorb^{®®}) in patients with acute liver failure. In Proceedings of the 2018 Joint International Congress of ILTS, ELITA & LICAGE, Lisbon, Portugal, 23–26 May 2018.
- 47. Maggi, U.; Nita, G.; Gatti, S.; Antonelli, B.; Paolo, R.; Como, G.; Messa, P.; Rossi, G. Hyperbilirubinemia After Liver Transplantation: The Role of Coupled Plasma Filtration Adsorption. *Transplant. Proc.* **2013**, *45*, 2715–2717. [CrossRef]
- 48. Popescu, M.; Vasile, A.; Tanase, A.; Dinca, A.; David, C.; Tomescu, D. Potential benefits of hemoadsorption in patients with acute liver failure. *Crit. Care* **2020**, *24* (Suppl. S1), 279.
- 49. Dhokia, V.D.; Madhavan, D.; Austin, A.; Morris, C.G. Novel use of Cytosorb[™] haemadsorption to provide biochemical control in liver impairment. *J. Intensive Care Soc.* **2019**, *20*, 174–181. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 50. Acar, U.; Gökkaya, Z.; Akbulut, A.; Freah, O.; Yenidünya, Ö.; Açik, M.E.; Tokat, Y.; Yentür, E. Impact of Cytokine Adsorption Treatment in Liver Failure. *Transplant. Proc.* 2019, *51*, 2420–2424. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Niu, D.G.; Huang, Q.; Yang, F.; Tian, W.L.; Zhao, Y.Z. Efficacy of Coupled Plasma Filtration Adsorption in Treating Patients with Severe Intra-Abdominal Infection: A Retrospective Study. J. Laparoendosc. Adv. Surg. Tech. A 2019, 29, 905–908. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Scharf, C.; Liebchen, U.; Paal, M.; Becker-Pennrich, A.; Irlbeck, M.; Zoller, M.; Schroeder, I. Successful elimination of bilirubin in critically ill patients with acute liver dysfunction using a cytokine adsorber and albumin dialysis: A pilot study. *Sci. Rep.* 2021, 11, 10190. [CrossRef]
- 53. Praxenthaler, J.; Schwier, E.; Altmann, S.; Kirchner, C.; Bialas, J.; Henzler, D.; Köhler, T. Immunomodulation by Hemoadsorption— Changes in Hepatic Biotransformation Capacity in Sepsis and Septic Shock: A Prospective Study. *Biomedicines.* **2022**, *10*, 2340. [CrossRef]
- 54. Poli, E.C.; Rimmelé, T.; Schneider, A.G. Hemoadsorption with CytoSorb®. Intensive Care Med. 2019, 45, 236–239. [CrossRef]
- 55. Gruda, M.C.; Ruggeberg, K.G.; O'Sullivan, P.; Guilashvili, T.; Schreier, A.R.; Golobish, T.D.; Capponi, V.J.; Chan, P.P. Broad adsorption of sepsis-related PAMP and DAMP molecules, mycotoxins, and cytokines from whole blood using CytoSorb^{®®} sorbent porous polymer beads. *PLoS ONE* **2018**, *13*, e0191676. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 56. Ronco, C.; Brendolan, A.; d'Intini, V.; Ricci, Z.; Wratten, M.L.; Bellomo, R. Coupled plasma filtration adsorption: Rationale, technical development and early clinical experience. *Blood Purif.* **2003**, *21*, 409–416. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 57. Monard, C.; Rimmelé, T.; Ronco, C. Extracorporeal Blood Purification Therapies for Sepsis. *Blood Purif.* **2019**, 47 (Suppl. S3), 2–15. [CrossRef]
- 58. Kluge, M.; Tacke, F. Liver impairment in critical illness and sepsis: The dawn of new biomarkers? *Ann. Transl. Med.* **2019**, 7 (Suppl. S8), S258. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 59. Arai, T.; Yoshikai, Y.; Kamiya, J.; Nagino, M.; Uesaka, K.; Yuasa, N.; Oda, K.; Sano, T.; Nimura, Y. Bilirubin impairs bactericidal activity of neutrophils through an antioxidant mechanism in vitro. *J. Surg. Res.* **2001**, *96*, 107–113. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Dominik, A.; Stange, J. Similarities, Differences, and Potential Synergies in the Mechanism of Action of Albumin Dialysis Using the MARS Albumin Dialysis Device and the CytoSorb Hemoperfusion Device in the Treatment of Liver Failure. *Blood Purif.* 2021, 50, 119–128. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 61. Hartmann, J.; Harm, S. Removal of bile acids by extracorporeal therapies: An in vitro study. *Int. J. Artif. Organs* 2017, 41, 52–57. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 62. Liebchen, U.; Paal, M.; Gräfe, C.; Zoller, M.; Scharf, C.; Cyto-SOLVE Study Group. The cytokine adsorber Cytosorb^{®®} does not reduce ammonia concentrations in critically ill patients with liver failure. *Intensive Care Med.* **2023**, *49*, 360–362. [CrossRef]
- 63. Ocskay, K.; Kanjo, A.; Gede, N.; Szakács, Z.; Pár, G.; Erőss, B.; Stange, J.; Steffen, M.; Hegyi, P.; Molnár, Z. Uncertainty in the impact of liver support systems in acute-on-chronic liver failure: A systematic review and network meta-analysis. *Ann. Intensive Care* **2021**, *11*, 10. [CrossRef]
- 64. Mitzner, S.; Klammt, S.; Stange, J.; Schmidt, R. Albumin regeneration in liver support-comparison of different. *Ther Apher Dial.* **2006**, *10*, 108–117. [CrossRef]
- Hegyi, P.; Petersen, O.H.; Holgate, S.; Erőss, B.; Garami, A.; Szakács, Z.; Dobszai, D.; Balaskó, M.; Kemény, L.; Peng, S. Academia Europaea Position Paper on Translational Medicine: The Cycle Model for Translating Scientific Results into Community Benefits. J. Clin. Med. 2020, 9, 1532. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 66. Hegyi, P.; Erőss, B.; Izbéki, F.; Párniczky, A.; Szentesi, A. Accelerating the translational medicine cycle: The Academia Europaea pilot. *Nat. Med.* **2021**, *27*, 1317–1319. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Page, M.J.; McKenzie, J.E.; Bossuyt, P.M.; Boutron, I.; Hoffmann, T.C.; Mulrow, C.D.; Shamseer, L.; Tetzlaff, J.M.; Akl, E.A.; Brennan, S.E.; et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: An updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Int. J. Surg.* 2021, *88*, 105906. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.